Alma Mater Studiorum – Università di Bologna

DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN

Ingegneria Civile, Chimica, Ambientale e dei Materiali

Ciclo XXXV

Settore Concorsuale: 09/D2

Settore Scientifico Disciplinare: ING-IND/24

Nanocellulose films activated with essential oils for active packaging applications

Presentata da: Sara Casalini

Coordinatore Dottorato

Prof. Alessandro Tugnoli

Supervisore

Prof. Marco Giacinti Baschetti

Esame finale anno 2022/2023

Abstract

Due to the extremely high consumption of packed foods and the strong environmental impact of the traditional plastic materials used, in the last years there is a strong interest in the research on biodegradable and natural systems to be used in the active packaging field. For this reason, this study was focused on the analysis of the state of the art regarding the active packaging and on the development of an innovative active packaging system based on the use of nanocellulose matrix embedded with essential oils.

After detailed research aimed to deeply know the topic of interest and select the best biopolymer and active agents, the solubility and diffusivity of thyme, cinnamon and oregano essential oils in three nanocellulose (NFC) films, endowed with different carboxymethylation degree, were analysed. Solubility and diffusion of liquid essential oils resulted to increase with the carboxymethylation degree for both thyme and oregano. Cinnamon, on the other hand, partially dissolved the nanocellulose matrix, making it impossible to obtain clear data about its uptake in the different materials. Diffusivity was studied both in liquid sorption and vapor desorption experiments. The release of the oils in vapor phase was characterized by two different kinetics: a faster one dominating at short times and a slower one visible at long times. Fickian diffusion was able to describe the behaviour of most of the samples even if in some case (such as for Oregano), short time data were better fitted by using an exponential process. Also in desorption, the carboxymethylation degree results to affect the obtained results, suggesting that the release of antimicrobial essential oils from nanocellulose can be tuned by appropriate choice of the carboxymethylation degree of the material.

Then, the antimicrobial and antioxidant activity of those films was also analyzed. These experiments have been performed in two sequential experimental phases. Firstly, the activity against model pathogenic bacteria was tested and the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of each oil was determined (0.37 - 0.68 mg/mg of matrix). This initial validation was then followed by experimental settings aimed at testing the system directly on clamshell type packed raspberries. The tests on the bacterial strains were based on the use of microbiological agar plates and showed that the dimensions of the nanocellulose films and the quantity of essential oil have a strong influence on the antimicrobial effect. For all the oils, the major effect was demonstrated against the Staphylococcus aureus strain rather than Escherichia coli strain. From the tests on the fruit it was observed that thyme and oregano essential oils were more effective in maintaining firmness and reduce weight loss than cinnamon essential oil or controls, through 12 days storage at 1°C. There was no significant effect of the essential oils on the other quality parameters measured. The effectiveness of essential oils was more evident after 12 days storage, especially for fungi, with oregano showing the best results, followed by thyme or their combination. From the results obtained, it is possible to conclude that the dispersion of thyme and oregano essential oils in nanocellulose matrix is a promising technology to improve shelf-life of raspberries or other fresh fruits.

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
1. Active packaging systems: theoretical background and state of the art	6
1.1 Active packaging biopolymers	9
Cellulose	9
Other biopolymers	12
1.2 Antimicrobial agents - essential oils	15
Essential oils incorporation in the matrix	23
1.3 Nanocellulose based active packaging	25
Cellulose nanocrystals (CNC) and nanofibrils (CNF)	25
Cellulose esters	27
Cellulose ethers	29
1.4 Chitosan based active packaging	31
Active Chitosan films	31
Chitosan nanoparticles	33
1.5 Biocomposite films	34
Chitosan – cellulose composites	35
Combination of PLA and nanocellulose or chitosan	37
Alginate antimicrobial biocomposites	38
Agar antimicrobial biocomposites	39
General considerations about the state of the art for active packaging	39
2. Materials and Methods	41
2.1 Materials for film preparation	41
2.2 Nanocellulose films	43
2.3 PLA based films	44
2.3.1 Pure PLA films	44
2.3.2 PLA-NFC pairing	45
2.4 Sorption and desorption measurements	47
2.5 Diffusivity analysis	49
2.6 FTIR-ATR spectroscopy	51
2.7 Preparation of the active nanocellulose films and anti-bacterial activity assays in the vapor phase	e 51

2	.8 Real c	ase application: raspberry case-study system	.53
	2.8.1 Gei	neral quality parameters	. 55
	2.8.2 setting	Evaluation of the antimicrobial activity of the nanocellulose films applied to a real 55	
	2.8.3 Tot	al phenolic content	. 55
	2.8.4 DPI	PH (2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl) radical scavenging activity	. 56
	2.8.5 Ant	hocyanins	. 56
	2.8.6 Ser	nsory evaluation	. 57
	2.8.7 Sta	tistical analysis	. 57
3.	Results	and Discussion of Transport properties	.58
3	8.1 Film cl	haracterization	.58
	Pure NF0	C films	. 58
	Pure PLA	A films	. 59
	NFC-PLA	A films	. 60
3	3.2 Absorp	otion and desorption measurements	.62
3	3.3 Diffusi	vity analysis	.68
4.	Results	and Discussion of antimicrobial and shelf-life properties	.75
2	.1 Anti	-bacterial properties of the activated nanocellulose films	.75
2	.2 Rea	I condition application: raspberry case-study system	.80
	4.2.1 Gei	neral and nutritional quality parameters	. 81
	4.2.2 Mic	robial evaluation	. 88
	4.2.3 Ser	nsory evaluation	. 89
5.	Conclus	ions	.91
Acl	knowledgi	ments	.95
Bib	liography		.96
Ар	pendix		121

Introduction

In the last decades, the fast development of society has led to a substantial increase in the consumption of all types of goods (1) and vast amounts of products are shipped everyday all around the world to meet the consumer's demand (2). Among the others, the food market is one of the most important and globalized, as it is now possible to find in every city food coming from any part of the globe (3). The increase of the food market brought to a parallel increase of the importance of food packaging, both in terms of quantity and efficiency (4). The global food packaging market (growing from 293 to 423 billion dollars in the period 2018 - 2020, according to the Zion Market Research (5)) covers, indeed, 42% of the polymer global market. It reached production rates of up to 100 million tonnes/year (6) and caused many well-known environmental problems. Thus, the increasing international consciousness about the environmental crisis we are facing, led the interest to sustainable food packaging systems with additional functionality, able to increase the shelf-life of the products. All over the globe, we have been exploiting in different ways the Earth's resources for commercial and economical purposes and for decades this has been done without considering the consequence of these activities. Fortunately, in the last years, the governments and the population started to be more aware of the impact that human activities have on the planet ecosystem. Thus, a lot of research activity is addressed to develop new sustainable systems and technologies to minimize human impact on the Nature.

For all these reasons, in the recent years, the research on more effective packaging systems has gained much more importance in the attempt to obtain better performance utilizing biodegradable and bio-based materials to replace oil-based polymers (7–9). New types of packaging have been developed following the need to increase the shelf-life of the products, to ensure no damage during transport and storage (10) and to decrease environmental impact (11). Among the different approaches, then, particular interest has been devoted to the development of smart and active systems (12,13). These innovative packaging systems extend the classical concept of sustainable packaging by coupling the use of renewable materials with the shelf-life increase (14–16), thus reducing at the same time environmental impact and the food waste (17). Therefore, several new composite materials produced from biobased and/or biodegradable polymers have been investigated, and coupled with different active agents, strengthening the idea of circular economy (6,18).

Among the different possibilities, cellulose is one of the most studied biopolymers for active packaging applications (19–22). In fact, cellulose is the most abundant biopolymer on Earth, and its biodegradability and the possibility to combine its sustainability with the properties of the nanoscale made it a very fascinating biopolymer (23). Nanocellulose is then obtained directly from cellulose as nanofibrils (also called micro/nanofibrillated cellulose) or nanocrystals, or it can be directly produced

by bacteria through a biotechnological process. The raw material from which nanocellulose is obtained, the pre-treatment applied and the process itself can variate, conferring different properties to the final material (24–27). Moreover, the possibility of many surface modifications makes it very versatile and able to adapt its properties in view of its final application (28–30). Several studies take into consideration these variations and how they affect the structure and the possible application of the final material, both as nanofiller, to improve the mechanical and barrier properties of other biopolymers and as matrix itself, alone or with the use of other fillers or additives, to adapt its features to particular applications (31–34).

The use of nanocellulose resulted very promising in the field of active packaging, where the strengthening effect of the fibres can be coupled with the extension of the shelf-life due to the antimicrobial properties of the active agents (35). Regarding this specific application, natural antimicrobial agents are more and more favoured with respect to inorganic ones, such as metals or metal oxides, due to the intrinsic sustainability of the solution (36,37). Among these, the essential oils aroused certain attention, for the enhancement of the quality and safety of food products, thanks to their well-known antimicrobial activity against a broad spectrum of food pathogens, their natural origin and the fact that they are generally approved for food contact applications (38). Also, their addition to packaging materials helps to reduce their adverse flavour while prolonging the action time, which will greatly improve their effective utilization rate in food preservation. (39,40).

Essential oils are volatile and aromatic oily liquids obtained from flower, leaves, or other parts of the plants, where they have the role of secondary metabolites (40,41). They exhibit antimicrobial and antioxidant properties against the most diffused gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria making them interesting compounds to be included into food packaging formulations (42-44). The most common plants from which they are derived are Rosemary, Oregano, Lemongrass, Thyme and others (45). These oils contain different components, which depend not only on the plant type, but also on the harvesting and growing conditions and the geographical area. In general, the main components typical of a certain essential oil are always present, but their quantity variates with the parameters cited, affecting the antimicrobial activity (46). Each essential oil has particular characteristics, also depending on the plant from which it was extracted and the method of extraction itself. Thyme, cinnamon, and oregano essential oils are the ones that present the highest antimicrobial and antioxidant activity and are amongst the most studied essential oils in the active packaging field. For example, cinnamon essential oil effect has been studied in various bio-matrices, such as nanocellulose (47), chitosan (48) and others (49,50). Also, thyme and oregano are very common active agents for active packaging applications which have been studied in combination with different materials, such as soy-protein edible coatings to be used with fresh beef and cellulose nanocrystals reinforced chitosan (51,52). For these reasons, various methods to incorporate

essential oils into active packaging had been studied: from the utilization of edible coatings containing essential oils to the application of nanoemulsions to the food (53,54); from the use of nanoencapsulation to obtain antimicrobial surfaces (55) to the incorporation into films for successive release in the package headspace (56,57).

In addition to the antimicrobial activity, essential oils may also significantly affect other material properties such as mechanical (tensile strength), barrier (reducing water vapor permeability) and optical properties (58). Many studies are available on the essential oils' mechanical and chemical effects on biobased polymers, such as nanocellulose alone or coupled with other biopolymers (21,44). The main aim is to give to the composite material antimicrobial and antioxidant effects thanks to essential oils properties, while not endangering the mechanical or barrier properties of the base materials (34,59,60).

Currently, most of these studies utilize a very pragmatical approach, based on the production and testing of new composites materials in terms of mechanical, barrier and antimicrobial properties, by considering the effect on specific bacteria or on the shelf life of well-defined food. There is, instead, a limited amount of works focusing on fundamental aspects, such as the study of the diffusion properties and the release rate, which, however, have a great importance on the final efficiency of the active packaging solution. For example, K. Kuorwel et al. considered the migration of carvacrol, thymol and linalool from starch-based films into a food simulant (61), while L. Sánchez-González et al. studied the release of limonene present in chitosan films enriched with bergamot oil in food simulants (62). In another study, Tunc and Duman tested the release of carvacrol from methyl cellulose/montmorillonite nanocomposite (63), whereas Nostro et al. investigated the effect of carvacrol and cinnamaldehydes from EVA copolymers (64). Finally, some modelling work has also been considered to describe the release kinetics of these substances (65,66). However, no values for diffusion coefficient of essential oils have been obtained considering a pure nanocellulose matrix. For this reason, the development of the present research work started from this kind of analysis, which represents a fundamental starting point to understand the antimicrobial effect of essential oils, as a function of its concentration, and to proceed to an informed optimization of the systems on the base of the desired application.

So, trying to give a contribution to this matter, the focus of this PhD project was the development of biodegradable packaging systems based on nanocellulose support activated with essential oils for the increase of food shelf-life. As said above, the analysis of mass transport properties of thyme, cinnamon and oregano essential oils kept in direct contact with different types of nanocellulose was the first step to characterize the system. The untreated whole oils have been used to mimic the most common applicative condition and tests were made to evaluate both the sorption and the desorption kinetics, which are fundamentals to obtain information on how to control and optimize the

antimicrobial effect of the final active packaging solutions. After that, an analysis on the antioxidant and the antimicrobial activity of nanocellulose films activated with thyme, cinnamon and oregano essential oils had been performed, to have a complete evaluation of the effectiveness of the system. The experiments were performed both on gram-positive (*Staphylococcus aureus*) and gramnegative (*Escherichia coli*) bacterial strains, and directly on raspberries. In the first case the goal was to obtain information on the minimum inhibitory concentration for each oil, which was then considered as a reference to carry on the tests on the fruit. The latter were carried out monitoring all the product parameters of interest to define the state of conservation over time (firmness, colour weight loss etc.). A sensory evaluation was also performed, to understand the acceptability of this technique by the consumers.

Following the different activities, the present thesis is divided into four main chapters. The first one, contains a complete overview of the different active packaging technologies, where the main features of nanocellulose and other biopolymers and of the different essential oils used in the field of active packaging are introduced and described. The latest findings about the nanocellulose based active packaging will be presented and the antimicrobial effectiveness of the different solutions proposed in the open literature is discussed, focusing also on their effect on other material properties. The effect of the different inclusion strategies is also reviewed, considering both *in-vivo* and *in-vitro* studies, trying to understand more promising solutions and pathways for further developments. The focus, in line with the thesis topic, is on antimicrobial systems containing nanocellulose as support for the incorporation of essential oils, but also other renewable solutions are considered, to give a complete overview of the current research on the topic.

After the state-of-the-art analysis, the second chapter will be devoted to the presentation of the different materials and experimental methods considered in the present thesis. Solvent casting technique was adopted to create nanocellulose and PLA membranes which were then functionalized applying essential oils. Mechanisms of NFC-PLA pairing were also investigated, such as casting together the materials or hydraulic press post-fabrication pairing. The transport properties of the oils in such matrices were investigated through absorption in liquid phase and desorption in gas phase, by measuring the mass variations over time and utilizing a quartz spring microbalance. Then, the analysis of the antimicrobial activity against most common pathogenic bacteria was investigated with Petri dish colonies counting. Finally, the antimicrobial activity and the effect on the quality of the fruit of the active films was studied by direct application on packed raspberries, monitoring the fruit parameters and the colony growth over time.

In the last two chapters, the different experimental results will be presented and discussed starting from those about the characterization of the membranes and the oils transport properties and continuing with those related to the antimicrobial activity and the effect on the fruit. In particular, this latter section is divided into tests on bacterial strains and tests in real-case conditions, since they were performed in different laboratories and also regard different types of experiments and outputs.

1. Active packaging systems: theoretical background and state of the art

Active packaging systems belong to the more general category named Smart Packaging, which refers to technologies aimed at prolonging the shelf-life, monitoring freshness, displaying information on quality of the packaged product and improving the product and consumer safety (67). Smart Packaging could identify both Intelligent Packaging, mainly used to monitor the condition of the packed food through the use of indicators and sensors, or Active Packaging, which interacts with the internal environment of the package to prolong the shelf-life of the final product (68). For the aim of this study, major attention is devoted to Active Packaging technologies.

Figure 1.1 shows a possible classification of the different types of Active Packaging Technologies (14,69). They can be divided into active scavenging systems, active release systems and non-releasing systems. The first group includes Modified Atmosphere Packaging (MAP) as well as other packaging involving the use of absorbents. For example, oxygen or moisture scavengers (70,71) aim at reducing bacterial growth by maintaining an adverse environment for their development within the package. The second type acts, instead, through the release of molecules (72) which prevent food spoilage (12). Finally, many of the existing antimicrobial packaging belong to the third type and are based on metal nanoparticles (silver, gold, and zinc), metal oxide nanomaterials (silicon and magnesium, titanium, zinc etc.) (73) and carbon nanotubes, which result highly effective in developing the antimicrobial effects once immobilized on the package surface (6,69,74).



Figure 1.1. Active packaging. These systems can be applied through different techniques such as controlled release packaging, antimicrobial packaging and antioxidant packaging.

In every case, the food product will be in contact with packaging materials. Thus, it is very important to have a detailed safety analysis regarding the effect of this interaction. Particular attention is required since the use of nanomaterials is involved, and they could easily migrate into the food. The impacts of using nanoparticles on human body and on the environment should be evaluated (18). The consumer's perception is another important factor to take into consideration, since their attitude could influence the spread use of nanomaterials (75).

The legislation regarding the use of nanotechnologies for food application has been updated in line with the new discoveries. The main EU regulatory framework regarding materials used for food application is the Regulation (EC) 1935/2004, which ensures "the effective functioning ... of materials and articles intended to come into contact directly or indirectly with food, whilst providing the basis for securing a high level of protection of human health and the interests of consumers". Special requirements are specified for active and intelligent materials. For example, they shall not lead to changes in the composition or organoleptic characteristics of food, and they shall be adequately labelled to allow identification by the consumer of non-edible parts. Moreover, the Commission Regulation (EC) 2023/2006 compliments the previous one by indicating the good manufacturing practice for materials and articles intended to come into contact with food. While the Commission Regulation (EC) 450/2009 on "Active and Intelligent materials and articles" provides a list of authorized components that can be present in the food environment and may interact with it. There is a derogation to this regulation which refers to intelligent packaging materials, that are usually not used in direct contact with the food from which they are separated by the primary packaging. Anyway, all the substances which have nano-dimensions should always be reported in the product description, since the risk assessment of a certain substance does not cover its application in the nano-dimension scale. This is because the nanoparticles characteristics, their mechanisms of mass transfer in the final matrix and their behavior in contact with the food environment could variate with respect the conventional particle size scale case (76).

The regulation (EU) 10/2011 regulates the plastic materials which are in contact with food products. It imposes a limit of 10 mg of constituent per dm² of surface area to all substances that can migrate from the packaging to the food (77). Moreover, it lists all the monomers, macromolecules, additives and auxiliary substances which can be used for polymerization, together with the migration limit and, in some cases, other specific restrictions. This regulation is also a reference for the substances that

can be used in antimicrobial packaging. Each substance with potential antimicrobial effect to be used inside an active packaging needs to be approved as food additive by the EU commission (78).

Indeed, it is important to recall that, with the increase in the food packaging market, not only the food quality issues were addressed, but also the environmental concerns regarding the materials used. The use of sustainable solutions has been a priority, both in terms of active substances, such as EOs, and of packaging matrix, using renewable and biodegradable materials such as, for example, biopolymers (79,80). The wide range of these promising bio-derived materials can be categorized by their method of production, as shown in figure 1.2 (81). If they are directly extracted from biomass, they can be divided into polysaccharide films (such as starch, cellulose (82–84) and derivatives, chitosan (85,86) and alginate), protein films (soy protein and wheat gluten), lipid films (fatty acids and resins) and composite films (9). Otherwise, they can be synthesized from bio-derived monomers (such as PLA) or produced directly from microorganisms (like polyhydroxyalkanoates) (79).



Figure 1.2. Classification of biodegradable polymers (81). Biodegradable polymers can be obtained from different sources such as biomass, microorganisms and petrochemical products.

In the following paragraphs, the most interesting current trends in active packaging research are reported. The focus is on the latest outcomes concerning nanocellulose based active packaging and on the use of different essential oils as active agents and their effects on the mechanical and barrier properties of the final material. Other biopolymers such as PLA, chitosan and alginate will also be considered, as they are often composite together and are used as packaging materials. Also, the antimicrobial effects against the most common food spoilage bacteria and the direct application to some food products will be presented.

1.1 Active packaging biopolymers

In the recent years a wide range of biomaterials have been considered for packaging applications, to reduce the use of oil-based plastics and to increase the sustainability of the packages (87). In the following paragraphs a brief description of some of them, especially considering those more commonly used for active packaging, will be given.

Cellulose

Cellulose is the most abundant and renewable biopolymer in the biosphere. Its global market size was USD 346 million in 2021 and it is expected to reach 963 million by 2026, according to Markets and Markets report (88). It is widely distributed in vegetable organisms such as vascular plants, where it has a structural role for the cell walls. Cellulose is a linear homopolysaccharide composed by repeating glucose units (see Figure. 1.3a) and it has been obtained for many years mainly from plant materials. The structure and properties of native cellulose are determined by the isolation process used, which affects the number of inter- and intra-molecular hydrogen bonds, the chain length, the chain length distribution, the crystallinity and the distribution of functional groups within the repeating units and along the polymer chains (89). The hydrogen bonding patterns inside and among cellulose fibers, in particular, are the main factor which determines its physical and chemical properties (31).



Figure 1.3. Chemical structure of cellulose materials and chitosan a) Cellulose, b) Carboxymethyl Cellulose (CMC) c) Cellulose Acetate (CA) d) Cellulose sulphate (CS) e) Chitin f) Chitosan.

Traditionally, cellulose had been extracted from plants and used to obtain veterinary foods, wood and paper, fibers and clothes, cosmetic and pharmaceutical products (90). In the recent years, in agreement with its green potential, cellulose has been obtained also from wastes, through different pretreatments of the raw material. For that reason, its composition and physical properties could vary, influencing the further steps of the process (20).

Accordingly with the increasing interest in nanomaterials, cellulose has also been produced in nanoscale dimension (19). Several types of nanocellulose that have raised great interest in a wide range of applications are: Cellulose Nano Crystals (CNC), Cellulose Nano Fibrils (CNF) and Bacterial Nanocellulose (BNC) (25,91). Briefly, CNF are usually obtained through mechanical homogenization of pristine cellulose fibers, which were previously treated chemically or enzymatically (26). CNC, on the other hand, can be obtained from cellulose by strong acidic treatment, able to hydrolyze the amorphous part of the fibers, thus leaving only the crystalline part of the original fibers (92). Finally, BNC comes directly from bacterial metabolism, so it is free from hemicellulose and lignin. This reduces the purifying costs and the environmental damage derived from the use of chemicals (36,93,94). Obviously, the different processes can be optimized depending on the characteristics of the source material and on the final chemical structure needed. Figure 1.4 shows a comparison of the different nanocellulose types described above. Passing from cellulose nanocrystals, to nanofibrils and consequently to bacterial nanocellulose a stretching of the filaments can be noticed.

In fact, the singular nanocrystals, short and very rigid, are then connected among them by sections of amorphous cellulose, creating a more complex net of interconnected fibers (figure 1.4c).



Figure 1.4. Microscopic image of (a) cellulose nanocrystals, (b) cellulose nanofibrils and (c) bacterial nanocellulose (95).

In fact, nanocellulose is a very versatile material which exhibits good mechanical strength, high barrier properties when in dry conditions and good biodegradability. It is therefore a strong candidate in food packaging to replace the petroleum-based product in favor of renewable and biodegradable materials (96). A vast literature on the use of nanocellulose in packaging is present, both in pure form as film or coating (97) or as reinforcing filler in bio-composite materials (36,98). In the latter case, it is used to increase the strength and the modulus of the matrix and to reduce the water vapor permeability and the oxygen permeability (99) or as stabilizing agent for emulsions (100). Moreover, it was also shown to increase the thermal stability and the water resistance of some biopolymers, such as chitosan (101), PLA and thermoplastic starch (95,102).

Apart from their direct use, cellulose and nanocellulose, thanks to the high number of hydroxyl group present of the fiber surface, can be easily modified (103). So it is possible to obtain a wide variety of materials with modified surface properties that are suitable for many different specific functions (104), such as esters or ethers. They found wide use in different sectors (90,105,106), including active packaging (107). Some of the more common cellulose derivatives are shown in Figure 1.3b,c,d. For example, cellulose acetate (figure 1.3c) is produced replacing the hydroxyl groups from cellulose backbone chain with acetate groups by means of a reaction of native cellulose with acetic anhydride (108). While cellulose sulphate is obtained by substituting, partially or completely, the hydroxyl groups of the nanocellulose by sulfate groups (SO₃⁻; Figure 1.3d) (109). Also, etherification is a widely used chemical pretreatment method that facilitates cellulose defibrillation to prepare CNF. Cellulose ethers can be obtained by a first activation of the fibers with an aqueous alkali hydroxide, such as NaOH, and then converting the hydroxyl groups to carboxymethyl moieties (83). All these various possibilities of surface modification widen the horizon towards more applications of NFC in advanced

and new functional materials. In this way it will be possible to use natural and renewable resources for the development of sustainable and environmental-friendly products (110).

Regarding the environmental impact, the use of nanocellulose can be evaluated through Life Cycle Assessments with a focus on its production. Hervy et al. compared the environmental impact of bacterial cellulose and NFC reinforced epoxy composites with neat PLA and glass fibre-reinforced polypropylene composites. It resulted that, considering as use phase an automotive application and as end-of-life landfill or incinerator, the nanocellulose composites were comparable to that of neat PLA. While when the composite contains more than 60% vol. of nanocellulose the global warming potential and the abiotic depletion potential of fossil fuels are even lower than neat PLA (111). Focusing on the production method itself, among the different process studied, the TEMPO-oxidation followed by homogenization had the lowest environmental impact (112). While Arvidsson et al. compared different pretreatments to produce NFC and found that the enzymatic and no pretreatment routes had lower environmental impacts than the carboxymethylation one and the other carbon nanomaterials (113).

Other biopolymers

Besides cellulose, many other biopolymers arouse the interest of the researchers and the companies, to obtain biocomposites with enhanced properties through synergetic effects for active packaging and other several applications. In this section, the ones mostly used in combination with nanocellulose will be briefly introduced to make the reader understand their importance and their main characteristics. Moreover, other biopolymers not analysed in this work are for example starch-based materials and polyhydroxyalkanoates. For more detailed information about them and their applications, the reader is addressed to the reviews in the literature (114–117).

The second most abundant biological material after cellulose is chitin, the precursor of chitosan. This is a linear highly acetylated polymer (Figure 1.3e), which is referred to as chitosan (Figure 1.3f) when the degree of N-acetylation is lower than 50% (118,119). Chitin is obtained from crustacean wastes, through acid and alkaline treatments (101). Distinct factors, such as alkali concentration, incubation time, chitin to alkali ratio, temperature and atmosphere play a role in the alkaline N-deacetylation of chitosan, thus affecting the final properties of the obtained polymer.

Chitosan and its derivatives became extremely useful in many fields like cosmetics, pharmaceuticals, food, agriculture, biomedical and material science due to its biological activity. In fact, those materials are biocompatible, non-antigenic, non-toxic, intrinsically antimicrobial and have a good film-forming ability (120,121). Chitosan-based active films have been widely studied in recent years since they

can be used as antimicrobial agents (122–124) and polymer substrates at the same time (125,126). The intrinsic antimicrobial activity of chitosan seems to be addressed to three different mechanisms, which comprehend the ionic surface interaction, the penetration of the chitosan in the nuclei of the microorganisms and the creation of an external barrier inhibiting the nutrients contribution (127). Moreover, they resulted to depend on the polymer molecular weight and on the degree of acetylation (128,129).

Regarding the food packaging applications, chitosan has been classified as "Generally Recognized as Safe" by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 2001 (130) and several studies analyze different methods for chitosan film production, in relation with the specific food packaging systems (85,131,132). As far as active packaging is concerned, the effects of chitosan as an antimicrobial preservative turned out to be limited to food products with low protein and NaCl content. So, the incorporation of antimicrobial agents needs to be considered to extend the protection to all kinds of food products (133,134).

Continuing the list, polylactic acid (PLA, Figure 1.5) is surely one of the most studied biopolymers for food packaging applications. It is biobased and biodegradable, as the lactic acid monomer can be produced from completely renewable resources, and it also results biocompatible (135). In fact, it received approval by the FDA for applications with food contact.



Figure 1.5. Chemical structure of PLA.

Considering its high transparency and the optimal organoleptic characteristics, PLA has an enormous potential for food packaging application. In general, also the mechanical and barrier properties of PLA are remarkable (136), but still insufficient to meet the performance of many oilbased polymers. For this reason, several studies have been focused on incorporation of fillers, such as nanocellulose, and active agents to impart additional functionalities (137). For example, PLA films with 550 g/kg of NFC showed an increase of the tensile strength and tensile modulus of 59% and 47%, respectively, compared to pure PLA films (138). While applying a cellulose coating on a PLA substrate allowed to decrease the oxygen transfer rate of the film of about one order of magnitude even in humid environments (up to 60% RH) (97). Besides PLA, alginate (Figure 1.6) is another interesting biopolymer due to its low toxicity and biocompatibility (139). It is an example of polysaccharide commonly obtained from the cell wall of brown algae and extracted from seaweed for commercial purposes (140). In fact, alginate has already been used to create antibacterial (141) and antifungal films (142) and stimulus response drug releasing materials, but their application for food packaging is limited for the lack of mechanical strength as for many other biopolymers (143). Several reinforcements were studied in order to improve alginate's mechanical properties, such as cellulose nanofibrils (144) or inorganic fillers (145). The use of nanocellulose resulted effective not only for the tensile strength (TS) but also for the water vapor barrier properties (143,146,147).



Figure 1.6. Chemical structure of alginate.

Furthermore, agar (Figure 1.7) is a linear polysaccharide extracted from red algae of the class *Rhodophyceae*. It has been used to produce biodegradable films due to its good film-forming ability, high biocompatibility and moderate water-resistant properties (148–151). Besides that, agar-based films still have some limitations due to the low thermal stability and poor mechanical properties. In order to improve its properties, it has been studied in combination with fillers, such as metallic nanoparticles and nanoclays (152), and in presence of gelatin (153) or plant extracts (154). Also, BNC was used to reinforce agar-based edible films (148).



Figure 1.7. Chemical structure of agar.

1.2 Antimicrobial agents - essential oils

Antimicrobial agents are compounds used to provide safety assurance, shelf-life extension, and quality maintenance on food. In fact, when incorporated into the packaging, they are able to inhibit spoilage and suppress pathogens, responsible for food-borne diseases, that can potentially contaminate the food product (155). Antimicrobial agents can be inorganic compounds such as metals (156) or metal oxides nanoparticles (157), which release antimicrobial ions while directly interacting with microorganisms. However, the most commercialized products available in the market contain antimicrobial agents such as chlorine dioxide, ethanol and sulfur dioxide, that act in the gas phase of the package (155).

In the recent years there has also been a growing interest in natural antimicrobial agents, also due to the lower risk perceived by consumers in their use. The natural compounds used in antimicrobial packaging are biologically-derived components, like bacteriocins, enzymes, and plant extracts (158,159).

In particular, essential oils (EOs) are lipidic extracts from plants which have been studied for many years as additives in films and coatings, to replace synthetic preservatives. In fact, they naturally possess antioxidant and antimicrobial properties, due to the presence of bioactive compounds, such as phenols and terpenoids (160). The antimicrobial activity of the essential oils is related to the presence of hydroxyl groups that can damage the cell membrane of the pathogens, which results in the release of the cell constituents and in the death of the microorganisms (161). For this reason, EOs show a broad antimicrobial spectrum against different pathogenic and spoilage microorganisms, including gram-negative species such as *Escherichia coli* (162).

As previously explained, EOs widely differ in chemical composition, depending not only on the characteristics of the plant of origin, but also on the part of the plant from which they are extracted and from the extraction process itself (163). The qualitative and quantitative differences that could be present may further influence and increase biological effectiveness. In this regard, Table 1.1 offers an overview of different essential oils used as antimicrobial agents incorporated in filler/matrix systems to create active biomaterials. These works will be further explained in the next paragraphs considering the antimicrobial effects as well as the other possible influences on the biocomposite mechanical and barrier properties.

Table 1.1. Different uses of antimicrobial agents incorporated in filler/matrix systems. The first column indicates the antimicrobial agent responsible for the activity of the film, while the second one reports the filler and the matrix where the agent is incorporated. The third column refers to the effects of this integration on the mechanical and chemical properties of the composite, while the fourth one shows the antimicrobial properties and the possible use for active packaging systems. Last column is for references.

Antimicrobial agent – Essential oil	Filler/matrix	Effect on mechanical and chemical properties	Antimicrobial activity and use	Ref.
Oregano EO	CNC (Pickering emulsion)	Good chemical and thermal stability	S. aureus, S. cerevisiae, E. coli and B. subtilis	(164)
Cinnamon EO	CNC/CNF (Pickering emulsion)	Long term emulsion stability	B. subtilis	(165)
Ginger EO, Citric acid	CNF (edible coating)	Improved taste, odor, texture, and overall acceptability of the samples	Increase of meat shelf-life	(34)
Oregano, Thyme, Cinnamon EOs	Cellulosic pads	Acceptable taste and odor (sensory evaluation)	Meat bacterial species, like S. aureus	(166)
Oregano, Thyme, Cinnamon, Sweet fennel EOs	Cellulose Acetate	Increased flexibility, Reduction in water vapour transmission rate	Penicillum spp, E. coli, S. aureus	(167)
Pink pepper EO	Cellulose Acetate		<i>S. aureus,</i> <i>L. monocytogenes</i> microbial growth decreased in sliced cheese	(60)
Rosemary EO	Cellulose Acetate		Pathogenic microorganisms on chicken breast cuts	(168)
Rosemary EO, Aloe Vera	Cellulose Acetate	Decreased tensile strength, water uptake and contact angle; increased	E. coli, B. subtilis	(169)

Antimicrobial agent -	Filler/matrix	Effect on mechanical and	Antimicrobial activity and use	Rof
Essential oil		chemical properties		
		hydrophobicity and free radical		
		scavenger activity		
Rosemary EO, Oregano	Cellulose Acetate		E. coli, C. albicans and S. aureus and anti-	(170)
EO	(electrospinning)		biofilm effects	(170)
		Reduced transparency,	L. monocytogenes, S. aureus, E. coli, P.	
Thymol	Cellulose Acetate	mechanical, OTR, and WVTR	aeruginosa, Klebsiella pneumoniae, and	(171)
		properties	Salmonella enteritidis	
Thymol + organoclay	Cellulose Acetate	Enhanced optical and mechanical	Listeria innocua	(172)
Thymor Organociay		properties		(1/2)
	Cellulose Acetate (supercritical	Decreased glass transition		
Thymol		temperature; disappearing of	23 tested strains, in particular <i>S. aureus</i>	(66)
		crystalline structure		
Thymol	Cellulose Acetate	Anti-adhesion surface properties	P. aeruginosa, S. aureus	(173)
		increased oxygen and water vapour	Phytopathogenic fungi: Alternaria alternata,	
	Cellulose Acetate	barrier properties, rigidity, thermal	Geotrichum candidum, and Rhizopus	(108)
		stability, and elongation	stolonifer – Postharvest conservation	
Mustand EQ	Collulaço Sulphoto (odiblo film)	Reduced TS, Water sorption;	L. monocytogenes, E. coli, S. aureus, B.	(174)
		increased elongation	subtilis, A. niger	(1/4)
		Increased mechanical strength;		
Murta fruit extract	Methyl Cellulose	decreased swelling index; affected	L. innocua	(175)
		thermal properties		
	λ	l		

Antimicrobial agent – Essential oil	Filler/matrix	Effect on mechanical and chemical properties	Antimicrobial activity and use	Ref.
Mexican Oregano EO	Carboxymethylated Cellulose (CMC) - (edible film)		L. monocytogenes, S. aureus	(176)
Mentha spicata EO	CMC, Chitosan (edible film)		Increased strawberries shelf-life; <i>L. monocytogenes</i>	(177)
Mentha spicata EO, Ziziphora clinopodioides EO	CMC (edible film)		Increased fresh and sauced chicken breast fillets shelf-life; <i>C. jeuni</i> , <i>L. monocytogenes</i> , <i>S. aureus</i> , <i>E. coli</i> , <i>S. typhimurium</i>	(178)
Bay EO	CMC (edible film)	Increased antioxidant activity, WVP, UV-light barrier effect;	Escherichia coli, Candida glabrata	(72)
Zataria multiflora Boiss EO	CMC (edible film)	Increased total phenol content, antioxidant activity; reduced transparency and solubility in water	S. aureus, B. cereus, E. coli	(179)
Thymus daenensis EO	Hydroxyl-propyl-methyl cellulose (edible film)	Reduced tensile strength and Young's modulus	Gram positive and Gram negative bacteria	(180)
Mentha spicata EO	Chitosan (edible coating)	Good appearance at sensory analysis	Increased fresh strawberries shelf-life; <i>L. monocytogenes</i>	(177)
Red thyme and Oregano extracts	Chitosan (edible coating)		Increased fresh strawberries shelf-life; antifungal activity	(181)
Rosemary essential oil	Chitosan	Decreased solubility, WVP and UV- light transmission	L. monocytogenes, Streptococcus agalactiae, E. coli	(182)
Ziziphora clinopodioides EO	Chitosan (edible film)	Decreased solubility, WVP, UV-light transmission, swelling index and TS	L. monocytogenes, S. aureus, B. cereus	(183)

Antimicrobial agent –	Filler/matrix	Effect on mechanical and	Antimicrobial activity and use	Ref.
Apricot (<i>Prunus armeniaca</i>) kernel EO	Chitosan	Decreased solubility, WVP and UV- light transmission and transparency	<i>E. coli, B. subtilis,</i> inhibition f fungal growth on bread	(184)
Lemongrass EO	Chitosan	Increased elongation; decreased moisture content, WVP, solubility and TS	B. cereus, E. coli, L. monocytogenes, Salmonella typhi	(185)
Thyme EO	Chitosan (edible film)	Decreased water condensation in the head space of the packaging; good odor	Reduced yeast population – cooked ham	(186)
Thyme EO, Cinnamon EO, clove	Chitosan (edible film)	Increased moisture content, solubility in water, WVP, elongation at break. Opposite behaviour for Cinnamon EO	L. monocytogenes, S aureus, Salmonella enteritidis, Ps. aeroginosa	(187)
Cinnamon EO	Chitosan (edible film)	Decreased moisture content, solubility in water, WVP and elongation at break; Increased TS	L. monocytogenes, Lactobacillus plantarum, Lactobacillus sakei, Pseudomonas fluorescens, E. coli	(86)
EOs, gelatin	Chitosan	Increased UV-light barrier properties, moisture absorption and WVP; Decreased transparency	C. jejuni, E. coli, L. monocytogenes, Salmonella typhimurium	(188)
<i>Cinnamomum zeylanicum</i> EO	Chitosan nanoparticles		Increased shelf-life and physicochemical quality of cucumbers; <i>Phytophthora drechsleri</i>	(189)

Antimicrobial agent – Essential oil	Filler/matrix	Effect on mechanical and chemical properties	Antimicrobial activity and use	Ref.
Zataria multiflora EO	Chitosan nanoparticles		Prevention of pre or postharvest fruit from decay – strawberries treatment; <i>Botrytis cinerea</i>	(190)
Carvacrol	Chitosan nanoparticles		Increased shelf-life of fresh-cut carrots	(191)
Cinnamon EO	Chitosan nanoparticles	Physicochemical quality maintained; sensory analysis	Increased shelf-life of chilled pork; Psychrotrophic aerobic bacteria, Lactic acid bacteria, Enterobacteriaceae	(48)
Frankincense EO	CMC/Chitosan biguanidine hydrochloride (edible film)	Decreased WVP, increased TS, EB;	S. pneumonia, B. subtilis, E. coli	(192)
Cinnamon EO	CMC/Chitosan	Increased TS, WVP, EB and antioxidant properties; Decreased water solubility	L. monocytogenes, P. aeruginosa	(193)
Cinnamon and ginger EOs and oleic acid	CMC/Chitosan	Increased EB; Decreased WVP	A. niger	(194)
Thyme, Oregano, Tea tree and Peppermint EOs	CNC/Chitosan	Sensorial evaluation; Increased TS, EB, WVP	Increased shelf-life of rice; <i>A. niger,</i> <i>Aspergillus flavus, Aspergillus parasiticus,</i> <i>Penicillum chrysogenum</i>	(52)
Thyme, Oregano EOs	CNC/Methyl cellulose	Increased TS, EB, WVP	Increased shelf-life of rice; <i>A. niger, A. flavus, A. parasiticus, P. chrysogenum</i>	(195)
Thyme EO	CNF/Chitosan (edible coating)	Decreased weight loss, preserved anthocyanin content, better appearance	Sweet cherry storage	(196)

Antimicrobial agent – Essential oil	Filler/matrix	Effect on mechanical and chemical properties	Antimicrobial activity and use	Ref.
Oregano EO - Carum copticum EO	CNF-LCNF/ Chitosan	Increased water vapour barrier, water solubility and opacity; release controlling effect of CNF – LCNF	E. coli, B. cereus	(197), (198)
Oregano EO	CNC/PLA	Increased EB; Decreased TS, TM;	L. monocytogenes; mixed vegetables	(59)
<i>Tanacetum balsamita</i> EO, propolis ethanolic extract	CNC/PLA	Increased TS, elastic modulus; Decreased elongation	E. coli, B. cereus, S. aureus, S. Typhimurium; vacuum-packed cooked sausages	(199)
Ziziphora clinopodioides EO	CNC/PLA	No alteration of organoleptic properties	<i>Pseudomonas spp.</i> ; Increased shelf-life of minced beef	(200)
<i>Zataria multiflora</i> EO, propolis ethanolic extract	CNF gel/PLA	Increased WVP, TS, EM; Decreased transparency	S. aureus, E. coli, Vibrio parahaemolyticus, L. monocytogenes; Vacuum-packed cooked sausages	(201)
Rosemary EO	Chitosan/PLA	Increased EM, TS; Decreased elongation; antioxidant activity; colour change	Fresh minced chicken breast	(202)
Oregano, Cinnamon, Winter savory EOs	Alginate (edible film)		SalmonellaTyphimurium,L.monocytogenes; ham slices	(203)
Cinnamon EO	CMC/Sodium alginate	Increased WVP, oxygen permeability and elongation; Reduced moisture content and TS	<i>S. aureus; E. coli;</i> Bananas	(49)
Savory EO	Cellulose nanoparticles/ Agar	Decreased TS, water solubility; increased EB, WVP, opacity;	L. monocytogenes, B. cereus; S. aureus	(149)

Antimicrobial agent -	Filler/matrix	Effect on mechanical and	Antimicrobial activity and use	Pof
Essential oil		chemical properties		ILCI.
		Increased mechanical flexibility,	S aurous B corous L monocytogonos E	
Summer savory EO	CMC/Agar	hydrophobicity; Reduced	coli	(204)
		transparency		

Essential oils incorporation in the matrix

In active packaging applications, EOs are particularly interesting since they can be released as vapors from the film, sterilizing both the headspace and the food surface. Moreover, they are approved by the FDA for food applications and are recognized as safe. So, they are an attractive alternative to conventional antimicrobials, which have experienced a continuous increase of resistance from microorganisms (205). Furthermore, while introducing a new agent inside the packaging material, not only the antimicrobial properties, but also the mechanical, barrier and thermal properties of the final composite will be influenced and possibly improved (9,206). As an example, EOs incorporation can reduce the water vapor permeability (WVP) of hydrophilic materials and can also decrease the tensile strength (TS), while increasing the elongation at break. This is possible thanks to the partial replacement of stronger polymer–polymer interactions by weaker polymer-oil interactions in the film network (44). Comparable results were obtained when different cellulose esters were tested as matrix for the incorporation of EOs. In fact, lemongrass, basil and rosemary pepper EOs behaved in the matrix like plasticizers, affecting the Young's modulus, the tensile strength and the elongation at break of the films (207).

The incorporation of the EOs in a polymer matrix such as nanocellulose, PLA or chitosan, could be done with different methods, which are chosen based on the materials characteristics and on the release kinetics requested by the final product. As an example, the active molecules or scavengers could be directly dispersed inside the matrix (166) or encapsulated (48) inside a carrier prior to the addition in the packaging material. The latter procedure, indeed, allows more flexibility in terms of active substance dispersion in not compatible polymers and in terms of release rate control. In fact, microencapsulation increases the stability of these compounds and allows to obtain a controlled and continuous release (208), which leads to antimicrobial activity without altering the organoleptic properties of the food product (209). Essential oils can be microencapsulated into the matrix following several different technologies, such as spray-drying, simple or complex coacervation and extrusion (208). The mentioned dispersion methods, indeed, result among the most effective techniques for protecting these compounds against volatilization, oxidation, and thermal degradation (210,211). In addition, encapsulation not only protects the antimicrobial compounds from the effects of the outside environment (212), but also allows to control the influence of the mechanical and transport properties of the film (213,214). Active ingredients could also be incorporated through a Pickering emulsion (215,216), which stabilizes the oil-in-water solution interface by using solid particles (50) or through nano-liposomal systems (217). On the other hand, direct application of EOs on the film could lead to inactivation of the antimicrobial compounds due to the interaction with the matrix and makes control of its release difficult. For that reason, it is mainly considered for edible polymer films (44,218,219).

While incorporating these active agents inside the matrix, it is fundamental to take into consideration that the concentration of the EOs active compounds depends on their origin. Since different compounds could act against different microorganisms, some EOs can be more active in certain types of food products. For this reason, mixing different EOs can be a strategy to widen their active spectrum and increase their effectiveness. EOs, indeed, often show synergistic interactions and, when used in combination, they show increased antimicrobial properties with respect to the single components (220). However, since the antimicrobial activity of the EOs could decrease after the dispersion in the polymer and the microbial population could vary depending on the food product, *in vitro* and *in situ* analysis are usually required to define the real efficiency of the chosen solution (161,221).

A vast variety of essential oils and other plants extracts has been considered for food packaging applications (222,223). However, oregano (224–227) and thyme (228,229) demonstrated the strongest antimicrobial effect due to the presence of the phenolic compounds thymol and carvacrol (230). These compounds have received substantial attention as useful natural antimicrobial agents. They exhibit a broad antimicrobial spectrum against different microorganisms (231) and possess sufficient heat stability to withstand the incorporation into packaging materials (42,232).

Due to these multiple possibilities, each active packaging system needs to be adapted based on the food product, not only in terms of materials used but also in terms of mechanism of release and action. In fact, the antimicrobials present in the film could have a diffusive release in the headspace, with a decreasing effect over time, or act when in direct contact with the food, in case they are immobilized on the packaging surface or used as edible films (12,233).

Lastly but not least, it is important to consider the sensorial impact that the essential oils have on the food, since they contain terpenes. It is well known that these molecules convey characteristic smell and taste, which is also one of the main reasons why they are used since many years in different applications. Regarding the food packaging, although the use of natural agents such as essential oils is a valid option to preserve the food in a safe way, the main constraint remain the sensory impact and perception owed to their strong flavor (234). In fact, the intense aroma could interact with the complex system of the food-packaging and alter the natural taste of the food. Active packaging systems are already a solution to this, because the incorporation of the essential

oils into the matrix or their encapsulation prevent the direct contact with the food and the immediate dispersion of the volatile molecules in the head space of the package. Anyway, since the essential oil at some point will diffuse and be present in the head space, it is fundamental to perform a sensorial evaluation of the system and to be aware of their potential toxicity (235). This evaluation must be case specific because the EOs' minimum inhibition concentration, mode of action and sensory effects variates with their source, method of extraction and regulatory requirements. Several studies have been performed to understand the EOs effects on the sensory attributes of different types of food, but larger scale tests are still necessary to propose this technology to the consumers (166,236). Moreover, the legal framework concerning the use of EOs in food, refers to them either as additives and flavors or as part of the packaging material. In the first case, they are categorized following the Commission Regulation (EU) 1130/2011 on food additives (237) and the list of flavoring substances provided for by Regulation (EC) 2232/96 of the European Parliament and of the Council (238). While the second case is included in the legislation framework previously explained regarding the food packaging materials.

1.3 Nanocellulose based active packaging

As already discussed, cellulose is one of the most used polymers for active and sustainable packaging production (239). Many different natural antimicrobial additives have been studied in combination with cellulose (240–243). In the present section an overview of the latest applications in the field of active packaging based on essential oils (EOs) will be given. In particular, the focus will be on cellulose nanocrystals (CNC) and nanofibrils (CNF) and on nanocellulose derivatives such as cellulose esters (like cellulose acetate and sulphate) or cellulose ethers (such as methylcellulose and carboxymethylcellulose).

Cellulose nanocrystals (CNC) and nanofibrils (CNF)

As said above, nanocellulose crystals or fibrils, obtained from pristine cellulose fiber (19), have found several applications in the field of food packaging, thanks to their unique properties. They are often used as fillers to improve the tensile strength of the composite material (96) and many applications are also found where they helped the dispersion of the essential oils into the matrix (174). This type of solution will be discussed further in one of the following paragraphs, while this section is more focused on the direct application of CNC and CNF as matrices to produce antimicrobial films.

In some case nanocellulose was used to stabilize and protect the essential oil. Souza et al. (2021), for example, obtained films with high activity against *B. subtilis* by preparing nanocellulose-based Pickering emulsions with cinnamon essential oil (165). Zhou and coworkers (2018), instead, analyzed the antimicrobial activity of oregano EO Pickering emulsion stabilized by CNC (164). Good stability at higher CNCs concentration and pH values, or at lower oil/water ratio and salt concentration was demonstrated, together with a slightly higher antimicrobial effect. In fact, the OEO Pickering emulsion exhibited an inhibitory effect against Staphylococcus aureus, Saccharomyces cerevisiae, and E. coli, with a minimum inhibition concentration (MIC) of 12.5 µL/mL. The highest antimicrobial effect was obtained against Bacillus subtilis, with a MIC of 6.25 μ L/mL.

The direct incorporation of ginger EO and citric acid in CNF edible coatings (20 g/kg and 10 g/kg, respectively) was instead studied by Khaledian et al. and increased the meat shelf life up to 6 days (34). The combined effect of the EO and citric acid resulted then in an increase of the antimicrobial properties and the overall acceptability of the food samples. Also, the antimicrobial activity of cellulosic pads amended with oregano (OEO), thyme (TEO) and cinnamon (CEO) EOs were demonstrated (166). They were effective against meat bacterial species and other common foodborne pathogens like *S. aureus*.

Direct incorporation of the essential oils' active compounds was also considered for the addition of polyphenols in a cellulose dispersion obtained through mechanical fibrillation. The resulting films had low porosity and high compactness, thus good barrier properties and improved hydrophobicity (244). The addition of tannin to CNF reduced the air permeability more than 6 times with respect the pure film, reaching a value of 3.1 mL/min, which is comparable to the polypropylene one. Also, the release of tannins ensured antioxidant activity for 48 hours. These films were thermally stable until *ca*. 230°C and chemically resistant against common organic solvents. A possible application could be dried food packaging (like rice and pasta), as well as for preserved fruits, vegetables and meat.

Direct incorporation therefore results in a very viable and simple method to produce nanocellulose based films. Indeed, the antimicrobial activity does not seem to be reduced by the interaction between the fibers and the EOs. This is, however, not the only option available and other methods were used with satisfactory results. For example, microencapsulation is a common technique used to protect the sensitive compounds inside a carrier. Saini et al. (2017) studied the microencapsulation of carvacrol in beta-cyclodextrin (β -CD), directly grafted on the carboxyl

groups of TEMPO-oxidized CNF (245). These films showed a sustained release of the active molecule over 150 hours and then reached the equilibrium in water. Moreover, the carvacrol antimicrobial activity against *B. subtilis* was increased by the presence of β -CD from 3 to 50 hours. This is due to the three-dimensional shape of the β -CD, which forms an inner hydrophobic cavity with an outer hydrophilic wall (246). In this way it can entrap molecules and create complexes by either hydrogen bonds, hydrophobic or Van der Waals interactions. Thus, the release rate of the included molecules is strongly influenced by those interactions (247).

Cellulose esters

In the field of active packaging, the most studied cellulose esters resulted to be cellulose acetate (CA) (248) and cellulose sulfate (CS) (174). Several EOs (Oregano, OEO, Cinnamon, CEO, and Sweet Fennel) were incorporated in CA films in different combinations in order to test the antimicrobial effectiveness of the biodegradable composite (167). OEO combined with CEO showed good results in terms of reduction of water vapor transmission rate and antimicrobial activity against *Penicillum spp.* and *E. coli*, with diameters of inhibition zones of 2.74 and 1.14 centimeters, respectively. Films incorporated with pure OEO were more effective against *S. aureus*, with 3.75 centimeters of inhibition zone. All the other combinations of EOs were effective against these microorganisms, but with a much lower inhibition zone.

Also, the effect of pink pepper EO (PPEO) in CA was studied (60), with films active against *S. aureus* and *Listeria monocytogenes*. The antimicrobial effect started from a concentration of 20 g/kg of the PPEO, that demonstrated the capacity to diffuse in solid, liquid and gas phase until reaching the contaminated cheese used for the tests. Cellulose acetate active films incorporated with Rosemary EO were produced to control the pathogenic microorganisms on chicken breast cuts (168). The films showed increasing antimicrobial activity at increasing EO concentration. However, it was necessary to reach a concentration of 500 g/kg to obtain an effective result. Also, the effect of Rosemary and Aloe Vera EOs on CA films was studied (169). The presence of these essential oils decreased the tensile strength, the water uptake and the contact angle, but increased the free radical scavenging activity. The antimicrobial activity against *E. coli* and *B. subtilis* increased as Rosemary and Aloe Vera oil percentage increased in CA membranes. In particular, the films containing 80% (v/w) of EOs (based on CA weight) showed no bacterial growth over 7 days of storage. Moreover, the electrospinning technique has been used to create CA nanofibers with 1 and 5 mL/L of Rosemary and Oregano EOs (170). The fibers with 5 mL/L of

oregano EO showed the best antimicrobial and anti-biofilm effects, especially for *E. coli* and *Candida albicans*.

Harini and Sukumar (2019) studied the direct incorporation of thymol, the major active compound present in the polar fraction of oregano EO, inside CA (171). The films were produced through vacuum drying and the difference between bulk dispersion and surface immobilization of the active compound was studied. The obtained films were transparent and showed, respectively, > 90% and *ca*. 65% of thymol retention. The UV-assisted surface immobilization decreased the mechanical and barrier properties of the CA films. Good antioxidant and antimicrobial properties were obtained in general, even if films with the thymol dispersed in the bulk showed higher activity. These films were active against *L. monocytogenes, S. aureus, E. coli, P. aeruginosa, Klebsiella pneumoniae,* and *Salmonella enteritidis* with a minimum inhibition concentration of 20 mg/L. The effect of thymol was also studied when used together with organoclay, which resulted to increase the antimicrobial effect against *Listeria innocua* (172).

In terms of addition method, among other techniques, it is interesting to mention the study concerning the release of thymol from a cellulose acetate film impregnated using supercritical carbon dioxide (scCO₂) (66). This technique was already studied on CA (249) and other polymers (250) and it is already used at industrial scale for the extraction of low volatility and/or thermal sensitive compounds. Due to its low viscosity and surface tension, indeed, scCO₂ can easily penetrate into a solid matrix, facilitating the impregnation processes and ensuring a good distribution of the active molecules (173). The CA structure and morphology of the obtained films resulted dependent on the thymol content. Increasing the thymol content above 137 g/kg, indeed, led to a decrease of the glass transition temperature up to 29 °C, while the crystalline arrangement of the CA disappeared. In general, the thymol release, which depends on the concentration and on the release medium, was up to 3 days. The thymol was detected on the CA surface as well, thus allowing antimicrobial activity through direct contact. The impregnated CA showed antibacterial activity against 23 tested strains, in particular against methicillin-resistant S. aureus, cause of fatal infections in animals and humans (66). The optimal thymol loading for an efficient reduction of biofilm formation resulted to be in the range from 26 to 30% wt. (with respect to polymer mass) (173). In particular, the film containing 30% wt. of thymol exhibited antiadhesion properties on its surface. They resulted active against all tested strains, including antibiotic resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa DM50 and methicillin-resistant S. aureus. Furthermore, CA incorporated with OEO and montmorillonite clay were used to control the growth of phytopathogenic fungi (108). It was demonstrated that contemporary addition of active oils and

nanoclays allowed to obtain active films with a decreased water vapor transmission rate and an improved thermal stability.

CS was also investigated as a potential matrix for the development of food packaging films, although to a lower extent with respect to CA (251). Cellulose sulfate-based films with slow release of mustard EO due to the presence of β -CD were tested (174). The mustard essential oil (MEO) had already been studied as active agent in edible films against *L. monocytogenes* (252). The addition of MEO to CS reduced the TS and the water sorption without affecting the WVP and increased the elongation at break (EB). Also, the films showed great antimicrobial activity against *E. coli, S. aureus* and modest activity against *B. subtilis* and *Aspergillus niger*, which was attributed to a lower antimicrobial effect of MEO for these bacterial strains.

Cellulose ethers

In the field of active packaging, the functionality of biocomposite based on methyl cellulose and carboxymethyl cellulose in combination with plant extracts, such as murta fruit (*Ugni molinae*) (175) or curcumin (253) was investigated. The mechanical strength and water vapor barrier properties of the films improved, as well as the antioxidant and antimicrobial activity.

Studies on carboxymethyl cellulose (CMC) were done by incorporating Mexican OEO at different values of pH (176). It was found that antimicrobial treatment against *L. monocytogenes* and *S. aureus* were more effective at lower pH values (pH = 5 and 2.5 g/kg of Mexican OEO). Also, the *Mentha spicata* EO (MSEO) was investigated (177). The treatment of fresh strawberries with CMC with 2 g/kg MSEO resulted in a decrease of *L. monocytogenes* population, while physicochemical and organoleptic properties were maintained. Moreover, MSEO was used together with *Ziziphora clinopodioides* EO (ZiEO) to create CMC active coatings for the extension of fresh and sauced chicken breast fillets shelf-life (178). In fact, the application of CMC with ZEO (2.5-5 g/kg) and MSEO 5 g/kg increased the shelf-life up to 14 days and completely inhibited the growth of *Campylobacter jejuni*, while the growth of *L. monocytogenes*, *S. aureus*, *E. coli* and *Salmonella typhimurium* was retarded.

The effect of bay EO on CMC was also considered (72) reporting high antioxidant activity (up to 99%) and inhibition of microorganisms' growth (*E. coli* and *Candida glabrata*). Good barrier properties against water vapor (50% improvement with respect to CMC in films containing 150 g/kg of EO) were observed and UV-light barrier effect was increased (almost 100% of protection). Higher water solubility (93%) was finally found, which ensured material biodegradability. CMC was also incorporated with *Zataria multiflora Boiss* EO (ZaEO) (179). The increase of ZaEO

content led to a decrease in transparency and an increase in total phenol content and antioxidant activity. Figure 1.8 shows the SEM images of the surface (left) and cross-sections (right) of CMC films containing different concentrations of ZaEO (1,2, and 3% v/v based on the CMC solution). Pure CMC film appeared homogeneous and smooth, while the presence of ZaEO led to a more heterogeneous structure. The porous structure could be due to the evaporation of the EO during drying or to the entrapped air bubbles during membranes fabrication. The films with the highest ZaEO content (3% v/v) had the best essential oil dispersion in the matrix. They also showed the highest microbial inhibition, in particular against *S. aureus, B. cereus* and *E. coli*. Raeisi and coworkers added to the same composite the grape seed extract (GSE) and observed the effect on the shelf life of rainbow trout fillets (254). The minimum number of total viable bacteria (lactic acid bacteria and *Pseudomonas spp.*) were determined in the fillets coated with CMC plus 20 mL/L ZaEO and 10 mL/L GSE. While the fillets containing 10 mL/L of both compounds resulted to have the best organoleptic properties.


Figure 1.8. SEM images of the surfaces (left) and cross-sections (right) of CMC films containing different ZaEO concentrations (from the top: control, 10, 20 and 30 g/kg of content) (179).

Edible films containing *Thymus daenensis* EO from wild and cultivated plants loaded in hydroxyl propyl methyl cellulose (HPMC) were also produced (180). The uniform incorporation of the nanoemulsions into the matrix led to a plasticizing effect and in a relevant antimicrobial effect against several microorganisms. In particular, the EO from the wild plant showed better antimicrobial activity against gram-positive bacteria. While the EO from the cultivated plant was more effective against the gram-negative ones. This difference is due to the various quantities of components in the EOs: the wild EO was indeed poorer in thymol and carvacrol, but richer in ρ-cymene. The latter is a precursor of carvacrol, and it was found to have a synergistic effect with it. In fact, when combined, these two substances can cause the swelling of the cytoplasmic membrane (42).

1.4 Chitosan based active packaging

Chitosan, as previously explained, demonstrated to be suitable and convenient to develop novel food packaging systems due to its intrinsic antimicrobial activity and its film forming ability (120,121). In addition, the mechanical and barrier properties of chitosan have been largely reviewed in comparison with synthetic plastics (255).

The most important studies regarding chitosan in packaging application are related to antibacterial packaging based on the material intrinsic properties (158) or on their synergetic effect with other active substances (256–258). In the literature it is possible to find many studies on the incorporation of natural antimicrobials such as nisin (257,259), polyphenols (260–262) and various plants extracts (263–270). These advances are related to the use of chitosan-based materials in various fields such as wound healing, food packaging, textile and biomedical sectors (271).

Active Chitosan films

As in the case of nanocellulose, most of the studies involving chitosan/EOs active packaging were focused on the analysis of antimicrobial activity on different gram-positive and gram-negative pathogens. The influence on the physical and mechanical properties of the films was also studied. As an example, the incorporation of rosemary EO up to 15 mL/L was able to produce chitosan films with antimicrobial activity against *L. monocytogenes*, *Streptococcus agalactiae* and *E. coli*. The treatment also decreased their light transmission in UV light and the solubility and the water

uptake by about 25% and 85%, respectively (182). In other works, fennel, peppermint (272) and Citrus limonia (273) essential oils were tested showing that they also help in decreasing the moisture content and protect from UV light. The same trends were observed with the use of Ziziphora clinopodioides EO, red grape seed extract (183), and with the use of Apricot (Prunus armeniaca) kernel EO (184). Also, the incorporation of lemongrass essential oil had similar results, with a 101% improvement in the elongation at break and 15% reduction in water vapor permeability (185). Other authors tested thyme EO in chitosan and found it more effective as antimicrobial than clove and cinnamon EOs (187). Moreover, the presence of thyme and clove EOs in chitosan films led to an increase of the moisture content (+23%), the solubility in water (+28%), the water vapor transmission rate (0.004 g/s/m^2) , and finally on the elongation at break (+34%). Interestingly, cinnamon-enriched films showed an opposite behavior, with a decrease of EB and an increased tensile strength. The same trend was observed also by other authors, which suggested that these results are due to the cross-linking effect of CEO components within the chitosan matrix (86). Although, the antimicrobial effect against several gram-positive (L. monocytogenes, Lactobacillus plantarum, Lactobacillus sakei) and gram-negative (Pseudomonas fluorescens, E. coli) bacteria was satisfactory for a concentration of 20 mL/L of EO.

Chitosan films enriched with essential oils have been recently amended with gelatin and characterized (188). They were active against *C. jejuni, E. coli, L. monocytogenes* and *S. typhimurium*. In addition, they showed good barrier properties against UV light and an increase in moisture absorption and water vapor permeability. Chitosan films were also used in combination with propolis extract instead of essential oils. Since the extract has a high polyphenols content, the antimicrobial and mechanical improvements observed were similar to those obtained with essential oils (274).

Considering direct application on food products, fresh strawberries are among the most common foods used to test antimicrobial properties in active packaging. Their treatment with chitosan and *Mentha spicata* EO 2 g/kg resulted in a decrease of *L. monocytogenes* population while physicochemical and organoleptic properties were maintained (177). Fresh strawberries were also treated with edible bioactive chitosan films containing red thyme and oregano extracts substantially increasing the shelf-life, as visible in figure 1.9 (181). Thyme EO was also tested as antimicrobial agent inside a chitosan matrix used for cooked ham packaging. Its presence reduced the water condensation inside the package and the odor was perceived as desirable in the food product. Moreover, the yeast population was reduced by the antimicrobial agent, while

the aerobic mesophilic bacteria, the lactic acid bacteria and the enterobacteria were not affected (186).



Figure 1.9. Appearance of strawberries coated with modified chitosan-based formulation during shelf-life test. The control (on the left) after 10 days shows worst conditions compared with coated strawberries after 21 days (on the right) (181).

Chitosan nanoparticles

In addition to its function as matrix, chitosan has also been considered to produce nanoparticles (CSNs) (275), alone or in combination with nanoclays (276) and nanofibers (277). They can be homogenously mixed with different essential oils to enhance the shelf life of various food products. This procedure is usually applied to fruit or vegetables, which are dipped in the coating solutions containing the EOs entrapped into the chitosan nanoparticles. The effect of chitosan nanoparticles incorporated with *Cinnamomum zeylanicum* EO on the cold storage of cucumber was observed by Mohammadi et al. (2015) (189). The CEO encapsulated by CSNs provided a better antimicrobial activity against *Phytophthora drechsleri*, improving the shelf-life and the physicochemical quality of cucumbers. The same research group also encapsulated *Zataria multiflora* EO in chitosan nanoparticles through ionic gelation. They studied the release rate and the performance *in vitro* and *in vivo* against *Botrytis cinerea*, the major cause of gray mould disease (190). The findings revealed a promising technique to prevent postharvest fruit from decay and extend the storage life, without the use of synthetic fungicides. Carvacrol-loaded chitosan

nanoparticles were also tested to maintain quality of fresh-cut carrots (191). The vegetables dipped in the washing treatments presented a 2-6 lower log CFU/g units compared to control samples and better sensory and physicochemical quality after 13 days at 5°C. Similarly, the effect of cinnamon EO in chitosan nanoparticles on the conservation of chilled pork was object of study (48). In this case, the food product was wrapped with low density polyethylene films, whose inner surface was coated with layers of chitosan nanoparticles of distinct size, loaded with the EO. After 15 days of storage at 4°C, a significant decrease of microbial growth, pH and peroxide concentration was observed for films containing microparticles (527 nm).

1.5 Biocomposite films

Bio-nanocomposite materials consist of a matrix composed of a bio-based polymer and a dispersed nanometric phase which is meant to improve the properties of the base material. Most nanocomposites are focused on the improvement of the mechanical and structural properties of the matrix. It is quite common, for example, to use cellulose nanowhiskers or cellulose nanocrystals as reinforcements, due to their high tensile strength and modulus (84). They can be easily dispersed in hydrophilic polymers (101) and can be modified to increase the compatibility with non-polar matrixes, improving their mechanical, physical, thermal and optical properties. At the same time, they help the homogeneous homogenous dispersion of the active molecule previously integrated (36). The contemporary incorporation of nanoparticles and essential oils, therefore, has become a common technique to endow the final biocomposite materials with additional antimicrobial properties while maintaining sufficient mechanical strength (18). The incorporation of essential oils in nanocomposites, in addition, allows to modify properties not related to the antioxidant and antimicrobial activity, such as film transparency or hydrophobicity.

Nanoparticles can be treated or coupled with the EOs before or after the addition to the matrix. Several techniques have been used to create biocomposite films, depending on the type of materials involved and the final application of the composite. Some of the most used are, for example, extrusion, solvent casting, impregnation, layer-by-layer deposition and spin-coating (96). Among the several existing techniques, then, the creation of nanoemulsions of the EOs and nanoparticles prior to dispersion in the active matrix represents a step forward for the food packaging applications, in particular for the incorporation of active compounds in films and coatings (278).

As in the previous cases trying to give an organic overview of the many studies available the section has been divided following the main materials considered as a matrix for the composite, starting from chitosan-cellulose composite to then consider other biopolymers added with EOs, chitosan and/or nanocellulose.

Chitosan – cellulose composites

Biocomposite films where chitosan and cellulose in different forms are used together as matrix and/or reinforcement for active food packaging applications are rather common in scientific literature (279–281). The focus, in this concern, is not only on antimicrobial activity, but also on the influence that the different components have on the mechanical properties of the film. In this case, most often *in vitro* studies were conducted, without direct testing on food products.

For example, CNC incorporation in chitosan matrix allowed to obtain films with antifungal properties, active for chicken meat shelf-life increasing (281). Also, many works on their combination with other polymers and with agricultural or food process wastes are reported. For example, the production of biodegradable nanocomposites from carrot minimal processing waste (CMPW) was optimized in combination with HPMC as ligand and high-pressure microfluidized cellulose fibers for the mechanical reinforcement (282). While a composite film based on bacterial cellulose and chitin has been recently developed (283), also considering the case of multinanofiber system (284). The nanofibers allowed a good dispersion of curcumin nanoparticles in the films, which reduced the TS and increased the WVP. However, these modifications were counterbalanced by the presence of chitin nanofibers, which positively affected both mechanical and barrier properties of the material. The produced films also showed antioxidant and antibacterial activity against E. coli and S. aureus with an inhibition ratio of 65% and 75%, respectively. Conversely, the incorporation of curcumin extract in pure chitosan resulted in opposite effect on mechanical properties (285). This indicates that even if these materials have certain properties and known effects on the matrix, their combination strongly influences the final properties of the composite.

Moreover, binary edible films made from CMC and chitosan biguanidine hydrochloride (CGg) activated with frankincense oil (FO) or titanium oxide nanoparticles (286) were prepared and analyzed by Salama et al. (2019) (192). The presence of FO resulted in a lower WVP, higher TS and EB, without any change in transparency. These films exhibited antibacterial activity against *S. pneumonia, B. subtilis* and *E. coli*. The same biopolymers were used to produce chitosan/CMC

films incorporated with glutaraldehyde, cinnamon EO and oleic acid (OA), in order to study their simultaneous effect (193). In fact, the cross-linkage by glutaraldehyde improved the mechanical properties, and its use together with the CEO increased the film bioactivity. Also, the presence of OA increased the antimicrobial and antioxidant activity. While the inclusion of both CEO and OA significantly increased the WVP, due to significant changes in the microstructure of the biocomposite. This could be due to the covalent interactions between the essential oil constituents and/or OA with the biopolymer chains.

Equivalent results were found investigating the effect of cinnamon and ginger EOs on chitosan/CMC films emulsified with oleic acid (194). Clear differences appeared between cinnamon EO and ginger EO incorporated films. As the amount of each essential oil increases, the crystallinity decreases with the former essential oil, while it increases with the latter one. In fact, the cinnamaldehyde present in cinnamon could interact with the network created by CMC, chitosan and oleic acid, acting as plasticizer and inhibiting close packing in the polymer chains. Moreover, the cinnamon-incorporated films showed higher antifungal activity *in vitr*o against *A. niger* and higher increase in elongation at break percentage: +328% compared to +111% of the ginger films.

Chitosan based films reinforced with CNCs and encapsulated with thyme, oregano, tea tree and peppermint EOs nanoemulsions showed improved mechanical properties and better release of the active compound (52). They were tested in vitro and in situ against Asperigillus niger, Aspergillus flavus, Aspergillus parasiticus and Penicillum chrysogenum, reducing their growth by 51-77%. In situ experiment on inoculated rice during 8 weeks of storage resulted in a 2 log reduction of the fungal growth. The irradiation of the materials with a dose of 750 Gy of ionizing radiation further increased the antifungal and mechanical properties. The same research group also considered Methyl cellulose (MC) reinforced with CNC and amended with a blend of oregano and thyme EOs (195). The optimal conditions were found to be 75 g/kg CNC into MC containing 5-7.5 g/kg EO. The films exhibited the same antifungal activity as the previous study (52) and the irradiation treatment resulted again in improved antifungal and mechanical properties. The presence of different matrices and EOs concentration in the two cited works led to different characteristics in the final films. Respectively, the chitosan-based and the CM-based films treated with irradiation had a tensile strength of 57 and 64 MPa, an increase of the elongation at break of 36% and 26% and an increase in water vapor permeability of 24% and 5%. Chitosan films enriched with cellulose nanoparticles were also studied in combination with ethanolic propolis extract (287).

Chitosan matrix incorporated with 10 g/kg nanocellulose fiber and 10 g/kg thyme EO was tested on sweet cherry quality during storage (196). After 5 weeks of fruit storage within the edible coating, the nanocomposite affected the fruit's water retention, decreasing the weight loss and preserving the anthocyanin content. Moreover, the total sugar content increase indicates dehydration and decomposition of organic acids in the fruit during the storage time.

The effect of cellulose and lignocellulose nanofibers (LCNF) (40 g/kg) as nanoreinforcement on *Origanum vulgare* EO (50 g/kg) – loaded chitosan films was investigated (197). The films without nanoreinforcement, containing only the EO, showed higher antioxidant and antimicrobial activity against *E. coli* and *B. cereus* than bionanocomposite films, where the release controlling effect of CNF and LCNF is present. The incorporation of EO and CNF/LCNF, on the other hand, improved the solubility and the water vapor barrier but affected the color properties. This is due to the new hydrogen bonds created between the chitosan chains, the EO and the nanofibers. LCNF resulted to better disperse the EO into the chitosan matrix, which led to better properties of the composite. The same investigation was done also with the use of *Carum copticum* EO which gave similar results with respect to the previous study (198).

Combination of PLA and nanocellulose or chitosan

PLA-CNC nanocomposite films containing OEO were tested against *Listeria monocytogenes* in mixed vegetables (59). It was observed that the presence of the OEO did not affect the WVP, but increased the EB while reducing the TS and the tensile modulus. These films demonstrated a strong antimicrobial activity through the continuous release of phenolic compounds over the tested period.

The fabrication of a PLA composite with the addition of CNC is expected to significantly increase the mechanical properties of the material. Interestingly, however, Khodayari et al. showed that such improvement was more pronounced when it was coupled with different concentrations of *Tanacetum balsamita* EO (TBE) and propolis ethanolic extract (PEE) (199). While PLA films containing PEE, alone or coupled with CNC, could not inhibit the growth of bacteria, the presence of TBE allowed to affect gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria, especially *B. cereus*. All films containing TBE showed significant antibacterial effects against aerobic mesophilic bacteria, lactic acid bacteria and psychrotroph. The same nanocomposite was created using *Ziziphora clinopodioides* EO to improve beef meat shelf life (200). The microbial population after 11 days of storage of minced beef decreased 1 to 3 log CFU/g and films containing 20 g/kg EO extended the shelf-life without any alteration of the organoleptic properties.

PLA was also used in combination with CNF gel, through the incorporation of *Zataria multiflora* essential oil (ZaEO) and propolis ethanolic extract (PEE), by solvent casting method (201). The gel was obtained directly from wood particles by a mechanical method. The addition of ZaEO and PEE made the films more flexible. The presence of CNF improved the WVP, the TS (+32%) and the elastic modulus (+19%). The maximum antibacterial effect was recorded in the film containing both ZaEO (5 mL/L) and PEE. In particular, the PLA/10 g/kg of ZaEO/PEE composite was able to increase the shelf life of sausages up to 40 days, addressing the antimicrobial activity against *S. aureus, E. coli, Vibrio parahaemolyticus* and *L. monocytogenes*.

PLA has also been combined with chitosan-based materials. For example, Fiore et al. (2021) tried to coat PLA film with chitosan enriched with rosemary essential oil for the development of fresh minced chicken breast application (202). With a concentration of 20 g/kg of essential oil in the coating it was possible to reduce by 25% the water vapor permeability and increase the antioxidant activity. In general, those films demonstrate the ability to improve the shelf-life of fresh meat products.

Alginate antimicrobial biocomposites

Alginate edible films were incorporated with oregano, cinnamon or winter savory EOs and their antimicrobial activity was tested against *Salmonella Typhimurium* or *Listeria monocytogenes* in ham slices (288). The films were pretreated with different concentrations of calcium chloride. In fact, the formation of ionic bonds produced an insoluble gel, which affected the release rate of the active compounds. Cinnamon-based film pretreated by immersion in a 20% CaCl₂ solution was the most effective against both pathogens.

The application of sodium alginate (SA) films activated with CMC, CEO as antimicrobial agent, glycerol as plasticizer and Tween[®] 80 as surfactant were studied by Hal and al. (2018) (49). At the highest CEO concentration of 15 g/L, the inhibitory effect against *S. aureus* increased with the increase of the Tween[®] 80 concentration. The incorporation of Tween[®] 80 in the SA/CMC matrix may facilitate the release of CEO from the film matrix and promote its diffusion into the surroundings, thus increasing the antimicrobial activity of the film. These film forming solutions were coated on banana fruits to test possible shelf-life extension. The bananas coated with SA/CMC containing 15 g/L CEO deteriorated more rapidly than those with control coating. This was probably caused by the increase in oxygen permeability of the films that, associated with the higher oxygen solubility in CEO, favored the oxidation of phenolic compounds. Water content, on

the other hand, was decreased in presence of CEO and, due to the increased hydrophobicity of the films, also WVP was reduced for SA/CMC films incorporated with 15 g/L CEO. Concerning the mechanical properties, finally, it is interesting to notice that the effects of Cinnamon EO are different to the ones observed in other matrices such as chitosan (187). Due to the specific interactions between the fillers and the matrix itself, the presence of CEO led in this case to an increase of EB and the decrease of TS of the films.

Agar antimicrobial biocomposites

Another example of biocomposite used in active packaging applications is the agar film reinforced with cellulose nanoparticles in presence of *Savory* EO (SEO) studied by Atef et al. (2015) (149). The addition of SEO decreased tensile strength, young's modulus, and water solubility, while increased the elongation, WVP and opacity of the nanocomposite film. In addition to these changes, the agar/cellulose-based nanocomposite showed a noticeable antimicrobial activity. In particular, the film containing 15 g/kg SEO demonstrated the highest inhibition zone especially against *L. monocytogenes* and *B. cereus*, while *E. coli* was more resistant. To improve the mechanical flexibility and the thermal stability of agar, summer savory EO was incorporated into a CMC-agar film (204). The biocomposite showed good inhibition against gram-positive bacteria and an improvement in mechanical flexibility and hydrophobicity, at the price of a reduced transparency. The same biocomposite was created with grapefruit seed extract. An increase in UV barrier properties, moisture content, water solubility and water vapor permeability was observed, with a decrease in tensile strength, elastic modulus and surface hydrophobicity (154,289).

General considerations about the state of the art for active packaging

The literature research that has been conducted at the beginning of this work allowed to have a wide and clear map of the various studies conducted on this topic in the last years. Anyway, after this evaluation it is necessary to make some general considerations about the types of tests made for the different materials and systems analyzed.

For example, EOS added cellulose-based matrixes are effectively a promising green alternative for food active packaging applications. Almost all the works cited demonstrated the effectiveness against gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria independently from the method used for coupling. Only a fraction (about 30%) of them, however, tried to implement the developed solution on real packaging systems, mostly on cheese and meat products, and an even lower part (only 10%) focused also on a complete sensory evaluation. Also, the incorporation in chitosan of

various essential oils at different concentrations can be remarkably effective for the shelf-life elongation in fresh food products like vegetables and meat. In fact, these active components not only allowed the reduction of microbial growth, but also showed a decrease in water vapor permeability of the films, together with an increase in thermal stability and elongation at break. Interestingly, compared to what is seen for nanocellulose, in the case of chitosan-based active packaging, there was a higher number of works (about 60% of the articles analyzed) dealing with direct application on food products. They were mostly vegetable products or fruit, but a certain attention was given also to meat, cheese and bakery products.

In all these works the deterioration of the product was monitored through laboratory analyses, while only a small percentage of them also presented a comprehensive sensory evaluation of the packaged food. This kind of assessment, however, has significant importance for the development of the final product and should be treated with more attention.

In the current analysis, the most used essential oils resulted to be, in the order, oregano, cinnamon, thyme and rosemary. However, many other plant-derived compounds, also different from essential oils, were considered and resulted effective against a wide range of microorganisms. In fact, these natural compounds showed antimicrobial activity against the most known gram-positive bacteria (*S. aureus, B. subtilis, L, monocytogenes*), gram-negative bacteria (*E. coli*), and fungi (*S. cerevisiae, A. niger*).

In general, however, despite the extremely high number of works and the potential of most of the materials considered, it is difficult to draw general guidelines in the production of active packaging based on the combination of renewable materials and essential oils. Many of the available studies are indeed focused on a very specific application, to test the performance of certain essential oils, incorporated in each material, on the preservation of the quality of specific food. The use of a combination of essential oils in the same packaging, for example, is seldom considered, leading to ample space for further analysis and optimization of the currently tested solutions.

It can be noticed that, while most of the materials considered base their activity on the release of the active compounds, very few information is given about the release rate and kinetics, which are essential in order to design and adapt an active packaging solution for the desired shelf-life. For this reason, the first experiments of this research project were focused on the transport properties of essential oils into nanocellulose matrix as a basis for further development of these types of systems.

2. Materials and Methods

The present study focused on the analysis of the absorption and desorption kinetics of cinnamon, thyme and oregano essential oils into different nanocellulose matrices. Also, the development of an active system to be tested both directly on bacterial strains and on food product was targeted. In this section, the materials and the characterization techniques adopted for the kinetics and antimicrobial analyses will be presented.

2.1 Materials for film preparation

The Nanofibrillated Cellulose (NFC) utilized in this work was kindly provided by INOFIB in water suspension and was obtained from eucalyptus pulp. The NFC was purchased both in water and in acetone suspensions. Pure NFC and surface modified carboxymethylated NFC (CMC-NFC) were used. Three different types of NFC were selected: pure NFC (indicated in the following as NFC1), CMC-NFC-780 (NFC2) and CMC-NFC-1600 (NFC3), which had, respectively, a final superficial charge density of *ca.* 30, 780 and 1600 µequiv/g. The CMC-NFC was synthetized by alkali-catalysed reaction of cellulose from eucalyptus. The fibers were impregnated with a solution of monochloroacetic acid in isopropanol and then heated for 6 hours under the boiling temperature in a reactor fitted with a condenser. Then they were filtered and washed. After the mechanical treatment at 1500 rpm, a gel with a concentration of 1.7 wt.% was obtained. The fibers had final diameter of 80-150 nm (290).

Pellets of PLA4060 and PLA3100 from Natureworks were used for the fabrication of PLA membranes through solvent casting technique. Ethanol, chloroform, acetone and DMSO were purchased from Sigma Aldrich and used as solvents.

Cinnamon, Thyme, and Oregano essential oils were kindly provided by Destilerías Muñoz Gálvez, S.A. (Murcia, Spain). They were 100% pure oils, with respectively 74.7 % v/v of *Eugenol*, 55.5 % v/v of *Thymol* and 71.5 % v/v of *Carvacrol* as major active compounds, as indicated in table 2.1, which also reports the main properties of the different compounds. Figure 2.1 shows the chemical structure of the major components of these essential oils. Both the nanocellulose and the essential oil have been used without any further purification, as this is the way they are often used in active packaging application. Deionized water available in the laboratory was used to dilute the solutions during the film preparation procedures.

Table 2.1. Major compounds present in Cinnamon, Thyme and Oregano essential oils. The molecular weight, the boiling point and the vapor pressure are taken from https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ (291)

Cinnamon essent	Cinnamon essential oil							
Compound name	Composition	Mol. weight	Boiling Point	Vapor pressure				
	(% v/v)	(g/mol)	(°C; @P atm)	(mmHg @25°C)				
Eugenol	74.70	164.20	252	0.02				
β-caryophyllene	3.97	204.36	245	0.30				
Linalool	3.11	154.25	198	0.16				
α-Pinene	1.45	136.23	155	4.36				
Benzyl benzoate	1.32	212.24	324	2.24x10 ⁻⁴				
Safrole	1.24	162.18	232	8.70x10 ⁻²				
Eugenyl	1.13	206.24	281	~0				
Thyme essential of	Thyme essential oil							
Compound name	Composition	Mol. weight	Boiling Point	Vapor pressure				
	(% v/v)	(g/mol)	(°C; @P atm)	(mmHg @25°C)				
Thymol	55.50	150.22	232	0.02				
p-cymene	16.80	134.22	177	1.50				
γ-terpinene	5.77	136.23	183	1.09				
Carvacrol	4.46	150.22	237	2.96 x10 ⁻²				
Linalool	3.36	154.25	198	0.16				
Thujene	1.21	136.23	151	4.77				
Oregano essentia	loil							
Compound name	Composition	Mo. weight	Boiling Point	Vapor pressure				
	(% v/v)	(g/mol)	(°C; @P atm)	(mmHg; @25°C)				
Carvacrol	71.50	150.22	237	2.96x10 ⁻²				
p-cymene	4.71	134.22	177	1.50				
Linalool	4.32	154.25	198	0.16				
γ-terpinene	3.98	136.23	183	1.09				
β-caryophyllene	3.11	204.35	245	0.30				
Thymol	2.19	150.22	232	0.02				
Borneol	1.32	154.25	213	0.05				



Figure 2.1. Chemical structure of the major compounds present in the Cinnamon, Thyme and Oregano essential oils: (a) Eugenol, (b) Thymol, (c) Carvacrol

2.2 Nanocellulose films

Solvent casting technique was adopted to prepare a series of thin films for the different tests performed during this work, both related to transport phenomena and antimicrobial essays. The NFC or CMC-NFC suspension was weighted with a standard laboratory balance. Then distilled water was added until reaching the desired weight concentration (*ca.* 0.5-1.7 wt.%), which was chosen based on preliminary experiments to obtain the correct viscosity for each type of nanocellulose used. After that, the solution was homogenized with a high-speed homogenizer (IKA - T 18 digital ULTRA-TURRAX®) and sonicated in order to eliminate the embedded air. In the case of pure NFC, the solution was also put in vacuum oven at ambient temperature for 10 minutes, since some air bubbles were still present after sonication. Finally, the solutions were casted in a PTFE Petri dish of 9 cm of diameter and dried at 35-40 °C for about 72 h. The final films were then removed from the Petri dish and stored in a plastic bag until they were used for tests. The weight (Mettler Toledo AE 240 Analytical Balance) and the thickness were measured as well. The thickness of the final samples was in the order of 30-50 µm, measured with a flat plate micrometer (Mitutoyo Absolute Series 227-221). In table 2.2 it is possible to find the specific parameters used to create each sample.

Namo	Matorial	Conc.	Homogenization	Drying Temperature
Name	Wateria	(wt.%)	(Time and speed)	(°C)
NFC1	NFC	0.50	10' x 10k rpm	35
NFC2	CMC-NFC-780	1.24	15' x 13k rpm	40
NFC3	CMC-NFC-1600	1.70	15' x 13k rpm	35

Table 2.2.	Nanocellulose	casting	parameters
------------	---------------	---------	------------

2.3 PLA based films

PLA films were considered in the experimental analysis in the attempt of obtaining a completely biodegradable for the controlled release of the oils in active packaging applications. PLA was used as it resulted to be the most interesting biopolymer for this purpose, since it is already industrially used, easy to handle and process and completely safe.

In particular PLA films were casted alone as well as in mixture with nanocellulose. In the first case the aim was to build a multilayer system with nanocellulose films, with the polymer simulating the lid of a box on which the nanocellulose pad amended with the essential oils could be attached. In addition to that mixture PLA-Nanocellulose were also considered in the view of future application of this active packaging system, to understand if the oil saturated NFC fibres could be integrated in the biopolymer to enhance at the same time mechanical, barrier and antimicrobial properties.

2.3.1 Pure PLA films

For the fabrication of PLA membranes, different concentrations of PLA material were used in different solvents, in order to optimize the procedure and obtain homogeneous films. Also, two different grades of PLA were tested: PLA4060 and PLA3100 with the latter having a higher crystallinity. During preparation, the selected amount of PLA was dissolved in the selected solvent using a magnetic stirring and increasing the temperature. Since the solution had a very low viscosity, any further homogenization process was not needed, and the solution was directly poured into glass petri dish of 9 cm of diameter and let dry for 24-48 hours.

The table 2.3 resumes the crucial casting parameters used for these tests. In particular, for the two types of PLA tested, the concentration and the casting parameters (stirring velocity, temperature and time) are reported. Different parameters were tested in order to optimize the process and obtain homogeneous membranes.

Sample name	Material	Solvent	Concentraion (wt.%)	Stirring (rpm)	Temperature (°C)	Time (min)
PLA1	PLA4060	Chloroform	2.99	300	60	60
PLA2	PLA 3100	Chloroform	3.24	300	60	60
PLA25	PLA4060	Acetone	3.02	500	60	40
PLA28	PLA3100	Chloroform	3.03	500	60	40
PLA41	PLA4060	Chloroform	2.94	500	60	25

Table 2.3. Parameters for the casting optimization of pure PLA membranes.

PLA42	PLA4060	Acetone	2.99	500	60	30
PLA43	PLA3100	Chloroform	2.99	500	60	30

2.3.2 PLA-NFC pairing

In the view of future application of this active packaging system, it is important to understand how the NFC active pads could be integrated in a packaging system made from a biopolymer. After the literature research. PLA resulted to be the most interesting biopolymer for this purpose, since it is already industrially used, easy to handle and process and completely safe.

PLA-NFC pairing through casting

After obtaining pure PLA membranes, NFC was also included in the casting in different concentration, in the view of pairing these two materials for the active packaging membrane development. NFC was used both in aqueous solution and in acetone solution and carboxymethylated NFC was tested too (292). First, the PLA was dissolved in the selected solvent as explained in the previous paragraph. Then, the NFC solution was added to the PLA one and they were homogenized (homogenizer) for 10 minutes at 12000 rpm. Once the final solution appeared homogeneous with no solid suspension, it was poured into PTFE petri dishes and let dry at ambient temperature for 24-48 hours. Table 2.4 reports the parameters used for the casting optimization of the composite membranes. The concentrations of PLA and of NFC to PLA wt% are reported. Also, the stirring velocity, the temperature and the time are shown in the last columns of the table.

Sample name	Material	Solvent	Conc. (wt.%)	NFC	NFC conc. (wt.%)	Stirring (rpm)	Temp (°C)	Time (min)
PLA3	PLA3100	Chloroform	3.80	NFC in acetone	20.17	500	60	60
PLA5	PLA4060	Acetone	2.39	NFC in acetone	10.56	600	50	60
PLA6	PLA3100	Chloroform	3.81	NFC in acetone	4.75	600	50	60
PLA10	PLA4060	Acetone	2.45	NFC in acetone	6.07	700	50	30
PLA12	PLA4060	Acetone	0.58	NFC in water	10.24	700	50	30
PLA13	PLA4060	Acetone	1.94	NFC in water	1.00	700	50	30
PLA14	PLA4060	Acetone	1.96	CMC-NFC 1600 in water	1.02	700	50	30
PLA15	PLA4060	DMSO	1.00	NFC in water	16.85	700	50	120
PLA16	PLA4060	Chloroform	3.83	NFC in acetone	20.41	600	50	60
PLA17	PLA3100	Chloroform	3.86	NFC in acetone	40.28	500	60	35

Table 2.4. Parameters for the casting optimization of NFC-PLA membranes.

PLA18	PLA3100	Chloroform	3.78	NFC in acetone	40.63	500	60	35
PLA19	PLA3100	Chloroform	4.03	NFC in acetone	9.90	600	50	45
PLA20	PLA3100	Chloroform	3.94	NFC in acetone	19.58	600	50	40
PLA31	PLA4060	Acetone	2.48	NFC in Acetone	1.19	500	60	40
PLA32	PLA4060	Acetone	2.57	NFC in Acetone	0.54	500	60	40
PLA33	PLA4060	Acetone	2.45	NFC in Acetone	0.50	500	60	40
PLA34	PLA4060	Acetone	2.38	NFC in Acetone	0.11	500	60	40
PLA35	PLA4060	Acetone	3.57	NFC in Acetone	0.14	500	60	40
PLA36	PLA4060	Acetone	3.74	NFC in Acetone	0.28	500	60	35
PLA37	PLA4060	Acetone	3.56	NFC in Acetone	0.12	500	60	35

PLA-NFC Pairing through hydraulic press

PLA films casted as explained before were used for the tests of NFC-PLA pairing through the use of hydraulic press. Moreover, the commercially available extruded film of PLA Polybio 212 was used as well for the same purpose in order to detect any possible difference with the casted PLA films.

The hydraulic press allowed to tune the pressure, the temperature and the time in which the materials were processed at those certain conditions. Various conditions of the system were tested, as shown in table 2.5. Also, the essential oils were inserted in the membranes before the hydraulic press stage, to investigate the possibility to scale up their integration inside the packaging.

Sample PLA	Sample NFC	Temperature (°C)	Time (min)	Pressure (bar)
PLA4060	NFC	140	15	126
PLA3100	NFC	140	5	126
PLA3100	NFC	130	4	168
Polybio	NFC	140	15	209
Polybio	NFC	100	15	209
Polybio	CMC-NFC	100	10	209
Polybio	CMC-NFC	140	15	209

Table 2.5. Hydraulic press processing parameters for NFC-PLA pairing

2.4 Sorption and desorption measurements

Several small pieces of about 10 mg in weight were obtained from both PLA and NFC casted films and put in vacuum conditions at 35° C for 2 hours, in order to remove all the water still present inside the matrix. After the weight and the thickness of each piece were measured, they were put inside 20 ml glass vials, each one filled separately with 2 ml of a different essential oil, namely, thyme, oregano or cinnamon. As a reference, one of the films was kept in the same conditions but without any essential oil. The samples were stored at ambient conditions and the weight was measured at fixed time intervals to monitor the absorption of the essential oil inside the polymer. Before each measurement, the sample was taken out from the vial and quickly dried with absorbing paper until no trace of oil was detected on the paper. In this way, the excess of oil was removed from the surface. The balance used for experiments was an analytical balance Mettler Toledo with a precision of 1 x10⁻⁴ g. Tests were always performed in duplicate.

Desorption tests were made using a Quartz Spring Microbalance (QSM) schematized in Figure 2.2 and already described elsewhere (293). The apparatus is formed by a quartz spring of known elastic constant, placed inside a thermostatic glass column. The column temperature is controlled by a water jacket, while the tubes connecting the different parts of the systems are insulated and heated by a heating tape. The temperature was set at 35°C. The spring had a sensitivity of 2 mm/mg and a maximum load of 100 mg. The sample was attached to the bottom of the spring and its weight variations were measured by monitoring the shortening of the spring, related to the essential oils diffusing outside the membrane, through a CCD camera. The system was connected to a PC where a dedicated software allowed to register the data and tune the different experimental parameters.



Figure 2.2. Quartz spring apparatus set up (290).

The experiment was started by hanging a sample, previously equilibrated with the liquid essential oils, to the spring and keeping it at atmospheric pressure and controlled temperature until the equilibrium conditions were reached, i.e. the column was saturated with the volatile compounds diffusing out from the sample. At that point, vacuum conditions were set inside the column, through the vacuum pump connected to the system and the data were again collected until a new equilibrium was reached. At each step the final mass of the sample can be calculated following Eq. (1):

$$m_f = m_0 - \left(h_o - h_f\right) \cdot k/g \tag{1}$$

Where *k* represents the spring elastic constant, h_o and h_f the initial and final spring length and *g* is the gravity acceleration. Since the experiment was carried out at ambient to vacuum pressure, the buoyancy force had been neglected. The resulting error was not affecting the results more than temperature oscillations and column leaks; the overall precision of the system, considering the noise of the measurements and the other uncertainties can be considered in the order of ± 5 μ g.

The mass variations of the samples, due to the interactions with the essential oils, in the adsorption and desorption tests were calculated as follows:

$$\frac{m_{ads}}{m_0} = \frac{(m_Q - m_0)}{m_0} \times 100 \tag{2}$$

$$\frac{m_{des}}{m_f} = \frac{(m_Q - m_f)}{m_f} \times 100 \tag{3}$$

Where m_0 is the initial mass of the sample, after being vacuumed; m_Q is the mass of the sample after being immersed in the essential oil, prior the QSM measurement and m_f is the final mass, after the QSM experiment and the final vacuum treatment. Theoretically, if no interactions and/or solubilization occur between the nanocellulose and the essential oils, m_f should equal m_0 within the experimental uncertainties. The latter are mainly related to the uncontrolled desorption of the essential oils during sample handling, which cause weight losses in the order of 5 %, as estimated by diffusivity data.

2.5 Diffusivity analysis

The information about weight change during time, as obtained from the sorption and desorption experiments, was used to investigate the essential oils diffusion through the membrane. Different approaches can be used to fit the experimental data, by considering the different transport mechanisms of the penetrating molecules within the nanocellulose matrix.

If a purely diffusive mechanism is considered, the Fick's law needs to be solved with the appropriate boundary conditions in order to obtain the weight change during time. If the surfaces of the planar sample are kept at constant concentration during sorption, as in the case of liquid sorption experiments, eq. 4 can be used to estimate the diffusion coefficient, D (294,295).

$$\frac{m_t - m_0}{m_{inf} - m_0} = 1 - \sum_n \frac{8}{(2n+1)^2 \pi^2} \exp\left[\frac{-D(2n+1)^2 \pi^2 t}{L^2}\right]$$
(4)

Where m_t is the mass of diffusing substance which has entered the sheet at time t, m_{inf} is the same mass at the equilibrium condition and *L* is the sample thickness. In the case of desorption in the gas phase, m_t will be the mass of essential oil which left the membrane at time t. Eq. (4) can also be written in a different approximated form, valid for short time, where linear relationship can be obtained, simplifying the fitting procedures. Eq. (5) relates the mass uptake for short times (linear when reported against the square root of time) (294)

$$\frac{m_t - m_0}{m_{inf} - m_0} = \frac{2}{L} \left(\frac{D}{\pi}\right)^{1/2} t^{1/2}$$
(5)

In the case of desorption experiments, instead, when the sample is suspended in a compartment of limited volume where the concentration of penetrant changes with time due to diffusion process, a different equation has to be used. If the external volume is well stirred, in particular, eq. (6) can be used to estimate the diffusion coefficient, D (294,295):

$$\frac{m_t - m_0}{m_{inf} - m_0} = 1 - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{2\alpha(1+\alpha)}{1+\alpha+\alpha^2 q_n^2} \exp\left(-\frac{Dq_n^2 t}{L^2}\right)$$
(6)

Where m_t represents the mass of essential oil exiting the membrane at time t and m_{inf} corresponds to the mass of the sample at the end of the tests, prior to the vacuum step needed to recover the initial weight. Also, q_n are the non-zero positive roots of the equation $\tan q_n = -\alpha q_n$, with α representing the ratio of the volumes of solution and of the sheet rescaled with the partition coefficient, which was needed to account for the differences in the equilibrium concentration of solute within the surface of the sheet with respect to the solution.

The previous relationship holds when, as said above, the diffusion is Fickian. However, this is not always the case and more complex diffusion behaviours can be encountered. When a single diffusion coefficient is not sufficient to describe the process, a different approach may be used to describe the experimental data. As an example, a second diffusion coefficient can be taken into consideration, by assuming that different species are diffusing contemporarily and independently in the sample, thus changing the eq. (6) into eq. (7) describing a Dual Fickian Sorption (DFS) process:

$$\frac{m_t - m_0}{m_{inf} - m_0} = 1 - (1 - \beta) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{2\alpha(1 + \alpha)}{1 + \alpha + \alpha^2 q_n^2} \exp\left(-\frac{D_1 q_n^2 t}{l^2}\right) - \beta \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{2\alpha(1 + \alpha)}{1 + \alpha + \alpha^2 q_n^2} \exp\left(-\frac{D_2 q_n^2 t}{l^2}\right)$$
(7)

Where the factor β indicates the relative influence of the two diffusion coefficients on the process. In particular, the first diffusion coefficient (D_1) usually represents the diffusion at short times, while the latter (D_2) represents the diffusion at long times. β , therefore, represents the weight of the slow kinetics in the overall desorption process.

Another possibility is, instead, related to considering a different modelling approach such as the one based on the "Parallel exponential kinetics" (PEK), which has been already used to describe transport of water in nanocellulose (296) as well as in natural fibres such as lyocell, cotton (297), flax, hemp and others (298).

The model assumes two parallel independent first order processes that refer to different sorption/desorption sites. In the case of nanocellulose, it has been suggested to target the fast sorption sites in the amorphous region of the films. While the slow sorption sites were considered

to be embedded in the crystalline parts of the sample (296). According to the PEK model, the mass sorption at time *t* over the total mass absorbed at t = inf is related to time as the equation (8) shows:

$$\frac{m_t - m_0}{m_{inf} - m_0} = \varphi_{PEK} \left(1 - e^{-t/\tau_1^{PEK}} \right) + (1 - \varphi_{PEK}) \left(1 - e^{-t/\tau_2^{PEK}} \right)$$
(8)

Where φ_{PEK} is a parameter which indicates the relative weight of each process in the overall sorption, τ is a characteristic time of the sorption process, and the subscripts 2 and 1 refer to the fast (small τ) and the slow (high τ) kinetic processes, respectively.

2.6 FTIR-ATR spectroscopy

IR analysis was carried out on the different films before and after the absorption of the essential oils, to ensure the complete removal of the essential oil from the nanocellulose after the desorption and to check for possible interaction among the fibres and the oil which could lead to matrix modification.

An AVATAR 380 Infrared spectrometer (Nicolet, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.) provided with an Attenuated Total Reflection tool (MIRacle[™] Single Reflection, Pike Technologies) was used for the tests. The spectra were acquired by pressing the film at room conditions directly on the ATR ZnSe crystal, with a calibrated pressure in order to ensure repeatability of the results. Each acquisition employed 32 scans per spectrum with a resolution of 4 cm⁻¹ and was elaborated via Omnic[™] software package. As said above, the samples were analysed before and after the sorption/desorption experiments, in order to see how the contact with the essential oil could impact the structure of the film. All analyses were performed at least in duplicate.

2.7 Preparation of the active nanocellulose films and anti-bacterial activity assays in the vapor phase

The nanocellulose films were prepared from the water dispersion of pure nanocellulose (NFC1) through a solvent casting technique, as explained in section 2.2. Once the films were dried, a controlled amount of the essential oil of interest was added on the surface of the films with a micropipette to reach the desired concentration. The reference concentration firstly used was related to the maximum oil absorption rate of the nanocellulose, that is when the nanocellulose is saturated with the oil. This value was determined through experiments done in the previous work

and depends on the specific oil. Then, lower and higher concentrations (from 20% up to 85% wt.) were also tested in order to correlate the concentration effect on the antimicrobial activity. Also, nanocellulose films of 9 cm and 4 cm of diameter were used, to test the size effect on the antibacterial activity.

A summary of the various systems tested can be found in table 2.6. There, both the quantity of oil used (µL) for each membrane and the ratio between the volume of the oil used and the mass of the film are reported. By maintaining this ratio constant for the membranes of 4 cm and 9 cm, it was possible to analyse the impact of the dimension of the films, regardless the quantity of oil present. In the last column of the table the ratio between the quantity of oil used and the volume of the headspace of the packaging (volume of air) is reported. For the sake of clarity in the text, the samples in the various experiments will be reported with the dimension of the film (either 9 or 4 centimetres) followed by name of the oil present in the membrane, and the ratio between the oil quantity and the mass of the film. For example, NAP9_T-0.19 refers to the nanocellulose membranes of 9 cm of diameter, embedded with thyme essential oil in a ratio of 0.19 (mg)/ per mass of the film (mg).

After preparation, the active film was attached to an aluminium foil paying attention to not having a leakage of the oil from the borders. In particular, the active surface was directly in contact with the aluminium foil, while the borders of the film were sealed with hot glue. In this way, it was certain that the oil could only diffuse through the nanocellulose film before to be dispersed in the headspace of the testing system (Petri dish). The aluminium foil was needed only to prevent the oil to evaporate before the nanocellulose film was correctly placed inside the system for the test.

The bacterial strains used for the tests were gram-positive *Staphylococcus aureus* and gramnegative *Escherichia coli*. A volume of each bacterial suspension was taken from 5 mL cultures grown overnight up to a concentration of $10^{-6} - 10^{-8}$ CFU/mL and spread onto LB agar plates. Immediately after the spreading, the active film (either of 4 or 9 cm diameter) was attached over the plate lid to test antimicrobial activity associated with the oil volatilization. The agar plates containing films activated with the same oil were incubated at 37°C in static conditions after their insertion into a humid box. Aluminium foils with only nanocellulose without the oils were used as a control of the experiment. The bacterial growth was detected and enumerated as CFU/mL counting after an incubation of both 24 hours and 168 hours (i.e., one week). These numbers were compared with those counted on agar plates that did not have any films added but that were spread with the same inoculum and incubated in the same box at the same conditions. The active films of 4 cm activated with thyme oil were also tested in petri dishes that were sealed with parafilm to limit the external dispersion of the essential oil and to evaluate its effect on the antibacterial activity observed. This particular case will be indicated with an asterisk (NAP4*_T-0.38) in the results and discussion part. All the tests were performed in duplicate.

Table 2.6. Nanocellulose-oil systems used for in vitro tests. The dimension of the films, the type of oils and their quantity and concentration are reported in the table. The experiment indicated as "Thyme*" represents the sample sealed with Parafilm.

Name	Diameter (cm)	Oil	Quantity (µL)	m,oil(mg)/m,film(mg)	V,oil (µL)/liter of air
NAP	9	No oil	0	0	0
NAP9_T-0.19	9	Thyme	25	0.19	393
NAP9_T-0.37	9	Thyme	50	0.37	786
NAP9_T-0.60	9	Thyme	80	0.60	1258
NAP9_T-0.75	9	Thyme	100	0.75	1572
NAP9_C-0.68	9	Cinnamon	80	0.68	1258
NAP9_C-0.85	9	Cinnamon	100	0.85	1572
NAP9_0-0.62	9	Oregano	80	0.62	1258
NAP4_T-0.19	4	Thyme	5	0.19	79
NAP4_T-0.38	4	Thyme	10	0.38	157
NAP4*_T-0.38	4	Thyme*	10	0.38	157
NAP4_T-0.57	4	Thyme	15	0.57	236
NAP4_C-0.65	4	Cinnamon	15	0.65	236

2.8 Real case application: raspberry case-study system

Raspberry fruit (*Rubus idaeus L.*) used for the real condition tests were purchased from a local producer (cultivar Eros) and immediately transported to the postharvest laboratory at the University of Algarve, where they were selected for the experiments. The media used for antimicrobial analyses on fruit were Plate Count Agar (PCA), Buffered Pepton Water (Oxoid) and Dichloran Rose Bengale purchased from Biokar diagnostics.

The set-up was prepared as for the tests directly on bacterial strains. In this case the active nanocellulose films (NFC1 of 9 cm of diameter) were attached directly on the inner upper surface of the raspberries packages (as shown in figure 4.4), that was commercial clamshell type PET boxes (125g) with 13.5x11x3 cm dimensions. So, the main difference from the previous tests was that, instead of having the films on an inoculated Petri, they were placed directly on the fruit package, containing the fruit from the cultivation.

Four replications were done for each oil used, plus a control with the pure nanocellulose membrane without the oil and another control without the nanocellulose film, for a total of 4

treatments plus the control. The oil was added on the inner surface of the lid of the packaging box (i.e., between the nanocellulose film and the package itself) using a micropipette. Then, the nanocellulose film was sealed with the use of hot glue, to avoid the oil to be dispersed from the sides (292)

The fruits were conserved in a separate box for each treatment, at 1°C. The measurements were performed every 6 days, until reaching 12 days of total storage. Two sets of experiments were performed to optimize the quantity of the oils and select the most effective treatment. In the first test the quantity of the oils was chosen based on the MIC resulting from the tests performed directly on bacterial strains. It was 0.68 mg/mg, 0.37 mg/mg and 0.62 mg/mg for cinnamon, thyme and oregano essential oils (mg of oil per mg of nanocellulose film), respectively (table 2.6). Also, a treatment with nanocellulose without any oil was tested to measure the effect of the biopolymer alone. In the second experiment, only thyme and oregano essential oils were used, and the mixture of them (38% and 62%, respectively). In the second experiment, only thyme and oregano essential oils were used, alone and in combination, with a higher concentration (5 times higher than MIC) in order to further test their potentiality and possible synergetic effects.

For both experiments, the control was considered as the fruit box without any film nor essential oil. Table 2.7 shows the quantity of oils used in the experiments (μ L) and the ratio between the mass of the oils used and the mass of the nanocellulose films. The ratio between the volume of the oil used and the headspace of the packaging is also reported in the table, as a reference for future application that may be applied to different fruit/packaging conditions.

Experiment	Essential oil	Treatment name	Quantity (µL)	m,oil (mg)/m,film(mg)	V,oil (µL)/liter of air
Test 1	No oil, nanocellulose film	NAP	0	0	0
	Cinnamon	NAP_C	80	0.68	359
	Thyme	NAP_T	50	0.37	224
	Oregano	NAP_O	80	0.62	359
Test 2	Thyme	NAP_T	250	1.87	1122
	Oregano	NAP_O	400	3.09	1796
	Thyme + Oregano	NAP_TO	325	2.48	1459

Table 2.7. Essential oils and their quantity used for the two experiments.

2.8.1 General quality parameters

The general quality parameters were measured on 10 fruits per each box/replication. The colour of the raspberries was measured using a Minolta Chroma meter CR-300 (EC Minolta, Japan) using the CIELab scale (L*, a* and b*). The L* represents colour lightness (0 = black and 100 = white). Hue (h°) was calculated as h° = arctan (b*/a*), while Chroma (C*) was calculated as C* = $\sqrt{a^{*2} + b^{*2}}$ and indicated the degree of departure from gray toward pure chromatic color34.

The firmness is another very important parameter to define the quality attributes of the fruits. The tissue softening affects not only the visual aspect, but also it reduces the shelf-life of the fruits. The firmness of the fruit was determined by compression with a Chatillon TCD200 and a Digital Force Gauge DFIS 50 (Jonh Chatillon & Sons, Inc., USA) fitted with a cylindrical plate pressing on the fruit at a maximum depth of 10 mm. For the determination of the total soluble solids content (SSC) the °Brix was measured by a digital refractometer HI 96801 (Hanna instruments), in the fruit juice. Weight loss was expressed as percentage of the initial weight (299).

2.8.2 Evaluation of the antimicrobial activity of the nanocellulose films applied to a real setting

Microbial counts were determined for each treatment starting from the fruit obtained from the cultivar (no inoculum had been applied in this phase). The microbiological parameters that were considered, included counts of aerobic mesophilic and psychrophilic bacteria and molds and yeasts and were determined according to Guerriro et al. (300), using the Plate Count Agar medium for bacteria and Dicloran Rose-Bengal Cloranfenicol Agar for the others. Ten gram of each sample was transferred to 90 mL of peptone water and homogenized. Decimal dilutions were prepared using the same diluent. The incubation temperature for yeasts and molds was 25 ± 1 °C during 48-72 h, for aerobic mesophilic bacteria was 37 ± 1 °C during 24–72 h and was 6.5 ± 1 °C during 5 to 10 days for psychrophilic bacteria. Experiments were done in duplicate. Results were expressed as Log₁₀ CFU (Colony Forming Unit) per gram of fresh weight.

2.8.3 Total phenolic content

Phenolic compounds are phytochemicals present in fruits and vegetables where they have nutritional and sensory role (301). Total phenolic content was determined according to the Folin–Ciocalteu colorimetric modified for microplates (302). Raspberry juice was obtained after squeezing raspberries with an UltraTurrax T 18 (IKA, Germany) for 2 min, then centrifuge for 5

min at 5000 rpm. The sample (20 μ L raspberry juice) and 80 μ L of sodium carbonate (75 g L⁻¹) were added to 100 μ L of 10% (w/v) Folin–Ciocalteu reagent. After 30 min of reaction at room temperature, the absorbance was measured at 765 nm (Tecan Infinite M200, Swiss). Gallic acid was used as standard for calibration curve (303).

2.8.4 DPPH (2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl) radical scavenging activity

Capacity for scavenging DPPH free radicals was evaluated by mixing 1850 μ L of ethanolic solution of DPPH 25 μ M to 150 μ L of raspberry juice at different concentrations. After 30 minutes of incubation at room temperature, the absorbance of samples was read at 515 nm. Analyses were run in triplicate. The DPPH radical scavenging activity was expressed as: [(A0 - A1 /A0) ×100], in which A0 is the absorbance of the control reaction (without sample), and A1 is the absorbance of the sample. The values were compared with the curve for several Trolox (6-hydroxy-2,5,7,8-tetramethylchroman-2-carboxylic acid) concentrations and expressed as μ M Trolox equivalent antioxidant capacity.

2.8.5 Anthocyanins

The total anthocyanins content was measured using a modified pH differential method (304). Absorbance of anthocyanins at 520 nm and 700 nm in different pH buffers (pH 1.0 and 4.5) was measured, respectively. Absorbance readings were converted to total mg of cyanidin 3-glucoside per 100 g fresh weight of fruit sample (299) using the molar extinction coefficient of 26,900 and the absorbance read at different wavelengths, defined by A (305).

Anthocyanin pigment concentration was, therefore, expressed as Cyanidin-3-glucoside equivalents, as follows:

$$\frac{A \times MW \times DF \times 10^3}{\varepsilon \times l}$$

In which:

$$A = (A_{520nm} - A_{700nm})_{pH1.0} - (A_{520nm} - A_{700nm})_{pH.5}$$

MW = 449.2 g/mol = value of the molecular weight of Cyanidin-3-glucoside

DF = dilution factor

 ϵ = 26,900 molar extinction coefficient for Cyanidin-3-glucoside, in L × mol⁻¹ × cm⁻¹

 10^3 = factor for conversion from g to mg

I = path length in cm.

2.8.6 Sensory evaluation

A taste panel was performed with 15 trained panelists, after 6 days storage for test 1. The same test was performed by 21 panelist after 12 days of storage for test 2. Panel members were asked to evaluate the appearance, aroma, texture, sweetness, acidity and flavour on the base of a 7-point hedonic scale: 1 - dislike very much; 2 - dislike; 3 - dislike slightly; 4 - either like nor dislike; 5 - like slightly; 6 - like; 7 - like very much. Overall liking was calculated as a mean of the sensory parameters evaluated.

2.8.7 Statistical analysis

The experimental design was a complete randomized block design. Statistical analysis was performed using the SPSS 24.0 software (IBM, Inc., Armonk, N.Y., USA). Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was done using treatments and storage time as factors. ANOVA is one of the most widely used statistical method for hypothesis testing currently in use in which data sets are compared and measured to determine their significance (306) Duncan's multiple-range tests (p < 0.05) for means comparison were done. This procedure is based on the comparison of the range of a subset of the sample means with a calculated least significant range. This least significant range increases with the number of sample means in the subset. If the range of the subset exceeds the least significant range, then the population means can be considered significantly different (307). In our case, the significant range was set at a value of p=0.05.

3. Results and Discussion of Transport properties

3.1 Film characterization

Pure NFC films

As can be observed in figure 3.1 (NFC1), the films obtained by casting are uniform and opaque, with a whiteish colour. They have a thickness in the range of $30 - 50 \mu m$ and are all very similar, making it impossible to distinguish the different type of nanocellulose by simple observation. They all appear brittle during the handling, especially after the vacuum step which substantially reduced the amount of water within the samples.

Figure 3.2 shows the IR analysis comparison of the different nanocellulose types. NFC1 refers to pure nanocellulose, while NFC2 and NFC3 refer to different carboxymethylation degrees, 780 µeq/mol and 1600 µeq/mol, respectively. The spectra are rather similar but with clear variations in the peaks, which can be related to the variation of the chemical structure going from the pure nanocellulose to the carboxymethylated one. For example, the broad absorption band at 3333 cm⁻¹, attributed to the stretching frequency of the –OH group, is more evident in the NFC1 and tends to decrease increasing the carboxymethylation degree, though it is not completely disappearing because it is overlapping with the broad absorption band at 3307 cm⁻¹, due to the stretching frequency of the –COO– group (308). The small peak detected around 1726 cm⁻¹, on the other hand, corresponds to the C=O stretching frequency of carboxylic acid groups and results to increase going from NFC1 to NFC3 (33). Same behaviour was found for the bands around 1425 cm⁻¹, due to C–O asymmetric bridge stretching, seems shifted to lower wavenumber with the increase of the surface charge in the sample. Also, the band at 862 cm⁻¹, appearing for the carboxymethylated nanocellulose, is related to C–O-C stretching (309).



Figure 3.1. Nanocellulose solution (NFC1) in water (a) and nanocellulose casted film (b)



Figure 3.2. FT-IR analysis of the three different types of nanocellulose. NFC1 refers to pure nanocellulose, while NFC 2 and NFC3 refer to different carboxymethylation degrees, 780 µeq/mol and 1600 µeq/mol, respectively.

Pure PLA films

The figure 3.3 shows the results from the casting of pure PLA membranes. The films appeared as homogeneous and completely transparent. As it is possible to observe, it was not possible to distinguish the two types of PLA only from direct observation of the samples.



Figure 3.3. PLA films obtained from solvent casting of (a) PLA1 and (b) PLA2.

NFC-PLA films

From the casting of NFC-PLA membranes it resulted that the NFC in water solution was impossible to use to create homogeneous membranes, due to PLA insolubility in water. In fact, even if the PLA was firstly dissolved separately and the final solution with NFC was homogenized, then during the casting the two phases separated and the membrane resulted having holes, as shown in figure 3.4a, which shows PLA4060 dissolved in acetone + NFC in water suspension. Instead, figure 3.4b and c show PLA incorporated with NFC in acetone solution. In particular, figure 3.4b reports PLA3100 incorporated with 20% wt. of NFC, while figure 3.4c is PLA4060 + 0.12% 2T of NFC. They both appear with a withish colour and more brittle than pure PLA by handling.



Figure 3.4. Different NFC-PLA films from solvent casting. (a) PLA4060 + 1% wt. NFC in water; (b) PLA3100 + 20% wt. NFC in acetone; (c) PLA4060 + 0.12% wt. NFC in acetone.

The figure 3.5 shows some of the results from the NFC – PLA membranes pairing by using the hydraulic press. In particular, figure 3.5a shows the appearance of the best solution, which was the pairing between Polybio and NFC, pressed for 15 minutes at 100°C and 209 bar. Instead, figure 3.5b shows a case in which the NFC resulted to be partially degraded by the high temperature and appeared to be with a yellowish colour. The last photo represents a different configuration: the NFC membrane was pressed inside two PLA membranes. This case was studied since the PLA, being a thermoplastic polymer, was more easily melting and attaching to itself rather than NFC films. The idea was to have pocket with high mechanical resistance and formed at lower temperature with respect to NFC-PLA films. Indeed PLA, being a thermoplastic polymer, can be easily melted and readily attached to itself rather than NFC films.

In general, the NFC membranes demonstrated to effectively attach to the PLA ones, by mean of the high temperature and pressure. They also remained attached after a long period of time (more than 6 months) in which the films were stored in a plastic bag in the laboratory. However, this procedure was not further investigated during the present study, since the temperature needed for the operation was that high to degrade the essential oils components, thus inactivating their antimicrobial and antioxidant properties. In addition to that, the essential oils showed to dissolve the PLA, making it impossible to include them between the NFC and the PLA films even working at low temperature as in the case of the PLA/NFC/PLA films.



Figure 3.5. (a)Polybio+NFC, 100°C,15',209 bar; (b) PLA3100+NFC, 140°C,15',209 bar; (c) Polybio+NFC+Polybio, 140°C, 15', 209 bar.

The coupling of NFC, PLA and essential oils, in view of the application in active packaging solutions was therefore more complex than expected and could not be completed it the present study. Some solutions to the encountered problems could be found: for example by testing a specific hydraulic press system which only operates in a specific area. In that case, it would be possible to apply the pressure and the high temperature only in the circular area needed in order to pair the NFC with the PLA, but not in the middle, where the essential oil eventually would be. Furthermore, it would be possible to test solutions in which the NFC and PLA films are paired before the essential oils is applied, like in the case of the figure 3.5. Then it could be sprayed onto the NFC surface, avoiding its contact with the PLA film. Moreover, the solution illustrated in figure 3.5c could be further developed by variating the thickness of the PLA film only from the side in which the oil permeation has to be avoided. Unfortunately, as said above, due to time constraint, this kind of analysis could not be completed as only pure NFC films could be tested also for antimicrobial activity. Therefore, the optimization of this systems is left to future investigation.

3.2 Absorption and desorption measurements

The tests on essential oils absorption into pure PLA membranes showed that the oils could readily solubilize the biopolymer. After the addition of the oils, the PLA films lost their dimensional stability and could not be extracted in order to complete the weight procedure. Then, few hours from the beginning of the experiments, they completely dissolved into the oils. For this reason, PLA was excluded for applications in direct contact with the oils and no analysis of sorption and diffusion were completed in this material nor on the nanocellulose/PLA composites.

Considering therefore cellulose films, the comparison between the absorbed and the desorbed mass by different NFC types when immersed in the liquid essential oils is shown in figure 3.3, as calculated from equations (2) and (3). In particular, equilibrium data at the end of the sorption are compared with data obtained by weighting each sample after the desorption of the essential oil in the QSM and after an additional vacuum treatment was applied in the attempt to remove all the remaining oils. All the tests were repeated at least two times and the values reported are obtained by averaging the different results.

It is possible to observe very different behaviours for the various oils and nanocellulose types, in view of the amount of oil absorbed and of the difference between data obtained from sorption and desorption. Indeed, thyme and oregano results are substantially stable, and the mass values obtained in the two tests are rather similar, within the uncertainty of the measurements. For cinnamon, on the other hand, a rather different behaviour is observed, with the desorbed mass substantially lower than the absorbed one in the case of NFC1, but definitely higher in NFC2 and NFC3, which actually showed final value of mass uptake very close to 0. The observed behaviour is likely due to a difficulty in completely remove the cinnamon from the pure nanocellulose at the end of the first experiment, and to a non-negligible solubilization of the carboxymethylated NFC during the sorption tests in the second and third, as it will be better discussed in the following section. For this reason, in the current analysis, only the desorption values observed for cinnamon will be considered for NFC2 and NFC3 as a measure of the total mass uptake in the sample. While for NFC1 the final value at the end of the sorption will be considered as the more consistent result.

In view of the previous consideration, by analysing the solubility of the oils in the different nanocellulose matrixes, it can be seen from figure 3.6 that solubility of thyme and oregano in nanocellulose has a clear dependence on the carboxymethylation degree. Indeed, the absorbed mass monotonously increases for both oils going from NFC1 to NFC3. In particular, then, thyme shows a higher solubility, ranging from 5 to 20%. While oregano, that has solubility similar to

thyme in NFC1, results less affected by surface charge, reaching a value of only 10% for NFC3. Cinnamon behaviour is instead substantially different, with values of solubility in the three samples in the range of 15-20%, therefore rather similar to each other considering the uncertainty of the measurements.



Figure 3.6. Comparison between the absorbed and desorbed mass, considering the mass lost during the experiment set up. The data are presented for the three different oils and the three different nanocellulose types, as indicated in the legend.

In order to better explain the behaviour of the different samples and, more in particular, the cinnamon results, the mass sorption as a function of the time for, respectively, cinnamon, thyme and oregano essential oils in NFC2 (endowed with a surface charge of 780 µequiv/g) is reported in figure 3.7. The scattering of the data is rather high, in line with the difficulties of the measuring technique. However, the behaviour of the three oils in the NFC matrix is rather similar for short time, with a fast sorption up to a peak which, in case of thyme and cinnamon, is then followed by a slight decrease of the sorbed mass with time. While for thyme this desorption is rather limited, in time and mass loss, for cinnamon it continues also for long times, substantially reducing the sorbed mass at the end of experiments to values often very close to 0. This effect is likely due to a partial dissolution of the matrix, as also confirmed by the final mass of the sample measured after completing the desorption tests. Indeed, while for oregano and thyme differences in the order

of 2-3% were measured, well inside the experimental uncertainty, for cinnamon in NFC2 and in NFC3 reductions in the order of 13-16% were obtained, for all samples inspected.



b

Time (s^0.5)



Figure 3.7. Cinnamon (a), Thyme (b) and Oregano (c) essential oil absorption in NFC2.

To better understand the results, the FTIR spectra of the different samples was repeated at the end of the sorption tests and after the final vacuum treatment following the desorption tests to enlighten possible changes in the film chemical structure. Figure 3.8a compares the NFC2 prior and after being in contact with Cinnamon essential oil. Compared to the pure NFC spectrum (light blue line), the NFC immersed in the oil (orange line) also contains the small but clear characteristic peaks of the cinnamon essential oil (blue line). Absorption peaks are indeed observed around 1512 cm⁻¹ and 1265 cm⁻¹, which can be related, respectively, to the nitrogen compounds and the aromatic amine present in the oil (310,311)(305). Interestingly, however, other modifications are visible, which remain also after the vacuum is applied (vellow line in figure 3.8a). The peak near 839 cm⁻¹ present in pure nanocellulose is indeed missing in the other spectra, as well as the ones around 1700 cm⁻¹, which seem to disappear upon cinnamon addition or somewhat shift at 1514 cm⁻¹, where a new peak is formed. All these modifications confirm the existence of strong and non-reversible oil-matrix interactions. As an example, the peak at 900 cm⁻¹ is often associated with the β -glycosidic linkages between glucose units in cellulose, which stands for cellulose II crystals. Its disappearance after the contact with the oil strengthens the hypothesis of strong interaction between nanocellulose and cinnamon essential oil (312,313).

As a further confirmation, it is possible to observe figures 3.8b and c, which represent the IR spectra of NFC2 prior and after being in contact with thyme and oregano essential oils, respectively. In these cases, the NFC2 peaks remain substantially the same after the contact with the oil, even if with some differences, especially in the case of thyme, suggesting indeed the presence of some residue after the vacuum treatment. The spectra of the other types of

nanocellulose with the cinnamon, thyme and oregano essential oils can be observed in the Appendix, and show a very similar behaviour with respect to cinnamon, also for NFC3. Minor differences, instead, are observed for untreated nanocellulose NFC1 which, indeed, is the one that seems to better resist to solubilization. Being FTIR ATR a surface technique, sampling only few microns of the specimen thickness, it is not possible to use current data to estimate the possible loss of cellulosic materials during sorption. They, however, clearly indicate the strong interaction among cinnamon and carboxymethylated nanocellulose, which seems to cause more changes in the film chemical structure with respect to other oils.




Figure 3.8. FT-IR analysis of NFC2 prior and after being in contact with the cinnamon (a) thyme (b) and oregano (c) essential oils. The spectra of pure oils have also been reported for comparison.

3.3 Diffusivity analysis

The absorption and desorption data are also used to perform the diffusivity analysis. The kinetics of the different processes, indeed, allowed to calculate the values of the different diffusion coefficients related to the three types of nanocellulose films, impregnated in the three essential oils.

The diffusivity values were obtained from sorption curves by hypothesizing a Fickian diffusion in line with the experimental evidence. From figure 3.7, indeed, despite the data scattering and the complex behaviour related to sample solubilization, it is quite evident that initial mass uptake is substantially linear with square root of time as obtained from Eq. 5, which holds when Fick's law is obeyed. Therefore, by considering the initial data and the mentioned equation, the diffusivity was calculated, and the results are shown in Figure 3.9. The chart clearly shows that for cinnamon and oregano the diffusion coefficient increases with the carboxymethylation degree of the film, while it is somewhat non monotonous in the case of thyme. In fact, for cinnamon the value of diffusivity for the pure nanocellulose films is in the order of $3.7 \times 10^{-9} \ cm^2/s$, increasing to $1.1 \times 10^{-8} \ cm^2/s$ for the carboxymethylated nanocellulose at 780 µeq/mol, and up to $2.0 \times 10^{-8} \ cm^2/s$ in the carboxymethylated nanocellulose at 1600 µeq/mol. Similar behaviour is observed for oregano that, however, has generally lower diffusivity, ranging from $1.0 \times 10^{-9} \ cm^2/s$ which remains in any case more than three times higher than the one of untreated nanocellulose.

The surface modification, therefore, seems to speed up the diffusion process as if the higher surface charge is able to increase the spacing between fibres, thus facilitating the transport of the different oils across the films. This hypothesis was also considered to explain the behaviour of water diffusion into pure and surface modified nanocellulose films (32).

In general, then, cinnamon essential oil has the higher diffusion coefficient, followed by thyme and oregano. These effects can be associated with the interactions occurring between the essential oil and the nanocellulose and the ability of the former to relax the bonding within the cellulose chains. From this point of view, the high diffusivity of cinnamon can be easily related to its ability to cause major changes in the nanocellulose matrix up to a point where part of the chains results solubilized in the oil. Thyme, on the other hand, showed a solubility which is clearly higher than the oregano one in all the samples inspected. So, the higher diffusivity can be directly related to the higher swelling of the nanocellulose matrix. It is well known, indeed, that in dry conditions nanocellulose is a quite barrier material and relaxation of the interfibrillar bonding is needed to allow different vapor and gases to penetrate its structure (314).



Figure 3.9. Diffusion coefficient estimated from absorption in liquid phase for Cinnamon (green), Thyme (blue) and Oregano (orange) essential oils in different nanocellulose matrices.

As made for the absorption, the kinetics of the desorption process was studied by considering the behaviour of the mass change as a function of time.

An example of the data obtained in this experiment is reported in figures 3.10a and b which show, respectively, the thyme desorption from NFC1 and oregano desorption from NFC2. In the plots, the vertical axis which reports the normalized mass uptake, refers to equation 9:

normalized mass uptake =
$$\frac{m_t - m_0}{m_{inf} - m_0}$$
 (9)

Data fitting was carried on with the different kinetic models previously described and it results that while DFS more suited to describe thyme desorption, PEK results more adequate for catching the oregano behaviour.

In both cases, the data suggest that two different stages exist: a first one where the oils desorb at a high rate from the swollen matrix, followed by a second stage where, likely due to the lower amount of oil, the packing density of the fibres increases, and the desorption become more difficult.

The type of kinetics that better describes the data is not common to all the systems, making it difficult to draw general trends. An overview of the fitting results is given by table 3.1, while charts of the data fitting for all the systems inspected are reported in the Appendix.





Figure 3.10. Desorption kinetics of Essential oils from Nanocellulose films: (a) thyme desorption from NFC1 (b) oregano desorption from NFC2.

By analysing the data from tables, it is interesting to notice that both φ and β parameters are generally spanning in the range of 0.3-0.7, confirming that two process are generally needed for the correct interpretation of the desorption behaviour. The only exception in this concern is represented by in thyme-NFC3 desorption data, that can be described very well using a single diffusion coefficient. In fact, D₁ and D₂ obtained from fitting of DSF model are substantially equivalent so that this curve tends to collapse to the results of the single Fickian processes. For all the other systems, instead, φ and β values are well correlated as systems of high φ show high β and vice versa. In particular, among the different oils, oregano is the one with lower φ (and β), while cinnamon and thyme show very similar values. Oregano, therefore, is the oil for which the fast desorption has a higher importance with respect to the slow one. Interestingly it is also the oil for which PEK usually shows a better fit of the experimental data, as it can be seen from the last two columns of table 3.1, which reported the global and short time average relative error defined by Eq. 10:

$$err\mathscr{M}_{average} = \sum_{n=1..N} \left[\left(\frac{|m_{model} - m_{\exp data}|}{m_{exp data}} \right)_n \frac{1}{n} \right]$$
(10)

Where N represents, respectively, the total number of data points for the total error, and the short time data points for short time errors. Short time indicates the time interval needed for the desorbed mass to reach the amount assigned by the given model (PEK or DSF) to the fast process (proportional to $1-\varphi$ and $1-\beta$, respectively).

This latter error was introduced as the total errors are usually dominated by long time data and could not properly describe the initial stage of the desorption, where the main differences between the two models are encountered.

From the tables it can be seen, indeed, that the obtained total errors are generally low and comparable for the two models, since long time data are generally described fairly well by both PEK and DFS approach. Short time errors, on the other hand, show well defined differences reflecting the Fickian (as in Fig. 3.10a) rather than the exponential kinetics of the data (clearly visible from Fig. 3.10b).

Therefore, oregano short time data, as said above, are in general well described by an exponential behaviour, since the short time errors for PEK never exceed 30% against those observed for DFS which are spanning between 38 and 55%. For the other oils, however, the situation is less clear; both cinnamon and thyme data, indeed, are mainly Fickian, even if short time exponential behaviour was dominant in some of the films considered, namely NFC2 for thyme and NFC1 for cinnamon.

PEK model data												
Sample	τ1	τ2	фРЕК	% Relative error (total)	% Relative error (short time)							
NFC1_C	5.0×10^{5}	3.6×10^{3}	0.49	5%	11%							
NFC1_T	2.0×10^{5}	5.3 × 10 ³	0.52	10%	22%							
NFC1_O	4.0×10^{4}	1.2×10^{3}	0.22	2%	16%							
NFC2_C	6.0×10^{4}	1.7×10^{3}	0.60	3%	28%							
NFC2_T	3.8×10^{4}	1.4×10^{3}	0.55	3%	8%							
NFC2_O	1.7×10^{6}	5.6×10^{4}	0.33	3%	29%							
NFC3_C	2.6×10^{5}	1.6×10^{4}	0.50	4%	32%							

Table 3.1. PEK and DFS parameters for all the samples. The column MSE indicates the mean square error of the model compared to the experimental data.

NFC3_T	6.4×10^{4}	2.0×10^{3}	0.70	9%	18%									
NFC3_O	5.2×10^{4}	1.7×10^{3}	1%	7%										
DFS model data														
Sample	D1	D2	β	% Relative	% Relative error									
				error (total)	(short time)									
NFC1_C	3.85×10^{-11}	3.80×10^{-13}	0.68	5%	40%									
NFC1_T	2.50×10^{-11}	2.20×10^{-12}	0.67	6%	13%									
NFC1_O	1.10×10^{-9}	4.00×10^{-11}	0.30	2%	38%									
NFC2_C	1.00×10^{-9}	2.90×10^{-11}	0.73	2%	20%									
NFC2_T	6.60×10^{-11}	1.10×10^{-11}	0.67	3%	39%									
NFC2_O	1.17×10^{-11}	1.20×10^{-12}	0.57	4%	48%									
NFC3_C	2.50×10^{-10}	1.50×10^{-11}	0.70	3%	9%									
NFC3_T	9.94×10^{-12}	9.97×10^{-12}	0.23	7%	12%									
NFC3_O	4.22×10^{-10}	3.50×10^{-11}	0.33	4%	55%									

Despite the lack of general trends, the present data are well in line with other literature results as the complex transport behaviour in essential oils release is in general confirmed by several studies involving both polymers and fibres. Mishra et al. (2018), for example, studied the retention of lemongrass essential oil loaded on cellulose nanofibre-polyethylene glycol composite. The results suggested that Fickian diffusion makes the predominant contribution to release of major aroma compounds (315). Also, release studies conducted on ethylcellulose-encapsulated thyme essential oil showed a time-dependent Fickian diffusion (316). Instead, J. Ke et al. (2019) studied the diffusion kinetics of cinnamaldehyde from corn starch-based film into food simulant. The compound followed a Fickian behaviour with relevant differences between short and long times (317). Another interesting work was done by Montero et al. (2021) on polybutylene adipate-coterephthalate films added with nanocellulose and functionalized with cinnamon essential oil (311). Here, as well, a pseudo Fickian diffusion was observed, with a faster release at short times, maybe due to the non-adsorbed oil on the nanocellulose surface, which quickly migrates on the polymer surface thus causing a burst effect at the beginning of the experiment. In addition to such results, the diffusion kinetics in microfibrillated cellulose is known to strongly depend on film swelling. As an example, non Fickian sorption behaviour was observed in many different types of nanocellulose, when equilibrated with water vapor at high relative humidity (296,314,318). In fact, the water causes the swelling of the matrix, which leads to a relaxation of the chains of the polymer and a consequent change in the diffusion mechanism (319).

In this concern the strong interaction of the essential oils with the nanocellulosic matrix is also confirmed by desorption data analysis which also suggests, following Montero et al. (311), that the higher fraction of mass desorbed in short time in case of oregano can be related a lower ability of this oil to bind with (adsorb on) the cellulose matrix.

Another consideration could be made by comparing absorption and desorption kinetics. Even with the limitation of the fitting approach, it clearly results that the diffusion coefficients calculated during sorption from liquid phase are definitely higher (usually 1 order of magnitude) with respect to the D₁ values obtained for short time desorption rates. Therefore, the transport of the different oils in the nanocellulose seems to be dominated by the relaxation and swelling of the fibrous matrix, higher in the liquid rather than in the gas phase, while other sources of complexity play a secondary role, such as, for example, of the effects related to essential oils compositions. As already discussed, indeed, essential oils are composed by a wide variety of compounds, which strongly differ in both molecular weight and volatility (boiling point or vapor pressure) and that are expected to have different diffusion behaviour.

In this concern, a detailed study of the gas leaving the film would be very useful, in order to confirm the present considerations and, more in general, to have a better description of the overall system behaviour. Unfortunately, this analysis was not possible in the present experimental set up. The kinetics analysis, however, suggests that, in view of the foreseen application related to active packaging, the quantity of oils present in the matrix can guarantee an antimicrobial activity even at long times. Indeed, based on φ and β values and on the concentration, molecular weight and the vapor pressure of the essential oils' components, the most active compounds should be released in both desorption stages.

Results and Discussion of antimicrobial and shelf-life properties

4.1 Anti-bacterial properties of the activated nanocellulose films

Figure 4.1 displays representative agar plates that show the antibacterial activity results obtained after exposing certain numbers of *E. coli* and *S. aureus* cells (spread on solid agar cultures) to the nanocellulose films embedded with cinnamon essential oil. It is possible to observe the different colonies growth among the control (inoculated plate with only aluminum foil), the plate with pure nanocellulose (NAP) and the one with the cinnamon essential oil (NAP9_C-0.68). The antibacterial effect can be noticed by the reduction or absence of microbial growth on plates exposed to activated films, still visible in all samples but the control, where it was removed to better visualize the colonies in the picture. Also, it is possible to observe that pure nanocellulose did not have any antimicrobial activity itself, since the colonies were present all over the plate. Instead, the film containing the cinnamon essential oils clearly had an antimicrobial effect on *S. aureus*, since there were no visible colonies. Moreover, it was noticed that, even in the cases of insufficient antimicrobial activity, the films still had bacteriostatic activity on the strains tested. This means that the colonies appeared in the Petri dishes, but they did not grow during the week of the test.

Furthermore, when the microbial colonies (indicative of microbial growth) were present, they were mostly concentrated in the external area of the Petri dish, near the borders. This could be because, in this region, the vapor part of the essential oil came out from the Petri dish and had less effect on the system itself.

To confirm this hypothesis, a specific test was performed in which the inoculated agar plates were sealed with Parafilm to limit the essential oil diffusion towards external environment (indicated with an asterisk: NAP4*_T-0.38). As a result, when the Parafilm was used, the microbial growth was absent also on the plate border areas. Although the use of parafilm was useful to confirm that there is a diffusion effect of the essential oil at the level of the plates border which is relevant in terms of antimicrobial activity, this experimental setting could not be used further application because it does not represent real packaging conditions. Indeed, the real fruit packaging conditions are characterized by boxes which have parts open to the external environment to prevent problems related with fermentation processes.



Figure 4.1. Appearance of the Petri dishes after the test with (a) S. aureus and (b) E. coli. The figure reports the control, the pure nanocellulose without any oil (NAP) and the nanocellulose with cinnamon essential oil (NAP9_C-0.68).

The overall results of the experimental campaign are reported in figures 4.2 and 4.3, which show the antimicrobial activity of the different samples tested as variation of colonies count with respect to the control. In particular, figure 4.2 refers to nanocellulose films with 9 cm of diameter, while figure 4.3 refers to the samples of 4 cm of diameter. In both cases, in the control experiments, pure nanocellulose had no effect on the microbial growth.

Concerning the films with diameter of 9 cm, comparing the results obtained with films containing the same amount of essential oil, the system was always more effective against *S. aureus* rather than *E. coli*; even if all the oils showed very high effectiveness for both microbial strains making difficult to observe major differences in the colonies count. This difference indeed never exceeded 10% and was therefore not statistically relevant. Only in the case of NAP9_T-0.19 the system had a higher antimicrobial effect against *E. coli*, but still very similar to the case of *S. aureus*, with values of 98% and 97%, respectively.

Oregano essential oil seemed to have the better antimicrobial activity, since it was the only one that had 100% of effect against both pathogens with a quantity of 0.62 mg/mg. It was followed by thyme and, lastly, cinnamon, which had the lowest effect at this concentration. This could also be

because cinnamon showed to strongly interact with the nanocellulose matrix (as proved from FTIR and sorption analysis), which somewhat reduced the tendency of the film to release the antimicrobial components. Cinnamon, indeed, showed the lower diffusivity (D) and higher characteristic times (τ) at long times with respect to both thyme and oregano.

Regarding the membranes of 4 cm of diameter, it was possible to notice an increasing trend of the antimicrobial efficacy with the increase of the essential oil quantity. Although, in this case the difference in the antibacterial effect was more evident, showing for all the oils at all the concentrations stronger activity against *S. aureus*, and confirming what observed with the membranes of 9 cm. In the case of the Parafilm sealing of the Petri (NAP4*_T-0.38) a higher antimicrobial effect against both pathogens compared to the normal set up (NAP4_T-0.38) was observed, with a difference of 98% for *E. coli* and of 30% for *S. aureus*. Also, in this case the microbial growth was absent on the borders, differently from all the other Petri dishes which were not sealed (figure 4.1). Moreover, for the same quantity of 0.57 mg/mg, thyme essential oil was more effective than oregano against gram-negative bacteria. While the opposite was true in the case of the gram-positive one, in which the difference was even more evident.

As can be seen in table 2.3, the volume of oil (μ L) per liter of air in the packaging headspace is higher for the bigger samples than for the small one (to maintain the same ratio between the mass of the oil and the mass of the nanocellulose films). This resulted in the bigger films showing higher antimicrobial activity, in the range between 75% and 100% considering all the oils. While the smaller ones never showed an antimicrobial activity higher than 80% (the highest value of 76% was recorded for NAP4_T-0.57 against *S. aureus*). This behavior suggests once more that the volatilization of the oil and its dispersion to the external atmosphere due to the border effects is an important phenomenon to take into consideration while tuning the oils' concentration.

The lowest antibacterial effect (corresponding to 17% of bacterial growth inhibition) was observed with the small films containing thyme essential oil 0.19 mg/mg. This confirms the hypothesis that, due to the border effect, the dimension of the film itself is an important parameter to take into consideration when incorporating this kind of active system inside a real package. Bigger films seem to better support and enhance the antimicrobial properties of the essential oils. This is maybe since, even if the percentual load of oil in the film is the same, the absolute quantity of oil present in the system is higher in the case of bigger samples. And being bigger, the samples could probably release the oil for a longer period, resulting in higher antimicrobial efficacy. Also, regarding these results, it is possible to assume that the oil quantity per volume of headspace is more determinant for the antimicrobial effect than the oil quantity referred to the nanocellulose

film itself. In fact, since this system works thanks to the volatile part of the oils and border effects were observed, it is important to tune the quantity of oil in the film based on the headspace of the specific packaging used. For this reason, the membranes of 9 cm of diameter were used as reference for the MIC calculation and oregano essential oil was not tested in the small membranes. Also, since each type of packaging is different depending on the type of the fruit or, more in general, the food to preserve, in any case a specific evaluation of the system oil-film-packaging should be considered and tested to calculate the most efficient quantity of oil. In fact, tests directly on packed fruit were performed as well. The MIC concentration used in these tests was the minimum concentration of each essential oils which gave the higher antibacterial effect: 0.68 mg/mg for cinnamon, 0.37 mg/mg for thyme and 0.62 mg/mg for oregano (mg of oil/mg of nanocellulose membrane), respectively. Table 4.1 shows the antibacterial activity of all the membranes tested, which is a summary of the data that can also be visualized in figures 4.2 and 4.3.



Figure 4.2. Antimicrobial activity against E. coli (darkest color) and S. aureus (lighter color) expressed through CFU counting from the nanocellulose samples of 9 cm of diameter embedded with thyme (blue), cinnamon (orange), and oregano (green) essential oils.



Figure 4.3. Antimicrobial activity against E. coli (darkest color) and S. aureus (lighter color) expressed through CFU counting from the nanocellulose samples of 4 cm of diameter embedded with thyme (blue) and cinnamon (orange) essential oils.

	Antibacterial activity (%)									
Memorane name	E. coli	S. aureus								
	9 cm									
NAP (NFC PURE)	0	0								
NAP_T-0.19	98	97								
NAP_T-0.37	100	100								
NAP_T-0.60	91	100								
NAP_T-0.75	98	98								
NAP_C-0.68	84	92								
NAP_C-0.85	75	81								
NAP_O-0.62	100	100								
	4 cm									
NAP (NFC PURE)	0	0								
NAP_T-0.19	17	37								
NAP_T-0.38	26	45								
NAP_T*-0.38	51	59								
NAP_T-0.57	22	76								
NAP_C-0.65	19	27								

Table 4.1. Antibacterial activity of the membranes tested with the various essential oil at different concentrations.

4.2 Real condition application: raspberry case-study system

Figure 4.4 represents the active packaging systems during the test on packed raspberries. The nanocellulose films were attached to the inner side of the lid of the packaging, after being embedded with the selected quantity of essential oil. The image shows the appearance of the fruit after 12 days of storage with the treatment applied. It can be noticed that for all tests, the qualitative fruit appearance seemed comparable to normal fruit without treatment, while major differences were observed for others quality parameters as better detailed below.

An important factor to be considered was also the diffusion of the essential oils into the plastic constituting the packaging box used for the case-study system on raspberries (r-PET). Licciardello et al. (2013) studied the diffusion behaviour of some essential oils in plastic films obtaining a diffusion coefficient of the various oils' components in the range of $0.03-6.40 \times 10^{-11}$ cm²/s. Also, the diffusion resulted to depend on the initial concentration of the EO's components, their molecular weight and polarity (320). These values can be compared with the diffusion of the oil in the nanocellulose matrices studied (table 3.1). In the initial phases of the desorption, the diffusion of the oils resulted to be higher in the nanocellulose than in the plastic film. Also, considering the plastic film had a thickness of 0.5 mm, versus the approx. 50 µm of the nanocellulose film, it can be stated that there was no problem of oil leaking through the packaging. So, the quantity of oil lost because of the permeation in the plastic film was considered negligible compared to the one diffusing through the nanocellulose film and having the antimicrobial activity.



Figure 4.4. Raspberries active packaging systems with pure nanocellulose after 12 days of storage at 1°C.

4.2.1 General and nutritional quality parameters

General and nutritional quality parameters of the fruit in the packaging with films embedded with the different essential oils were analyzed. Both sets of experiments are presented and compared. In particular, as it will be explained more in detail in the results discussion, in the test 2 cinnamon essential oil was discarded due to the less effectiveness compared to thyme and oregano essential oil. Instead, thyme and oregano were used again but with a higher quantity than test 1. Also, their combination was tested to study their synergetic effect.

An important indicator of fruit freshness is weight loss. A weight loss up to 4-5% is considered to not significantly affect the fruit aspect and the acceptance by the consumers (321). Figure 4.5 shows the weight loss (%) of the fruit during storage at 1°C. After 12 days all the treatments presented a weight loss within 5%, with cinnamon treatment at the limit of acceptance. In particular, regarding the first test, from figure 6a it is possible to see that NAP and NAP_C had higher weight loss compared to the control. While NAP_T and NAP_O had the lowest weight loss, with 3.50% and 3.40%, respectively. Instead, in test 2 (figure 4.5b) NAP_O had higher weight loss compared to the control, while NAP_TO resulted the best treatment overall with weight loss below 3% (2.5%).

Furthermore, the color is the first indicator of the freshness of the fruit perceived by the consumer. For this reason, it is very important to make conclusions about the storage conditions of the fruit. The color parameters lightness (L*), Hue and Chroma for tests 1 and 2 are reported in figure 4.6. For test 1, the lightness had a significant decrease in the first 6 days, which was smaller for NAP_O and higher for NAP_C than control and NAP. Then it was maintained along the 12 days of treatment without significant difference among the treatments. The same trend was observed in test 1 for Hue and Chroma (figure 4.6b and 4.6c). Though after 12 days of storage for test 1, the NAP and the NAP_O treatments were significantly different from the NAP_C one. This could be explained by the fact that in the initial phase the quantity of oil released was higher because its concentration in the film was still high, while along the days its quantity decreased.

In test 2 the results were more scattered with respect to test 1 and the data for different oils followed different trends. Apart from NAP_TO, indeed, no clear sign of parameter stabilization after day 6 was observed. In general, lightness was better maintained by the control in the first 6 days, with a significant difference from the NAP_O and NAP_TO. After 12 days of storage, the control resulted significantly different from both the treatments NAP_O and NAP_TO. The same trend was observed for Hue angle (h°), with a statistical difference only between the control and the NAP_TO treatment, indicating an increase in redness, and ripening of the fruits. While for Chroma (C*) the values of all the treatments increased in the first 6 days and then decreased over the 12 days, without statistically significant differences.



Figure 4.5. Weight loss (%) of the fruit during storage for (a) test 1 and (b) test 2. Values with different lower case letter are significantly different over time by Duncan's multiple range test (P < 0.05). No statistical differences were present for the different treatments for each time (0, 6th and 12th days).



Figure 4.6. Color parameters of the fruit during the storage: lightness (a,d), Hue (b,e) and Chroma (c,f) for test 1 and 2, respectively. Values with different lower case letter are significantly different over time by Duncan's multiple range test (P < 0.05).

The table 4.2 reports other quality parameters analyzed during the experiments, such as the firmness and the soluble solids concentration (SSC). Also, it reports the total phenols content, the antioxidant activity calculated through the DPPH method and the anthocyanins concentration.

By a general statistical analysis for all the treatments, the soluble solid concentration (SSC) firstly increased (after 6 days) to then slightly decrease along the 12 days of the experiment 1. For experiment 2, on the other hand, it showed no significant differences. The results are in line with expectations, as raspberries are non climacteric fruit, which usually show only slight changes of SSC (54). More in detail, for test 1 the variations with respect to the initial time values are always lower than 4.8%, except for NAP and NAP_O, which, after 6 days, registered a statistically significant increase (+6.21% and +9.60%, respectively). After 12 days, the control had the highest SSC, while there was no difference between the other treatments. Regarding the second test, none of the treatments had significant variations along the time of the experiment. While comparing the treatments, after 12 days NAP_T had the highest value of 7.70 °Brix (7.69%)

increase from the beginning), which means this treatment was the one related with the faster maturation of the fruit.

The firmness of the packed fruit considerably decreased after 12 days of storage for all the treatments, until reaching the limit of sensibility of the measurement instrument. In this case, NAP_C was the one with the highest decrease, passing from 4.75 N to 0.95 N after 12 days, followed by NAP_O and NAP_T, respectively. The latter films, however, showed firmness values similar to the ones of the control and NAP while cinnamon resulted below. In the second experiment, the initial values of firmness were almost the double of the ones of the test 1, 8.77 N and 4.75 N, respectively. After 6 days, NAP_TO had the highest decrease passing to 4.64 N (-47%), while NAP_T and NAP_O decreased significantly with respect to the control, with a difference of 37% and 34%, respectively. At the end of the experiments all the treatments were significantly lower than the control, with NAP_O having the lowest value.

The fruit softening during the post-harvest period is related to the hydrolysis of starch to sugar and to the degradation of pectin contained in the fruit cell wall associated with the fruit ripening (322). The present results are similar to the ones obtained by Cefola et al. (2022) studying the raspberries' application of an antifungal active package based on green tea and rosemary ethanolic extracts, suggesting that essential oils tend to negatively affect this parameter (323).

The phenolic content was also monitored since it is an indicator of the degradation of the fruit in the post-harvest period (295)The total phenolic content in raspberries never had significant difference along the time of test 1 for all the treatments. At the end of the experiment, the control and NAP_T had the highest values, with 114.67 and 107.72 mg of gallic acid equivalent/100g of fresh weight, respectively. While NAP_O continued decreasing up to 79.09 mg of gallic acid equivalent/100g of fresh weight (table 4.2). Instead, for test 2 (table 4.3) the trend was different. The control increased the total phenolic content from 60.25 up to the maximum value of 160.50 72 mg of gallic acid equivalent/100g of fresh weight after 12 days. All the other treatments had an increase at 6 days, followed by a decrease at the end of the experiment, without statistically difference among them. The fact that the concentration of phenols did not change significantly in the experiments could be associated to the absence of reactive oxygen species which would lead to oxidative reactions (324). The same trend was observed by Rahmanzadeh et al. (2019) which applied lemon verbena essential oil on raspberries (325). It could be explained by the high essential oil concentration, which lead to the breakdown of cellular structure more easily. In fact,

in the test 2, with higher essential oils concentration, this decrease was more evident than in the test 1, where the essential oil quantities were only equal to the MIC.

The measurement of the antioxidant activity by DPPH method showed a decrease after 6 days for NAP_T and NAP_O in test 1, with 2020 μ M Trolox/g and 2088 μ M Trolox/g, respectively. At the end of the experiment the values of the various treatments did not have significant differences, with the lowest value of 2397 μ M Trolox/g from NAP_O. Also, for the test 2 no significant differences among the treatments were found during the storage of the fruits. In general, the values were higher than in the first experiments and after 12 days the lowest value was from NAP_TO with 4205 μ M Trolox/g. In both the experiments, the highest value of antioxidant activity after 12 days was registered in the control. The application of the essential oil helped in maintain the levels of antioxidants but did not improve the effectiveness over time. This could mean that the antioxidant capacity assayed may be due to the presence of high amounts of antioxidants, such as anthocyanins, flavonoids and phenolic acids, in raspberries (326).

The anthocyanins quantity measured in the test 1 started to be significantly different only after 12 days, with NAP having the highest value of 86 mg/ml, compared to the control (70 mg/ml). For all treatments, the anthocyanins content was increasing over time, maybe due to the biosynthesis of phenolic compounds after harvest related to the ripening of the fruits (324). Instead, in the second experiment, their values increased significantly in the first 6 days and then decreased again after 12 days (table 4.3). Also, in this case the highest value was observed in the control (44 mg/ml) and the lowest from NAP_O (34 mg/ml), but without statistical difference. These results are in line with those by Guerreiro et al. (2015) which analyzed raspberries coated with pectin and alginate based edible coating enriched with essential oils components citral and eugenol (54).

	Days	Control				NAP			NAP_C					P_T		NAP_O					
		Mean		SD		Mean		SD		Mean		SD		Mean		SD		Mean		SD	
SSC (°Brix)	0	8.85	±	0.13	aA	8.85	±	0.13	bA	8.85	±	0.13	abA	8.85	±	0.13	abA	8.85	±	0.13	bA
	6	9.18	±	0.17	aВ	9.40	±	0.16	aAB	9.28	±	0.42	aB	9.10	±	0.28	aВ	9.70	±	0.18	aA
	12	9.10	±	0.29	aA	8.70	±	0.14	bAB	8.98	±	0.39	abAB	8.48	±	0.55	bB	8.75	±	0.31	bAB
Firmness (N)	0	4.75	±	0.92	aA	4.75	±	0.92	aA	4.75	±	0.92	aA	4.75	±	0.92	aA	4.75	±	0.92	aA
	6	4.18	±	0.93	aA	3.22	±	1.20	bB	3.24	±	0.56	bB	3.76	±	0.79	bAB	3.02	±	0.20	bB
	12	1.61	±	0.25	bAB	1.88	±	0.33	cA	0.95	±	0.81	cВ	1.60	±	0.71	cAB	1.51	±	0.23	cAB
Total	0	92.42	±	18.68	abA	92.42	±	18.68	aA	92.42	±	18.68	aA	92.42	±	18.68	aA	92.42	±	18.68	aA
phenolic	6	97.73	±	15.32	abA	95.71	±	5.96	aA	81.59	±	8.89	aA	98.87	±	28.09	aA	87.26	±	6.53	aA
GAE/100g)	12	114.67	±	28.61	aA	100.00	±	9.24	aAB	96.54	±	12.23	aAB	107.72	±	9.87	aA	79.09	±	8.01	aB
	0	3074.72	±	122.91	aA	3074.72	±	122.91	aA	3074.72	±	122.91	aA	3074.72	±	122.91	aA	3074.72	±	122.91	aA
Trolox/a)	6	3255.65	±	212.99	aA	2884.69	±	280.36	abAB	2949.24	±	743.31	aABC	2020.00	±	148.68	bC	2088.20	±	440.28	bBC
	12	3024.71	±	1231.90	aA	2658.29	±	229.24	bA	2684.65	±	389.02	aA	2830.13	±	519.68	aA	2397.34	±	399.61	abA
Anthocyaning	0	47.12	±	9.04	bA	47.12	±	9.04	bA	47.12	±	9.04	cA	47.12	±	9.04	bA	47.12	±	9.04	bA
(ma/ml)	6	63.82	±	8.95	aA	79.10	±	13.45	aA	62.23	±	6.50	bA	81.16	±	17.07	aA	77.15	±	11.98	aA
,	12	70.05	±	9.88	aВ	85.89	±	1.49	aA	76.54	±	5.58	aAB	60.95	±	13.23	abB	61.90	±	5.05	abB

Table 4.2. Soluble solid content (SSC), firmness, total phenolic content, DPPH, and anthocyanins of raspberries treated with cinnamon (C), thyme (T) and oregano (O) essential oils during storage at 1°C. NAP indicates the presence of the nanocellulose film, without any oil.

Values in the same column followed by different lower case letter and in the same row followed by different upper case letter, for each parameter, are significantly different by Duncan's multiple range test (P < 0.05).

	Days		Со	ntrol		NAP_T					NA	P_O		NAP_TO				
		Mean		SD		Mean		SD		Mean		SD		Mean		SD		
SSC (°Brix)	0	7.15	±	0.59	аA	7.15	±	0.59	aA	7.15	±	0.59	аA	7.15	±	0.59	aA	
	6	6.95	±	0.37	aAB	7.68	±	0.29	aA	7.48	±	0.60	aAB	6.78	±	0.56	aB	
	12	7.58	±	0.13	aА	7.70	±	0.62	aA	6.98	±	0.33	аA	7.55	±	0.72	aA	
Firmness (N)	0	8.77	±	0.33	aA	8.77 ±		0.33	aA	8.77	±	0.33	aA	8.77	±	0.33	aA	
	6	7.07	±	0.38	bA	5.49 ±		1.00	bB	5.80	±	0.43	bB	4.64	±	0.71	bC	
	12	2.67	±	1.05	cA	2.20	±	0.49	cAB	2.06	±	1.33	cAB	1.32	±	0.38	cВ	
Total	0	60.25	±	7.41	bA	60.25	±	7.41	bA	60.25	±	7.41	cA	60.25	±	7.41	cA	
phenolic	6	59.32	±	19.95	bC	99.88	±	26.92	aВ	107.77	±	15.27	aВ	130.76	±	7.76	aA	
content (mg		400 -0		~~~~					. –									
GAE/100g)	12	160.50	<u>±</u>	69.97	aA	63.63	±	10.43	bB	84.02	<u>±</u>	2.64	bB	89.54	±	9.36	bB	
DPPH (µM	0	4743.87	±	36.02	abA	4743.87	±	36.02	aA	4743.87	±	36.02	aA	4743.87	±	36.02	aA	
Trolox/g)	6	4347.05	±	858.77	bA	5038.67	±	647.91	aA	5065.38	±	390.26	aA	4978.86	±	954.87	aA	
	12	4708.62	±	207.73	abA	4331.56	±	44.44	bA	4558.01	±	254.87	aA	4205.52	±	728.82	aA	
Anthocvanins	0	29.08	±	2.22	bA	29.08	±	2.22	bA	29.08	±	2.22	cA	29.08	±	2.22	cA	
(mg/ml)	6	26.25	±	6.20	bC	37.80	±	10.13	aВ	51.27	±	2.52	aA	49.62	±	1.80	aA	
	12	44.03	±	17.86	aA	36.82	±	3.03	abA	34.48	±	6.60	bA	35.90	±	2.73	bA	

Table 4.3. Soluble solid content (SSC), firmness, total phenolic content, DPPH, and anthocyanins of raspberries treated with thyme (T) and oregano (O) essential oils and their combination (TO) during storage at 1°C.

Values in the same column followed by different lower case letter and in the same row followed by different upper case letter, for each parameter, are significantly different by Duncan's multiple range test (P < 0.05).

4.2.2 Microbial evaluation

The microbial evaluation was fundamental to establish the antimicrobial activity of the activated films. In fact, they not only have to preserve the physical and chemical quality of the fruits, but also must ensure a good protection against food pathogens. Here, the prevention from post-harvest decay was carried out by the vapors from essential oils which were released by the nanocellulose films. Other studies confirmed the effectiveness of this application against Fungi growth (327).

Figure 4.7 shows the microbial analysis results for Fungi (a,c) and mesophilic bacteria (b,d) for test 1 and 2, respectively. The results from the psychrophilic bacteria are not represented since they always showed no colonies for all the experiments and all the treatments.

In the first experiment, the control treatment showed a Fungi's growth of about 2 log (CFU)/g of fresh weight already in the first 6 days, ending in the highest value of 5.8. Instead, other treatments had an increase in the first 6 days, and then decreased. NAP_O showed the lowest value, followed by NAP_T and NAP_C, respectively. Also, in the second experiment all the treatments showed better results than the control over the 12 days of storage, even if without statistical differences. They always decreased over time, with NAP_T and NAP_TO reaching a log (CFU)/g of 0 at the end of the experiment.

Regarding the mesophilic bacteria, instead, the log (CFU)/g was maintained like the one at time 0 by all the treatments in test 1. After 12 days, NAP_C had the highest growth, while NAP_O and NAP_T showed the best results. In the second experiment there was a slight decrease in the first 6 days, followed by an increase in the whole time of the test. Nevertheless, this increase was reaching a value of the log (CFU)/g which was still lower than the one reached at the end of the first test. The best results were showed by NAP_O and NAP_TO.

This different trend in the two experiments was probably due to the different quantity of oils present in the matrix. Being present more oils in the test 2, it was possible to preserve the antimicrobial activity longer in time, and with a stronger effect on the reduction of the colonies since the beginning of the application. In any case, the microbial evaluation never exceeded the accepted limit of 6 log (CFU)/g according to Bierhals et al. (2011) (328).



Figure 4.7. Microbial analysis of (a,c) fungi and (b,d) mesophilic bacteria on raspberries after 12 days of storage at 0.5° C, for test 1 and 2, respectively. Values with different lower case letter are significantly different over time by Duncan's multiple range test (P < 0.05).

4.2.3 Sensory evaluation

Antimicrobial properties of essential oils help in preserving the quality parameters and extend the shelf-life of packed food, but they could alter its sensory characteristics. For this reason, a sensory evaluation was also performed to test the consumer perception and acceptance of the proposed active packaging technology.

Figure 4.8 shows the results of the sensory evaluation performed with the panelist. The test was performed after 6 days of storage in the experiment 1 (figure 4.8a) and after 12 days of storage for experiment 2 (figure 4.8b), to see the differences of the consumer perception over various storage times.

In the first case, there were only slight differences between the treatments. In general, no significant alteration of the fruits was detected from the panel test: the general flavor and the fruit

appearance were similar for the different treatments. Most of the panelist slightly liked the texture of NAP_T and NAP_O. Nonetheless, NAP_T had the lowest sweetness, and this could be the reason it was perceived as less pleasant in the general taste.

Also, in the second test very limited differences were observed for the different oils. As it could be expected from the higher quantity of essential oils present, the general flavor was considered worse than in the first test, with the control being slightly more pleasant than other oils. The treatments with both thyme and oregano essential oils showed the best results in terms of fruit appearance, texture and acidity compared to those oils used alone.





Figure 4.8. Sensory evaluation for (a) test 1 and (b) test 2.

5. Conclusions

In the recent years a strong boost in the research on packaging materials has been given by the need to increase the sustainability of packaging while further reducing the food spoilage. This has brought to an exceedingly high attention on renewables materials, such as chitosan and cellulose, and the use of natural compounds, such as essential oils, to impart antimicrobial features to the package, thus increasing the fresh product shelf-life.

The literature review present in this work has focused on this application, trying to report the use of the materials mentioned, alone or in combination with other biopolymers (such as PLA, agar and alginate) to obtain a completely renewable active packaging solution. Solutions involving the use of essential oils were highlighted due to the high interest in such natural antimicrobial substances in food applications. In such analysis, it clearly results that there is a strong interest in the use of cellulose and chitosan based active packaging.

In general, the analysis of the activity of the packaging solution is made on specific pathogens through tests on bacterial strains and is often coupled with considerations about mechanical strength of the final composite. This kind of considerations are common to about 80% of the reviewed studies, while tests on transport properties, such as water vapor and oxygen permeability of the active materials, are slightly less common. Interestingly, about half of the studies also consider direct application to specific food for in situ testing of the shelf-life increase. The interest is directed to meat products and fruit/vegetable products, which are the type of food that can benefit the most from this active approach due to their high perishability. Few examples of other foods such as cheese and bakery products were found. In all these works the deterioration of the product is monitored through laboratory analyses, while only a small percentage of them also present a sensory evaluation of the packaged food. This kind of assessment, however, has significant importance for the development of the final product and should be treated with more attention.

In the current analysis, the most used essential oils resulted to be, in the order, Oregano, Cinnamon, Thyme and Rosemary. However, many other plant-derived compounds, also different from essential oils, were considered and resulted effective against a wide range of microorganisms. In fact, these natural compounds showed antimicrobial activity against the most known gram-positive bacteria (*S. aureus, B. subtilis, L, monocytogenes*), gram-negative bacteria (*E. coli*), and fungi (*S. cerevisiae, A. niger*).

In general, however, despite the extremely high number of works and the potential of most of the materials considered, it is difficult to draw general guidelines in the production of active packaging based on the combination of renewable materials and essential oils. Many of the available studies are, indeed, focused on a very specific application, to test the performance of certain essential oils, incorporated in each material, on the preservation of the quality of specific food. The use of a combination of essential oils in the same packaging, for example, is seldom considered, leading to ample space for further analysis and optimization of the currently tested solutions.

It can be noticed that, while most of the materials considered base their activity on the release of the active compounds, very few information is given about the release rate and kinetics, which are essential in order to design and adapt an active packaging solution for the desired shelf-life. These kinds of studies, together with a more structured analysis of the interaction between the essential oils and the different matrices, would be of great interest in the selection of the best approach and components to be used for a given application.

Furthermore, even if some applications already exist in the market, the field of active packaging has a lot of space for further research and optimization. From this literature screening the necessity of more structured investigations arises, together with the need to reach a complete comprehension of the multiple interactions existing in antimicrobial packaging, and on their effects on the final properties of the film and on the final shelf-life of the food.

Trying to face and solve these requests, this PhD project aimed at the development of an active packaging system based on nanocellulose and essential oils. The absorption and diffusion of cinnamon, thyme and oregano EOs in nanocellulose films with increasing carboxymethylation degree were investigated in view of active packaging application. Indeed, sorption from the liquid phase was followed by desorption in the gas phase trying to mimic the condition existing in fresh food packages. Moreover, the effect of essential oil incorporation into nanocellulose matrix for shelf-life extension of raspberries was determined as well both through tests on bacterial strains and tests on fresh packed fruit.

The results showed that the absorption and desorption of the oils in these matrices depend on the carboxymethylation degree and on the oil types. In particular, thyme essential oil showed the highest solubility with values of mass uptake close to 22%wt. for the nanocellulose with a surface charge of 1600 µeq/mol, against a value of only 10%wt in the case of oregano, which resulted the oil with lower solubility. Cinnamon also showed very high affinity with the nanocellulose, causing

a partial solubilization of the carboxymethylated films, which prevented a clear evaluation of the mass uptake. The kinetics of the sorption process resulted substantially Fickian, allowing the determination of diffusivity values in the order of $10^{-8} - 10^{-9}$ cm²/s. The trend was generally increasing with the carboxymethylation degree. Cinnamon essential oil had the higher diffusivity, followed by thyme and oregano, suggesting that affinity with the nanocellulose and the ability to swell its structure were the main factors affecting the kinetics of the sorption.

For the release in the gas phase two different kinetics were needed to satisfactorily describe the experimental data. In fact, the systems showed a fast release at short times followed by a slower process at long time likely related to the compaction of the fibrous matrix, which was initially swollen by the solved oil. Interestingly, while thyme and cinnamon data could be well described by considering a two separate Fickian process, oregano release was better fitted by considering a parallel exponential approach. Despite their difference, however, both approaches were consistent in determining the relative weight of the fast and slow kinetics.

Then, the optimum technical characteristics of the package and the MIC for each oil were determined through tests on *S. aureus* and *E. coli* bacterial strains. The thyme essential oil was the one having the lower MIC with a value of 0.37 mg/mg of matrix, reaching 100% of antimicrobial effect against Gram-positive *S. aureus* and Gram-negative E. coli. While the oregano reaches this antimicrobial effect with 0.62 mg/mg. When using the MIC quantity directly on raspberries, the oils succeeded in maintaining the general quality parameters of the fruits and to maintain the microbial growth under the accepted limit of 6 log(CFU)/g of fresh weight. Their effect on microbial growth was more evident after 12 days storage, especially for fungi. When increasing the oil concentrations and applying the two best oils (thyme and oregano) and their combination, the positive effect was enhanced, with no significant effect on sensorial appreciation.

This study confirms that the release of EOs from nanocellulose matrices can be controlled by adequately choose the type of nanocellulose. It also suggests that the analysis of mass transport of different active substances in the nanocellulose matrix can give interesting information and useful guidelines in the development of new active packaging solutions. In any case this system has been developed not to be used in direct contact with the food to be preserved, but to take advantage of the volatilized compounds from the essential oils embedded in the matrix. So, in this way, the same system could be implemented in different types of foods, such as fruit,

vegetables or meat products. From the results of this experiment, it is also possible to conclude that active packaging including the thyme and oregano essential oils with a concentration of 1.1 and 1.8 ml of oil/liter of air in the headspace of the package, respectively, is a promising technology to improve shelf-life of raspberries. Further study on different fruit or different type of packaging could be useful to confirm the hypothesis on the effective oil concentration related to the headspace volume.

Acknowledgments

The author acknowledges Prof. Marco Giacinti Baschetti for his supervision during the PhD program. Also, the author recognizes the support of Prof. Martina Cappelletti and Silvia Nici for the collaboration on the antimicrobial analysis of the films. Moreover, I would like to thank Prof. Maria Dulce Antunes, Adriana Guerreiro and Custodia Gago from the Post-harvest laboratory of the University of Algarve for welcoming me in their working environment and teaching me all the techniques about fruit quality parameters, microbial analysis and panel test I learned there. I also would like to recognize the help from the COST action 19124 CIRCUL-A-BILITY for funding my period abroad and giving me the opportunity to present my work during the conferences. A special thanks also goes to Virginia Signorini and all my colleagues, my friends and my family, that always supported me during these years and to the Bachelor and Master students that participated to this work.

Bibliography

- 1. Udo VE, Jansson PM. Bridging the gaps for global sustainable development: A quantitative analysis. J Environ Manage. 2009;90(12):3700–7.
- 2. Borsellino V, Schimmenti E, El Bilali H. Agri-food markets towards sustainable patterns. Sustainability (Switzerland). 2020;12(6):2193.
- 3. Bartolini F. Food Trade and Global Value Chain. Encyclopedia of Food Security and Sustainability. 2019;1:82–7.
- 4. De Oliveira ASB, De Melo NR. Market and sustainability of food packaging: A review. Boletim Centro de Pesquisa de Processamento de Alimentos. 2018;38(1).
- Zion Market. Food Packaging Market by Material (Paper & Board, Plastic, Glass, Metal, and Others), by Type (Rigid, Semi-Rigid, and Flexible), and by Application (Dairy Products, Bakery & Confectionery, Convenience Foods, Fruits & Vegetables, Meat, Fish, & Poultry, Sau. 2019.
- 6. Silvestre C, Duraccio D, Cimmino S. Food packaging based on polymer nanomaterials. Progress in Polymer Science (Oxford). 2011;36(12):1766–82.
- 7. Zhao X, Cornish K, Vodovotz Y. Narrowing the Gap for Bioplastic Use in Food Packaging: An Update. Environ Sci Technol. 2020;54(8):4712–32.
- 8. Agarwal S. Biodegradable Polymers: Present Opportunities and Challenges in Providing a Microplastic-Free Environment. Macromol Chem Phys. 2020 Mar 26;221(6):2000017.
- 9. Rhim JW, Ng PKW. Natural biopolymer-based nanocomposite films for packaging applications. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2007;47(4):411–33.
- 10. Wyrwa J, Barska A. Innovations in the food packaging market: active packaging. European Food Research and Technology. 2017;243:1681–92.
- 11. Idumah Cl, Hassan A, Ihuoma DE. Recently emerging trends in polymer nanocomposites packaging materials. Polymer-Plastics Technology and Materials. 2019;58(10):1054–109.
- Almasi H, Jahanbakhsh Oskouie M, Saleh A. A review on techniques utilized for design of controlled release food active packaging. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition. 2020. p. 1–21.
- Soltani Firouz M, Mohi-Alden K, Omid M. A critical review on intelligent and active packaging in the food industry: Research and development. Food Research International. 2021 Mar 1;141:110113.
- 14. Yildirim S, Röcker B, Pettersen MK, Nilsen-Nygaard J, Ayhan Z, Rutkaite R, et al. Active Packaging Applications for Food. Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf. 2018;17(1):165–99.
- 15. Yousefi H, Su HM, Imani SM, Alkhaldi K, Filipe CD, Didar TF. Intelligent Food Packaging: A Review of Smart Sensing Technologies for Monitoring Food Quality. ACS Sens. 2019;4(4):808–21.

- Wróblewska-Krepsztul J, Rydzkowski T, Borowski G, Szczypiński M, Klepka T, Thakur VK. Recent progress in biodegradable polymers and nanocomposite-based packaging materials for sustainable environment. International Journal of Polymer Analysis and Characterization [Internet]. 2018 May 19 [cited 2021 Apr 9];23(4):383–95. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/1023666X.2018.1455382
- 17. Wikström F, Verghese K, Auras R, Olsson A, Williams H, Wever R, et al. Packaging Strategies That Save Food: A Research Agenda for 2030. J Ind Ecol. 2019 Jun 21;23(3):532–40.
- 18. Youssef AM, El-Sayed SM. Bionanocomposites materials for food packaging applications: Concepts and future outlook. Carbohydr Polym. 2018;193:19–27.
- 19. Bras J, Saini S. Nanocellulose in functional packaging. In: Cellulose-Reinforced Nanofibre Composites: Production, Properties and Applications. 2017. p. 175–213.
- 20. Li F, Mascheroni E, Piergiovanni L. The potential of nanocellulose in the packaging field: A review. Packaging Technology and Science. 2015;28(6):475–508.
- 21. Khan A, Huq T, Khan RA, Riedl B, Lacroix M. Nanocellulose-Based Composites and Bioactive Agents for Food Packaging. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2014;54(2):163–74.
- 22. Ferrer A, Pal L, Hubbe M. Nanocellulose in packaging: Advances in barrier layer technologies. Ind Crops Prod. 2017;95:574–82.
- 23. Klemm D, Cranston ED, Fischer D, Gama M, Kedzior SA, Kralisch D, et al. Nanocellulose as a natural source for groundbreaking applications in materials science: Today's state. Materials Today. 2018;21(7):720–48.
- 24. García A, Gandini A, Labidi J, Belgacem N, Bras J. Industrial and crop wastes: A new source for nanocellulose biorefinery. Ind Crops Prod. 2016;93:26–38.
- 25. Abdul Khalil HPS, Davoudpour Y, Islam MN, Mustapha A, Sudesh K, Dungani R, et al. Production and modification of nanofibrillated cellulose using various mechanical processes: A review. Carbohydr Polym. 2014;99:649–65.
- 26. Qing Y, Sabo R, Zhu JY, Agarwal U, Cai Z, Wu Y. A comparative study of cellulose nanofibrils disintegrated via multiple processing approaches. Carbohydr Polym. 2013;97(1):226–34.
- Deepa B, Abraham E, Cordeiro N, Mozetic M, Mathew AP, Oksman K, et al. Utilization of various lignocellulosic biomass for the production of nanocellulose: a comparative study. Cellulose. 2015;22:1075–90.
- 28. Rol F, Belgacem MN, Gandini A, Bras J. Recent advances in surface-modified cellulose nanofibrils. Prog Polym Sci. 2019;88:241–64.
- 29. Habibi Y. Key advances in the chemical modification of nanocelluloses. Chem Soc Rev. 2014;43:1519–42.
- 30. Missoum K, Belgacem MN, Bras J. Nanofibrillated cellulose surface modification: A review. Materials. 2013;6(5):1745–66.

- 31. Vilarinho F, Sanches Silva A, Vaz MF, Farinha JP. Nanocellulose in green food packaging. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2018;58(9):1526–37.
- 32. Ansaloni L, Salas-Gay J, Ligi S, Baschetti MG. Nanocellulose-based membranes for CO2 capture. J Memb Sci. 2017;522:216–25.
- Chi K, Catchmark JM. Improved eco-friendly barrier materials based on crystalline nanocellulose/chitosan/carboxymethyl cellulose polyelectrolyte complexes. Food Hydrocoll. 2018 Jul 1;80:195–205.
- 34. Khaledian Y, Pajohi-Alamoti M, Bazargani-Gilani B. Development of cellulose nanofibers coating incorporated with ginger essential oil and citric acid to extend the shelf life of ready-to-cook barbecue chicken. J Food Process Preserv. 2019;43(10).
- 35. Ahankari SS, Subhedar AR, Bhadauria SS, Dufresne A. Nanocellulose in food packaging: A review. Vol. 255, Carbohydrate Polymers. Elsevier Ltd; 2021. p. 117479.
- 36. Azeredo HMC, Rosa MF, Mattoso LHC. Nanocellulose in bio-based food packaging applications. Ind Crops Prod. 2017;97:664–71.
- 37. Othman SH. Bio-nanocomposite Materials for Food Packaging Applications: Types of Biopolymer and Nano-sized Filler. Agriculture and Agricultural Science Procedia. 2014;2:296–303.
- 38. Falleh H, ben Jemaa M, Saada M, Ksouri R. Essential oils: A promising eco-friendly food preservative. Food Chem. 2020 Nov 15;330:127268.
- 39. Khan A, Huq T, Khan RA, Riedl B, Lacroix M. Nanocellulose-Based Composites and Bioactive Agents for Food Packaging. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2014;54(2):163–74.
- 40. Ju J, Chen X, Xie Y, Yu H, Guo Y, Cheng Y, et al. Application of essential oil as a sustained release preparation in food packaging. Trends Food Sci Technol. 2019;92:22–32.
- 41. Atarés L, Chiralt A. Essential oils as additives in biodegradable films and coatings for active food packaging. Trends Food Sci Technol. 2016;48:51–62.
- 42. Burt S. Essential oils: Their antibacterial properties and potential applications in foods A review. Int J Food Microbiol. 2004;94(3):223–53.
- 43. Hammer KA, Carson CF, Riley T V. Antimicrobial activity of essential oils and other plant extracts. J Appl Microbiol. 1999;86(6):985–90.
- 44. Atarés L, Chiralt A. Essential oils as additives in biodegradable films and coatings for active food packaging. Trends Food Sci Technol. 2016;48:51–62.
- 45. Ribeiro-Santos R, Andrade M, de Melo NR, dos Santos FR, Neves I de A, de Carvalho MG, et al. Biological activities and major components determination in essential oils intended for a biodegradable food packaging. Ind Crops Prod. 2017;97:201–10.
- 46. Hammer KA, Carson CF, Riley T V. Antimicrobial activity of essential oils and other plant extracts. J Appl Microbiol. 1999;86(6):985–90.

- 47. Montero Y, Souza AG, Oliveira ÉR, Rosa D dos S. Nanocellulose functionalized with cinnamon essential oil: A potential application in active biodegradable packaging for strawberry.
 Sustainable Materials and Technologies. 2021 Sep 1;29:e00289.
- 48. Hu J, Wang X, Xiao Z, Bi W. Effect of chitosan nanoparticles loaded with cinnamon essential oil on the quality of chilled pork. LWT Food Science and Technology. 2015;63(1):519–26.
- 49. Han Y, Yu M, Wang L. Physical and antimicrobial properties of sodium alginate/carboxymethyl cellulose films incorporated with cinnamon essential oil. Food Packag Shelf Life. 2018;15:35–42.
- 50. Souza AG, Ferreira RR, Paula LC, Mitra SK, Rosa DS. Starch-based films enriched with nanocellulose-stabilized Pickering emulsions containing different essential oils for possible applications in food packaging. Food Packag Shelf Life. 2021 Mar 1;27:100615.
- 51. Yemiş GP, Candoğan K. Antibacterial activity of soy edible coatings incorporated with thyme and oregano essential oils on beef against pathogenic bacteria. Food Sci Biotechnol. 2017;26:1113–1121.
- 52. Hossain F, Follett P, Salmieri S, Vu KD, Fraschini C, Lacroix M. Antifungal activities of combined treatments of irradiation and essential oils (EOs) encapsulated chitosan nanocomposite films in in vitro and in situ conditions. Int J Food Microbiol. 2019;295:33–40.
- Ishkeh SR, Shirzad H, Asghari MR, Alirezalu A, Pateiro M, Lorenzo JM. Effect of Chitosan Nanoemulsion on Enhancing the Phytochemical Contents, Health-Promoting Components, and Shelf Life of Raspberry (Rubus sanctus Schreber). Applied Sciences 2021, Vol 11, Page 2224. 2021 Mar 3;11(5):2224.
- 54. Guerreiro AC, Gago CML, Faleiro ML, Miguel MGC, Antunes MDC. Raspberry fresh fruit quality as affected by pectin- and alginate-based edible coatings enriched with essential oils. Sci Hortic. 2015 Oct 14;194:138–46.
- 55. Liao W, Badri W, Dumas E, Ghnimi S, Elaissari A, Saurel R, et al. Nanoencapsulation of Essential Oils as Natural Food Antimicrobial Agents: An Overview. Applied Sciences 2021, Vol 11, Page 5778 [Internet]. 2021 Jun 22 [cited 2022 Oct 19];11(13):5778. Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/2076-3417/11/13/5778/htm
- 56. Xavier LO, Sganzerla WG, Rosa GB, da Rosa CG, Agostinetto L, Veeck AP de L, et al. Chitosan packaging functionalized with Cinnamodendron dinisii essential oil loaded zein: A proposal for meat conservation. Int J Biol Macromol. 2021 Feb 1;169:183–93.
- 57. Plati F, Paraskevopoulou A. Micro- and Nano-encapsulation as Tools for Essential Oils Advantages' Exploitation in Food Applications: the Case of Oregano Essential Oil. Food and Bioprocess Technology 2021 15:5 [Internet]. 2022 Jan 21 [cited 2022 Oct 19];15(5):949–77. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11947-021-02746-4
- 58. Sharma S, Barkauskaite S, Jaiswal AK, Jaiswal S. Essential oils as additives in active food packaging. Food Chem. 2021 May 1;343:128403.
- 59. Salmieri S, Islam F, Khan RA, Hossain FM, Ibrahim HMM, Miao C, et al. Antimicrobial nanocomposite films made of poly(lactic acid)–cellulose nanocrystals (PLA–CNC) in food

applications—part B: effect of oregano essential oil release on the inactivation of Listeria monocytogenes in mixed vegetables. Cellulose. 2014;21:4271–4285.

- 60. Dannenberg G da S, Funck GD, Cruxen CE dos S, Marques J de L, Silva WP da, Fiorentini ÂM. Essential oil from pink pepper as an antimicrobial component in cellulose acetate film: Potential for application as active packaging for sliced cheese. LWT - Food Science and Technology. 2017;81:314–8.
- 61. Kuorwel KK, Cran MJ, Sonneveld K, Miltz J, Bigger SW. Migration of antimicrobial agents from starch-based films into a food simulant. LWT Food Science and Technology. 2013 Mar 1;50(2):432–8.
- Sánchez-González L, Cháfer M, González-Martínez C, Chiralt A, Desobry S. Study of the release of limonene present in chitosan films enriched with bergamot oil in food simulants. J Food Eng. 2011 Jul 1;105(1):138–43.
- 63. Tunç S, Duman O. Preparation and characterization of biodegradable methyl cellulose/montmorillonite nanocomposite films. Appl Clay Sci. 2010 Apr 1;48(3):414–24.
- 64. Nostro A, Scaffaro R, D'Arrigo M, Botta L, Filocamo A, Marino A, et al. Study on carvacrol and cinnamaldehyde polymeric films: Mechanical properties, release kinetics and antibacterial and antibiofilm activities. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2012 Nov 4;96(4):1029–38.
- 65. Buonocore GG, Del Nobile MA, Panizza A, Corbo MR, Nicolais L. A general approach to describe the antimicrobial agent release from highly swellable films intended for food packaging applications. Journal of Controlled Release. 2003 Jun 5;90(1):97–107.
- 66. Milovanovic S, Markovic D, Aksentijevic K, Stojanovic DB, Ivanovic J, Zizovic I. Application of cellulose acetate for controlled release of thymol. Carbohydr Polym. 2016;147:344–53.
- 67. Chen S, Brahma S, Mackay J, Cao C, Aliakbarian B. The role of smart packaging system in food supply chain. J Food Sci [Internet]. 2020 Mar 1 [cited 2022 Oct 30];85(3):517–25. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/1750-3841.15046
- 68. Schaefer D, Cheung WM. Smart Packaging: Opportunities and Challenges. Procedia CIRP. 2018 Jan 1;72:1022–7.
- 69. Rezić I, Haramina T, Rezić T. Metal nanoparticles and carbon nanotubes—perfect antimicrobial nano-fillers in polymer-based food packaging materialsa. In: Food Packaging. 2017. p. 497–532.
- 70. Realini CE, Marcos B. Active and intelligent packaging systems for a modern society. Meat Sci. 2014;98(3):404–19.
- 71. Singh P, Wani AA, Saengerlaub S. Active packaging of food products: Recent trends. Nutr Food Sci. 2011;41(4):249–60.
- 72. Rincón E, Serrano L, Balu AM, Aguilar JJ, Luque R, García A. Effect of bay leaves essential oil concentration on the properties of biodegradable carboxymethyl cellulose-based edible films. Materials. 2019;12(15):2356.

- Ahmadi A, Ahmadi P, Ehsani A. Development of an active packaging system containing zinc oxide nanoparticles for the extension of chicken fillet shelf life. Food Sci Nutr. 2020 Oct 1;8(10):5461–73.
- 74. Hoseinnejad M, Jafari SM, Katouzian I. Inorganic and metal nanoparticles and their antimicrobial activity in food packaging applications. Crit Rev Microbiol. 2018;44(2):161–81.
- 75. Joubert IA, Geppert M, Ess S, Nestelbacher R, Gadermaier G, Duschl A, et al. Public perception and knowledge on nanotechnology: A study based on a citizen science approach. NanoImpact [Internet]. 2020 Jan 1 [cited 2020 Jan 23];17:100201. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2452074819301107
- 76. Hardy A, Benford D, Halldorsson T, Jeger MJ, Knutsen HK, More S, et al. Guidance on risk assessment of the application of nanoscience and nanotechnologies in the food and feed chain: Part 1, human and animal health. EFSA Journal [Internet]. 2018 Jul 1 [cited 2023 Jan 31];16(7):e05327. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.2903/j.efsa.2018.5327
- 77. Silano V, Barat Baviera JM, Bolognesi C, Chesson A, Cocconcelli PS, Crebelli R, et al. Review and priority setting for substances that are listed without a specific migration limit in Table 1 of Annex 1 of Regulation 10/2011 on plastic materials and articles intended to come into contact with food. EFSA Journal [Internet]. 2020 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Oct 30];18(6):e06124. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.2903/j.efsa.2020.6124
- 78. Omerović N, Djisalov M, Živojević K, Mladenović M, Vunduk J, Milenković I, et al. Antimicrobial nanoparticles and biodegradable polymer composites for active food packaging applications. Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf [Internet]. 2021 May 1 [cited 2023 Jan 31];20(3):2428–54. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/1541-4337.12727
- 79. Popović SZ, Lazić VL, Hromiš NM, Šuput DZ, Bulut SN. Biopolymer Packaging Materials for Food Shelf-Life Prolongation. In: Biopolymers for Food Design. 2018.
- 80. Prasad P, Kochhar A. Active Packaging in Food Industry: A Review. IOSR J Environ Sci Toxicol Food Technol. 2014;8(5):2319–402.
- John MJ, Sudhakar M. Biodegradability of Biobased Polymeric Materials in Natural Environments Triggering biodegradation of Low-density polyethylene films using biobased pro-oxidant additives for ecological applications. View project. Handbook of Composites from Renewable Materials. 2017;625–54.
- 82. Li F, Mascheroni E, Piergiovanni L. The potential of nanocellulose in the packaging field: A review. Packaging Technology and Science. 2015;28(6):475–508.
- Thomas B, Raj MC, B AK, H RM, Joy J, Moores A, et al. Nanocellulose, a Versatile Green Platform:
 From Biosources to Materials and Their Applications. Chem Rev. 2018 Dec 26;118(24):11575–625.
- 84. Azeredo HMC, Rosa MF, Mattoso LHC. Nanocellulose in bio-based food packaging applications. Ind Crops Prod. 2017;97:664–71.

- 85. Wang H, Qian J, Ding F. Emerging Chitosan-Based Films for Food Packaging Applications. J Agric Food Chem. 2018;66(2):395–413.
- 86. Ojagh SM, Rezaei M, Razavi SH, Hosseini SMH. Development and evaluation of a novel biodegradable film made from chitosan and cinnamon essential oil with low affinity toward water. Food Chem. 2010;122(1):161–6.
- 87. Asgher M, Qamar SA, Bilal M, Iqbal HMN. Bio-based active food packaging materials: Sustainable alternative to conventional petrochemical-based packaging materials. Food Research International. 2020 Nov 1;137:109625.
- Research and Markets [Internet]. [cited 2022 Mar 17]. Available from: https://www.researchandmarkets.com/reports/5009171/global-nanocellulose-market-by-typemfc-and-nfc#sp-pos-1
- 89. Poletto M, Ornaghi Júnior HL, Zattera AJ. Native cellulose: Structure, characterization and thermal properties. Materials. 2014;7(9):6105–19.
- 90. Shokri J, Adibki K. Application of Cellulose and Cellulose Derivatives in Pharmaceutical Industries. In: Cellulose - Medical, Pharmaceutical and Electronic Applications. 2013.
- 91. Zhang W, Zhang Y, Cao J, Jiang W. Improving the performance of edible food packaging films by using nanocellulose as an additive. Int J Biol Macromol. 2021 Jan 1;166:288–96.
- 92. Dhar P, Bhardwaj U, Kumar A, Katiyar V. Cellulose nanocrystals: A potential nanofiller for food packaging applications. ACS Symposium Series. 2014;1162(17):197–239.
- 93. Sharma C, Bhardwaj NK, Pathak P. Static intermittent fed-batch production of bacterial nanocellulose from black tea and its modification using chitosan to develop antibacterial green packaging material. J Clean Prod. 2021 Jan 10;279:123608.
- 94. Ludwicka K, Kaczmarek M, Białkowska A. Bacterial Nanocellulose—A Biobased Polymer for Active and Intelligent Food Packaging Applications: Recent Advances and Developments. Polymers 2020, Vol 12, Page 2209. 2020 Sep 26;12(10):2209.
- 95. Nazrin A, Sapuan SM, Zuhri MYM, Ilyas RA, Syafiq R, Sherwani SFK. Nanocellulose Reinforced Thermoplastic Starch (TPS), Polylactic Acid (PLA), and Polybutylene Succinate (PBS) for Food Packaging Applications. Front Chem. 2020;8:213.
- 96. Hubbe MA, Ferrer A, Tyagi P, Yin Y, Salas C, Pal L, et al. Nanocellulose in thin films, coatings, and plies for packaging applications: A review. Bioresources. 2017;12(1).
- 97. Meriçer Ç, Minelli M, Angelis MGD, Giacinti Baschetti M, Stancampiano A, Laurita R, et al. Atmospheric plasma assisted PLA/microfibrillated cellulose (MFC) multilayer biocomposite for sustainable barrier application. Ind Crops Prod. 2016;93:235–43.
- 98. Abdalkarim SYH, Chen LM, Yu HY, Li F, Chen X, Zhou Y, et al. Versatile nanocellulose-based nanohybrids: A promising-new class for active packaging applications. Int J Biol Macromol. 2021 Jul 1;182:1915–30.
- 99. Fathi M, Karim M, Ahmadi N. Nanostructures of cellulose for encapsulation of food ingredients. In: Biopolymer Nanostructures for Food Encapsulation Purposes. 2019. p. 493–519.
- 100. Gong J, Li J, Xu J, Xiang Z, Mo L. Research on cellulose nanocrystals produced from cellulose sources with various polymorphs. RSC Adv. 2017;7:33486–93.
- 101. Abdul Khalil HPS, Saurabh CK, Adnan AS, Nurul Fazita MR, Syakir MI, Davoudpour Y, et al. A review on chitosan-cellulose blends and nanocellulose reinforced chitosan biocomposites: Properties and their applications. Carbohydr Polym. 2016;150:216–26.
- 102. Syafiq R, Sapuan SM, Zuhri MRM. Antimicrobial activity, physical, mechanical and barrier properties of sugar palm based nanocellulose/starch biocomposite films incorporated with cinnamon essential oil. Journal of Materials Research and Technology. 2021 Mar 1;11:144–57.
- 103. Sharma A, Thakur M, Bhattacharya M, Mandal T, Goswami S. Commercial application of cellulose nano-composites A review. Biotechnology Reports. 2019;21:e00316.
- 104. Mugwagwa LR, Chimphango AFA. Enhancing the functional properties of acetylated hemicellulose films for active food packaging using acetylated nanocellulose reinforcement and polycaprolactone coating. Food Packag Shelf Life. 2020 Jun 1;24:100481.
- 105. Oprea M, Voicu SI. Recent advances in composites based on cellulose derivatives for biomedical applications. Carbohydr Polym. 2020;247:116683.
- 106. Wüstenberk T. Cellulose and cellulose derivatives in the food industry. Fundamental and applications. Igarss 2014. 2014.
- 107. Paunonen S. Strength and barrier enhancements of cellophane and cellulose derivative films: A review. Bioresources. 2013;8:3098–121.
- 108. Pola CC, Medeiros EAA, Pereira OL, Souza VGL, Otoni CG, Camilloto GP, et al. Cellulose acetate active films incorporated with oregano (Origanum vulgare) essential oil and organophilic montmorillonite clay control the growth of phytopathogenic fungi. Food Packag Shelf Life. 2016;9:69–78.
- 109. Chen G, Zhang B, Zhao J, Chen H. Development and characterization of food packaging film fromcellulose sulfate. Food Hydrocoll. 2014;35:476–83.
- 110. Kalia S, Boufi S, Celli A, Kango S. Nanofibrillated cellulose: surface modification and potential applications. [cited 2022 Oct 30]; Available from: http://www.avestin.com/company.html
- 111. Hervy M, Evangelisti S, Lettieri P, Lee KY. Life cycle assessment of nanocellulose-reinforced advanced fibre composites. Compos Sci Technol. 2015;118:154–62.
- 112. Li Q, McGinnis S, Sydnor C, Wong A, Renneckar S. Nanocellulose life cycle assessment. ACS Sustain Chem Eng. 2013;1(8):919–28.
- Arvidsson R, Nguyen D, Svanström M. Life cycle assessment of cellulose nanofibrils production by mechanical treatment and two different pretreatment processes. Environ Sci Technol. 2015;49(11):6881–90.

- 114. Vianna TC, Marinho CO, Marangoni Júnior L, Ibrahim SA, Vieira RP. Essential oils as additives in active starch-based food packaging films: A review. Int J Biol Macromol. 2021 Jul 1;182:1803–19.
- 115. Chollakup R, Pongburoos S, Boonsong W, Khanoonkon N, Kongsin K, Sothornvit R, et al. Antioxidant and antibacterial activities of cassava starch and whey protein blend films containing rambutan peel extract and cinnamon oil for active packaging. LWT. 2020 Aug 1;130:109573.
- 116. Ramos ÓL, Fernandes JC, Silva SI, Pintado ME, Malcata FX. Edible Films and Coatings from Whey Proteins: A Review on Formulation, and on Mechanical and Bioactive Properties. http://dx.doi.org/101080/104083982010500528 [Internet]. 2012 Jun [cited 2022 Oct 30];52(6):533–52. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/10408398.2010.500528
- 117. Pati S, Mohapatra S, Maity S, Dash A, Samantaray DP. Polyhydroxyalkanoates for Sustainable Smart Packaging of Fruits. Environmental and Agricultural Microbiology: Advances and Applications [Internet]. 2021 May 6 [cited 2022 Oct 30];183–95. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/9781119525899.ch8
- 118. Van Den Broek LAM, Knoop RJI, Kappen FHJ, Boeriu CG. Chitosan films and blends for packaging material. Carbohydr Polym. 2015;116:237–42.
- 119. Younes I, Rinaudo M. Chitin and chitosan preparation from marine sources. Structure, properties and applications. Mar Drugs. 2015;13(3):1133–74.
- 120. Kumar S, Mukherjee A, Dutta J. Chitosan based nanocomposite films and coatings: Emerging antimicrobial food packaging alternatives. Trends Food Sci Technol. 2020 Mar 1;97:196–209.
- 121. Elsabee MZ, Abdou ES. Chitosan based edible films and coatings: A review. Materials Science and Engineering C. 2013;33(4):1819–41.
- 122. Hosseinnejad M, Jafari SM. Evaluation of different factors affecting antimicrobial properties of chitosan. Int J Biol Macromol. 2016;85:467–75.
- 123. Bhuimbar M V., Bhagwat PK, Dandge PB. Extraction and characterization of acid soluble collagen from fish waste: Development of collagen-chitosan blend as food packaging film. J Environ Chem Eng. 2019 Apr 1;7(2):102983.
- 124. Amankwaah C, Li J, Lee J, Pascall MA. Antimicrobial Activity of Chitosan-Based Films Enriched with Green Tea Extracts on Murine Norovirus, Escherichia coli, and Listeria innocua. Int J Food Sci. 2020;2020.
- 125. Huang T, Qian Y, Wei J, Zhou C. Polymeric Antimicrobial food packaging and its applications. Polymers (Basel). 2019;11(3):560.
- 126. Yoon S Do, Kim YM, Kim B II, Je JY. Preparation and antibacterial activities of chitosan-gallic acid/polyvinyl alcohol blend film by LED-UV irradiation. J Photochem Photobiol B. 2017 Nov 1;176:145–9.
- 127. Rejane C. Goy, Douglas de Britto, Odilio B. G. Assis. A Review of the Antimicrobial Activity of Chitosan. Polímeros: Ciência e Tecnologia. 2009;19(3):241–7.

- 128. Zheng LY, Zhu JF. Study on antimicrobial activity of chitosan with different molecular weights. Carbohydr Polym. 2003;54(4):527–30.
- 129. Qin C, Li H, Xiao Q, Liu Y, Zhu J, Du Y. Water-solubility of chitosan and its antimicrobial activity. Carbohydr Polym. 2006 Mar 3;63(3):367–74.
- 130. Lago MA, Sendón R, de Quirós ARB, Sanches-Silva A, Costa HS, Sánchez-Machado DI, et al. Preparation and Characterization of Antimicrobial Films Based on Chitosan for Active Food Packaging Applications. Food Bioproc Tech. 2014;7:2932–41.
- 131. Haghighi H, Licciardello F, Fava P, Siesler HW, Pulvirenti A. Recent advances on chitosan-based films for sustainable food packaging applications. Vol. 26, Food Packaging and Shelf Life. Elsevier Ltd; 2020. p. 100551.
- 132. Wang J, Wang B, Jiang W, Zhao Y. Quality and shelf life of mango (Mangifera Indica L. cv. 'Tainong') coated by using chitosan and polyphenols. Food Science and Technology International. 2007 Aug 3;13(4):317–22.
- Devlieghere F, Vermeulen A, Debevere J. Chitosan: Antimicrobial activity, interactions with food components and applicability as a coating on fruit and vegetables. Food Microbiol. 2004;21(6):703–14.
- 134. Zivanovic S, Chi S, Draughon AF. Antimicrobial Activity of Chitosan Films Enriched with Essential Oils. J Food Sci. 2005 Jan 1;70(1):M45–51.
- 135. Ahmed J, Varshney SK. Polylactides-chemistry, properties and green packaging technology: A review. Int J Food Prop. 2011;14(1):37–58.
- 136. Farah S, Anderson DG, Langer R. Physical and mechanical properties of PLA, and their functions in widespread applications A comprehensive review. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2016;107:367–92.
- 137. Gan I, Chow WS. Antimicrobial poly(lactic acid)/cellulose bionanocomposite for food packaging application: A review. Food Packag Shelf Life. 2018;17:150–61.
- 138. Liu DY, Yuan XW, Bhattacharyya D, Easteal AJ. Characterisation of solution cast cellulose nanofibre Reinforced poly(lactic acid). Express Polym Lett. 2010;4:26–31.
- 139. Singh P, Baisthakur P, Yemul OS. Synthesis, characterization and application of crosslinked alginate as green packaging material. Heliyon. 2020;6(1).
- Abdollahi M, Alboofetileh M, Behrooz R, Rezaei M, Miraki R. Reducing water sensitivity of alginate bio-nanocomposite film using cellulose nanoparticles. Int J Biol Macromol. 2013;54:166– 73.
- 141. Lan W, He L, Liu Y. Preparation and properties of sodium carboxymethyl cellulose/sodium alginate/chitosan composite film. Coatings. 2018;8(8):291.
- 142. Cheng M, Wang J, Zhang R, Kong R, Lu W, Wang X. Characterization and application of the microencapsulated carvacrol/sodium alginate films as food packaging materials. Int J Biol Macromol. 2019;141:259–67.

- 143. Sirviö JA, Kolehmainen A, Liimatainen H, Niinimäki J, Hormi OEO. Biocomposite cellulose-alginate films: Promising packaging materials. Food Chem. 2014;151:343–51.
- 144. Wang LF, Shankar S, Rhim JW. Properties of alginate-based films reinforced with cellulose fibers and cellulose nanowhiskers isolated from mulberry pulp. Food Hydrocoll. 2017;63:201–8.
- 145. Abdollahi M, Alboofetileh M, Rezaei M, Behrooz R. Comparing physico-mechanical and thermal properties of alginate nanocomposite films reinforced with organic and/or inorganic nanofillers. Food Hydrocoll. 2013;32(2):416–24.
- 146. Benavides S, Villalobos-Carvajal R, Reyes JE. Physical, mechanical and antibacterial properties of alginate film: Effect of the crosslinking degree and oregano essential oil concentration. J Food Eng. 2012;110(2):232–9.
- 147. Rhim JW. Physical and mechanical properties of water resistant sodium alginate films. LWT -Food Science and Technology. 2004;37(3):323–30.
- 148. Wang X, Guo C, Hao W, Ullah N, Chen L, Li Z, et al. Development and characterization of agarbased edible films reinforced with nano-bacterial cellulose. Int J Biol Macromol. 2018;118:772– 730.
- 149. Atef M, Rezaei M, Behrooz R. Characterization of physical, mechanical, and antibacterial properties of agar-cellulose bionanocomposite films incorporated with savory essential oil. Food Hydrocoll. 2015;45:150–7.
- 150. da Rocha M, Alemán A, Romani VP, López-Caballero ME, Gómez-Guillén MC, Montero P, et al. Effects of agar films incorporated with fish protein hydrolysate or clove essential oil on flounder (Paralichthys orbignyanus) fillets shelf-life. Food Hydrocoll. 2018;81:351–63.
- 151. Wang LF, Rhim JW. Preparation and application of agar/alginate/collagen ternary blend functional food packaging films. Int J Biol Macromol. 2015 Sep 1;80:460–8.
- 152. Malagurski I, Levic S, Nesic A, Mitric M, Pavlovic V, Dimitrijevic-Brankovic S. Mineralized agarbased nanocomposite films: Potential food packaging materials with antimicrobial properties. Carbohydr Polym. 2017;175:55–62.
- 153. Giménez B, López de Lacey A, Pérez-Santín E, López-Caballero ME, Montero P. Release of active compounds from agar and agar-gelatin films with green tea extract. Food Hydrocoll. 2013;30(1):264–71.
- 154. Kanmani P, Rhim JW. Antimicrobial and physical-mechanical properties of agar-based films incorporated with grapefruit seed extract. Carbohydr Polym. 2014;10:708–16.
- 155. Sung SY, Sin LT, Tee TT, Bee ST, Rahmat AR, Rahman WAWA, et al. Antimicrobial agents for food packaging applications. Trends Food Sci Technol. 2013;33(2):110–23.
- 156. Carbone M, Donia DT, Sabbatella G, Antiochia R. Silver nanoparticles in polymeric matrices for fresh food packaging. J King Saud Univ Sci. 2016;28(4):273–9.

- 157. Espitia PJP, Soares N de FF, Coimbra JS dos R, de Andrade NJ, Cruz RS, Medeiros EAA. Zinc Oxide Nanoparticles: Synthesis, Antimicrobial Activity and Food Packaging Applications. Food Bioproc Tech. 2012;5:1447–64.
- 158. Irkin R, Esmer OK. Novel food packaging systems with natural antimicrobial agents. J Food Sci Technol. 2015;52:6095–111.
- 159. Kim, Ki-Myong; Lee, Boo-Yong; Choi SG. Development of Antimicrobial Edible Film Incorporated with Green Tea Extract. 2006;15(3):478–81.
- 160. Sharma S, Barkauskaite S, Jaiswal AK, Jaiswal S. Essential oils as additives in active food packaging. Food Chem. 2021 May 1;343:128403.
- 161. Lv F, Liang H, Yuan Q, Li C. In vitro antimicrobial effects and mechanism of action of selected plant essential oil combinations against four food-related microorganisms. Food Research International. 2011;44(9):3057–64.
- 162. Bakkali F, Averbeck S, Averbeck D, Idaomar M. Biological effects of essential oils A review. Food and Chemical Toxicology. 2008;46(2):446–75.
- 163. Ribeiro-Santos R, Andrade M, Melo NR de, Sanches-Silva A. Use of essential oils in active food packaging: Recent advances and future trends. Trends Food Sci Technol. 2017;61:132–40.
- Zhou Y, Sun S, Bei W, Zahi MR, Yuan Q, Liang H. Preparation and antimicrobial activity of oregano essential oil Pickering emulsion stabilized by cellulose nanocrystals. Int J Biol Macromol. 2018;112:7–13.
- 165. Gabrieli De Souza A, Ferreira RR, Silva E, Aguilar F, Zanata L, Dos D, et al. Cinnamon Essential Oil Nanocellulose-Based Pickering Emulsions: Processing Parameters Effect on Their Formation, Stabilization, and Antimicrobial Activity. Polysaccharides 2021, Vol 2, Pages 608-625 [Internet]. 2021 Aug 3 [cited 2022 Mar 1];2(3):608–25. Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/2673-4176/2/3/37/htm
- 166. Agrimonti C, White JC, Tonetti S, Marmiroli N. Antimicrobial activity of cellulosic pads amended with emulsions of essential oils of oregano, thyme and cinnamon against microorganisms in minced beef meat. Int J Food Microbiol. 2019;305:108246.
- 167. Santos DC, Ribeiro-Santos R, Ventura LAF, Melo NR, Costa BS, Rojas EEG, et al. Antimicrobial activity studies and characterization of cellulose acetate films containing essential oils. Italian Journal of Food Science. 2016;28:248–58.
- 168. de Melo AAM, Geraldine RM, Silveira MFA, Torres MCL, e Rezende CSM, Fernandes TH, et al. Microbiological quality and other characteristics of refrigerated chicken meat in contact with cellulose acetate-based film incorporated with rosemary essential oil. Brazilian Journal of Microbiology. 2012;43(4):1419–27.
- 169. El Fawal GF, Omer AM, Tamer TM. Evaluation of antimicrobial and antioxidant activities for cellulose acetate films incorporated with Rosemary and Aloe Vera essential oils. J Food Sci Technol. 2019;56:1510–1518.

- 170. Liakos IL, Holban AM, Carzino R, Lauciello S, Grumezescu AM. Electrospun fiber pads of cellulose acetate and essential oils with antimicrobial activity. Nanomaterials. 2017;7(4):84.
- 171. Harini K, Sukumar M. Development of cellulose-based migratory and nonmigratory active packaging films. Carbohydr Polym. 2019;204:202–13.
- 172. Rodríguez FJ, Torres A, Peñaloza Á, Sepúlveda H, Galotto MJ, Guarda A, et al. Development of an antimicrobial material based on a nanocomposite cellulose acetate film for active food packaging. Food Addit Contam Part A Chem Anal Control Expo Risk Assess. 2014;31(3):342–53.
- 173. Zizovic I, Senerovic L, Moric I, Adamovic T, Jovanovic M, Krusic MK, et al. Utilization of supercritical carbon dioxide in fabrication of cellulose acetate films with anti-biofilm effects against Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Staphylococcus aureus. Journal of Supercritical Fluids. 2018;140:11–20.
- 174. Chen G, Liu B. Cellulose sulfate based film with slow-release antimicrobial properties prepared by incorporation of mustard essential oil and β-cyclodextrin. Food Hydrocoll. 2016;55:100–7.
- López de Dicastillo C, Bustos F, Guarda A, Galotto MJ. Cross-linked methyl cellulose films with murta fruit extract for antioxidant and antimicrobial active food packaging. Food Hydrocoll. 2016;60:335–44.
- 176. Navarro-Cruz AR, Ochoa-Velasco CE, Caballero-Alvarez FJ, Lazcano-Hernández MA, Vera-López O, López-Malo A, et al. Effect of pH and Mexican Oregano (Lippia berlandieri Schauer) Essential Oil Added to Carboxymethyl Cellulose and Starch Edible Films on Listeria monocytogenes and Staphylococcus aureus. J Food Qual. 2018;
- 177. Shahbazi Y. Application of carboxymethyl cellulose and chitosan coatings containing Mentha spicata essential oil in fresh strawberries. Int J Biol Macromol. 2018;112:264–72.
- 178. Nouri Ala MA, Shahbazi Y. The effects of novel bioactive carboxymethyl cellulose coatings on food-borne pathogenic bacteria and shelf life extension of fresh and sauced chicken breast fillets. LWT. 2019;111:602–11.
- 179. Dashipour A, Razavilar V, Hosseini H, Shojaee-Aliabadi S, German JB, Ghanati K, et al. Antioxidant and antimicrobial carboxymethyl cellulose films containing Zataria multiflora essential oil. Int J Biol Macromol. 2015;72:606–13.
- 180. Moghimi R, Aliahmadi A, Rafati H. Antibacterial hydroxypropyl methyl cellulose edible films containing nanoemulsions of Thymus daenensis essential oil for food packaging. Carbohydr Polym. 2017;175:241–8.
- 181. Vu KD, Hollingsworth RG, Leroux E, Salmieri S, Lacroix M. Development of edible bioactive coating based on modified chitosan for increasing the shelf life of strawberries. Food Research International. 2011;44(1):198–203.
- 182. Abdollahi M, Rezaei M, Farzi G. Improvement of active chitosan film properties with rosemary essential oil for food packaging. Int J Food Sci Technol. 2012;47(4):847–53.

- 183. Shahbazi Y. The properties of chitosan and gelatin films incorporated with ethanolic red grape seed extract and Ziziphora clinopodioides essential oil as biodegradable materials for active food packaging. Int J Biol Macromol. 2017;99:746–53.
- 184. Priyadarshi R, Sauraj, Kumar B, Deeba F, Kulshreshtha A, Negi YS. Chitosan films incorporated with Apricot (Prunus armeniaca) kernel essential oil as active food packaging material. Food Hydrocoll. 2018;85:158–66.
- 185. Han Lyn F, Nur Hanani ZA. Effect of Lemongrass (Cymbopogon citratus) Essential Oil on the Properties of Chitosan Films for Active Packaging. Journal of Packaging Technology and Research 2020 4:1. 2020 Jan 1;4(1):33–44.
- 186. Quesada J, Sendra E, Navarro C, Sayas-Barberá E. Antimicrobial Active Packaging including Chitosan Films with Thymus vulgaris L. Essential Oil for Ready-to-Eat Meat. Foods. 2016;5(3):57.
- 187. Hosseini MH, Razavi SH, Mousavi MA. Antimicrobial, physical and mechanical properties of chitosan-based films incorporated with thyme, clove and cinnamon essential oils. J Food Process Preserv. 2009;61:695–702.
- 188. Haghighi H, Biard S, Bigi F, De Leo R, Bedin E, Pfeifer F, et al. Comprehensive characterization of active chitosan-gelatin blend films enriched with different essential oils. Food Hydrocoll. 2019;95:33–42.
- 189. Mohammadi A, Hashemi M, Hosseini SM. Chitosan nanoparticles loaded with Cinnamomum zeylanicum essential oil enhance the shelf life of cucumber during cold storage. Postharvest Biol Technol. 2015;110:203–13.
- 190. Mohammadi A, Hashemi M, Hosseini SM. Nanoencapsulation of Zataria multiflora essential oil preparation and characterization with enhanced antifungal activity for controlling Botrytis cinerea, the causal agent of gray mould disease. Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies. 2015;28:73–80.
- 191. Martínez-Hernández GB, Amodio ML, Colelli G. Carvacrol-loaded chitosan nanoparticles maintain quality of fresh-cut carrots. Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies. 2017;41:56–63.
- 192. Salama HE, Abdel Aziz MS, Sabaa MW. Development of antibacterial carboxymethyl cellulose/chitosan biguanidine hydrochloride edible films activated with frankincense essential oil. Int J Biol Macromol. 2019;132:1162–7.
- 193. Valizadeh S, Naseri M, Babaei S, Hosseini SMH, Imani A. Development of bioactive composite films from chitosan and carboxymethyl cellulose using glutaraldehyde, cinnamon essential oil and oleic acid. Int J Biol Macromol. 2019;134:604–12.
- 194. Noshirvani N, Ghanbarzadeh B, Gardrat C, Rezaei MR, Hashemi M, Le Coz C, et al. Cinnamon and ginger essential oils to improve antifungal, physical and mechanical properties of chitosancarboxymethyl cellulose films. Food Hydrocoll. 2017;70:36–45.
- 195. Hossain F, Follett P, Vu KD, Salmieri S, Fraschini C, Jamshidian M, et al. Antifungal activity of combined treatments of active methylcellulose-based films containing encapsulated

nanoemulsion of essential oils and γ -irradiation: in vitro and in situ evaluations. Cellulose. 2019;26:1335–1354.

- 196. Nabifarkhani N, Sharifani M, Garmakhany AD, Moghadam EG, Shakeri A. Effect of nanocomposite and thyme oil (tymus vulgaris L) coating on fruit quality of sweet cherry (Takdaneh Cv) during storage period. Food Sci Nutr. 2015;3(4):349–54.
- 197. Jahed E, Khaledabad MA, Bari MR, Almasi H. Effect of cellulose and lignocellulose nanofibers on the properties of Origanum vulgare ssp. gracile essential oil-loaded chitosan films. React Funct Polym. 2017;117:70–80.
- 198. Jahed E, Khaledabad MA, Almasi H, Hasanzadeh R. Physicochemical properties of Carum copticum essential oil loaded chitosan films containing organic nanoreinforcements. Carbohydr Polym. 2017;164:325–38.
- 199. Khodayari M, Basti AA, Khanjari A, Misaghi A, Kamkar A, Shotorbani PM, et al. Effect of poly(lactic acid) films incorporated with different concentrations of Tanacetum balsamita essential oil, propolis ethanolic extract and cellulose nanocrystals on shelf life extension of vacuum-packed cooked sausages. Food Packag Shelf Life. 2019;19:200–9.
- 200. Shavisi N, Khanjari A, Basti AA, Misaghi A, Shahbazi Y. Effect of PLA films containing propolis ethanolic extract, cellulose nanoparticle and Ziziphora clinopodioides essential oil on chemical, microbial and sensory properties of minced beef. Meat Sci. 2017;124:95–104.
- 201. Rezaeigolestani M, Misaghi A, Khanjari A, Basti AA, Abdulkhani A, Fayazfar S. Antimicrobial evaluation of novel poly-lactic acid based nanocomposites incorporated with bioactive compounds in-vitro and in refrigerated vacuum-packed cooked sausages. Int J Food Microbiol. 2017;260:1–10.
- 202. Fiore A, Park S, Volpe S, Torrieri E, Masi P. Active packaging based on PLA and chitosan-caseinate enriched rosemary essential oil coating for fresh minced chicken breast application. Food Packag Shelf Life. 2021 Sep 1;29:100708.
- 203. Oussalah M, Caillet S, Salmiéri S, Saucier L, Lacroix M. Antimicrobial effects of alginate-based films containing essential oils on Listeria monocytogenes and Salmonella typhimurium present in bologna and ham. J Food Prot. 2007;70(4):901–8.
- 204. Abdollahi M, Damirchi S, Shafafi M, Rezaei M, Ariaii P. Carboxymethyl cellulose-agar biocomposite film activated with summer savory essential oil as an antimicrobial agent. Int J Biol Macromol. 2019;126:561–8.
- 205. Krepker M, Shemesh R, Danin Poleg Y, Kashi Y, Vaxman A, Segal E. Active food packaging films with synergistic antimicrobial activity. Food Control. 2017;76:117–26.
- 206. Mulla M, Ahmed J, Al-Attar H, Castro-Aguirre E, Arfat YA, Auras R. Antimicrobial efficacy of clove essential oil infused into chemically modified LLDPE film for chicken meat packaging. Food Control. 2017 Mar 1;73:663–71.

- 207. Do Socorro Rocha Bastos M, Da Silva Laurentino L, Canuto KM, Mendes LG, Martins CM, Silva SMF, et al. Physical and mechanical testing of essential oil-embedded cellulose ester films. Polym Test. 2016;49:156–61.
- 208. Leimann F V., Gonçalves OH, Machado RAF, Bolzan A. Antimicrobial activity of microencapsulated lemongrass essential oil and the effect of experimental parameters on microcapsules size and morphology. Materials Science and Engineering C. 2009 Mar 1;29(2):430–6.
- 209. Wen P, Zhu DH, Wu H, Zong MH, Jing YR, Han SY. Encapsulation of cinnamon essential oil in electrospun nanofibrous film for active food packaging. Food Control. 2016 Jan 1;59:366–76.
- 210. Amor G, Sabbah M, Caputo L, Idbella M, De Feo V, Porta R, et al. Basil essential oil: Composition, antimicrobial properties, and microencapsulation to produce active chitosan films for food packaging. Foods. 2021 Jan 1;10(1):121.
- 211. Kwon SJ, Chang Y, Han J. Oregano essential oil-based natural antimicrobial packaging film to inactivate Salmonella enterica and yeasts/molds in the atmosphere surrounding cherry tomatoes. Food Microbiol. 2017 Aug 1;65:114–21.
- 212. Fasihi H, Noshirvani N, Hashemi M, Fazilati M, Salavati H, Coma V. Antioxidant and antimicrobial properties of carbohydrate-based films enriched with cinnamon essential oil by Pickering emulsion method. Food Packag Shelf Life. 2019 Mar 1;19:147–54.
- 213. Liu QR, Wang W, Qi J, Huang Q, Xiao J. Oregano essential oil loaded soybean polysaccharide films: Effect of Pickering type immobilization on physical and antimicrobial properties. Food Hydrocoll. 2019 Feb 1;87:165–72.
- 214. Souza AG, Ferreira RR, Paula LC, Setz LFG, Rosa DS. The effect of essential oil chemical structures on Pickering emulsion stabilized with cellulose nanofibrils. J Mol Liq. 2020 Dec 15;320:114458.
- 215. Sultan M, Elsayed H, Abdelhakim AEF, Taha G. Active packaging gelatin films based on chitosan/Arabic gum/coconut oil Pickering nano emulsions. J Appl Polym Sci. 2022 Jan 5;139(1):51442.
- 216. Roy S, Rhim JW. Gelatin/agar-based functional film integrated with Pickering emulsion of clove essential oil stabilized with nanocellulose for active packaging applications. Colloids Surf A Physicochem Eng Asp. 2021 Oct 20;627:127220.
- 217. Kamkar A, Molaee-aghaee E, Khanjari A, Akhondzadeh-basti A, Noudoost B, Shariatifar N, et al. Nanocomposite active packaging based on chitosan biopolymer loaded with nano-liposomal essential oil: Its characterizations and effects on microbial, and chemical properties of refrigerated chicken breast fillet. Int J Food Microbiol. 2021 Mar 16;342:109071.
- 218. Sogut E, Seydim AC. The effects of Chitosan and grape seed extract-based edible films on the quality of vacuum packaged chicken breast fillets. Food Packag Shelf Life. 2018 Dec 1;18:13–20.
- 219. Theivendran S, Hettiarachchy NS, Johnson MG. Inhibition of Listeria monocytogens by nisin combined with grape seed extract or green tea extract in soy protein film coated on turkey frankfurters. J Food Sci. 2006 Mar 1;71(2):M39–44.

- 220. Gutierrez J, Barry-Ryan C, Bourke P. Antimicrobial activity of plant essential oils using food model media: Efficacy, synergistic potential and interactions with food components. Food Microbiol. 2009;26(2):142–50.
- 221. Emir Çoban Ö, Patir B, Yilmaz Ö. Protective effect of essential oils on the shelf life of smoked and vacuum packed rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss W.1792) fillets. J Food Sci Technol. 2014 Oct 1;51(10):2741–7.
- Karoui R, Hassoun A. Efficiency of rosemary and basil essential oils on the shelf-life extension of Atlantic mackerel (Scomber scombrus) fillets stored at 2°C. J AOAC Int. 2017 Mar 1;100(2):335–44.
- 223. Ozogul Y, Yuvka İ, Ucar Y, Durmus M, Kösker AR, Öz M, et al. Evaluation of effects of nanoemulsion based on herb essential oils (rosemary, laurel, thyme and sage) on sensory, chemical and microbiological quality of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) fillets during ice storage. LWT Food Science and Technology. 2017 Jan 1;75:677–84.
- 224. Atrea I, Papavergou A, Amvrosiadis I, Savvaidis IN. Combined effect of vacuum-packaging and oregano essential oil on the shelf-life of Mediterranean octopus (Octopus vulgaris) from the Aegean Sea stored at 4 °C. Food Microbiol. 2009 Apr 1;26(2):166–72.
- 225. Frangos L, Pyrgotou N, Giatrakou V, Ntzimani A, Savvaidis IN. Combined effects of salting, oregano oil and vacuum-packaging on the shelf-life of refrigerated trout fillets. Food Microbiol. 2010 Feb 1;27(1):115–21.
- 226. Goulas AE, Kontominas MG. Combined effect of light salting, modified atmosphere packaging and oregano essential oil on the shelf-life of sea bream (Sparus aurata): Biochemical and sensory attributes. Food Chem. 2007 Jan 1;100(1):287–96.
- 227. Menezes NMC, Martins WF, Longhi DA, de Aragão GMF. Modeling the effect of oregano essential oil on shelf-life extension of vacuum-packed cooked sliced ham. Meat Sci. 2018 May 1;139:113–9.
- 228. Erkan N, Tosun ŞY, Ulusoy Ş, Üretener G. The use of thyme and laurel essential oil treatments to extend the shelf life of bluefish (Pomatomus saltatrix) during storage in ice. Journal fur Verbraucherschutz und Lebensmittelsicherheit. 2011 Mar 1;6(1):39–48.
- 229. Kykkidou S, Giatrakou V, Papavergou A, Kontominas MG, Savvaidis IN. Effect of thyme essential oil and packaging treatments on fresh Mediterranean swordfish fillets during storage at 4 °C. Food Chem. 2009 Jul 1;115(1):169–75.
- 230. Gutiérrez-Larraínzar M, Rúa J, Caro I, de Castro C, de Arriaga D, García-Armesto MR, et al. Evaluation of antimicrobial and antioxidant activities of natural phenolic compounds against foodborne pathogens and spoilage bacteria. Food Control. 2012;26(2):555–63.
- 231. Çoban OE, Patir B, Özpolat E, Kuzgun NK. Improving the Quality of Fresh Rainbow Trout by Sage Essential Oil and Packaging Treatments. J Food Saf. 2016 Aug 1;36(3):299–307.

- Pyrgotou N, Giatrakou V, Ntzimani A, Savvaidis IN. Quality assessment of salted, modified atmosphere packaged rainbow trout under treatment with oregano essential oil. J Food Sci. 2010 Sep 1;75(7):M406–11.
- 233. Lee SY, Lee SJ, Choi DS, Hur SJ. Current topics in active and intelligent food packaging for preservation of fresh foods. J Sci Food Agric. 2015;95(14):2799–810.
- 234. Chacha JS, Ofoedu CE, Xiao K. Essential oil-based active polymer-based packaging system: A review of its effect on the antimicrobial, antioxidant, and sensory properties of beef and chicken meat. J Food Process Preserv [Internet]. 2022 Nov 1 [cited 2023 Feb 6];46(11):e16933. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/jfpp.16933
- 235. Mukurumbira AR, Shellie RA, Keast R, Palombo EA, Jadhav SR. Encapsulation of essential oils and their application in antimicrobial active packaging. Food Control. 2022 Jun 1;136:108883.
- 236. Perumal AB, Huang L, Nambiar RB, He Y, Li X, Sellamuthu PS. Application of essential oils in packaging films for the preservation of fruits and vegetables: A review. Food Chem. 2022 May 1;375:131810.
- 237. EUR-Lex 32011R1130 EN EUR-Lex [Internet]. [cited 2023 Feb 7]. Available from: https://eurlex.europa.eu/eli/reg/2011/1130/oj
- 238. EUR-Lex 32012R0872 EN EUR-Lex [Internet]. [cited 2023 Feb 7]. Available from: https://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A32012R0872
- 239. Ahankari SS, Subhedar AR, Bhadauria SS, Dufresne A. Nanocellulose in food packaging: A review. Carbohydr Polym. 2021 Mar 1;255:117479.
- 240. Lee JJL, Cui X, Chai KF, Zhao G, Chen WN. Interfacial Assembly of a Cashew Nut (Anacardium occidentale) Testa Extract onto a Cellulose-Based Film from Sugarcane Bagasse to Produce an Active Packaging Film with pH-Triggered Release Mechanism. Food Bioproc Tech. 2020 Mar 1;13(3):501–10.
- 241. Bastante CC, Silva NHCS, Cardoso LC, Serrano CM, Martínez de la Ossa EJ, Freire CSR, et al. Biobased films of nanocellulose and mango leaf extract for active food packaging: Supercritical impregnation versus solvent casting. Food Hydrocoll. 2021 Aug 1;117:106709.
- 242. Yang Y, Liu H, Wu M, Ma J, Lu P. Bio-based antimicrobial packaging from sugarcane bagasse nanocellulose/nisin hybrid films. Int J Biol Macromol. 2020 Oct 15;161:627–35.
- 243. Soofi M, Alizadeh A, Hamishehkar H, Almasi H, Roufegarinejad L. Preparation of nanobiocomposite film based on lemon waste containing cellulose nanofiber and savory essential oil: A new biodegradable active packaging system. Int J Biol Macromol. 2021 Feb 1;169:352–61.
- 244. Missio AL, Mattos BD, Ferreira D de F, Magalhães WLE, Bertuol DA, Gatto DA, et al. Nanocellulose-tannin films: From trees to sustainable active packaging. J Clean Prod. 2018;184:143–51.

- 245. Saini S, Quinot D, Lavoine N, Belgacem MN, Bras J. β-Cyclodextrin-grafted TEMPO-oxidized cellulose nanofibers for sustained release of essential oil. J Mater Sci. 2017;52:3849–61.
- 246. Marques HMC. A review on cyclodextrin encapsulation of essential oils and volatiles. Flavour Fragr J. 2010;25(5):313–26.
- 247. Wang J, Cao Y, Sun B, Wang C. Physicochemical and release characterisation of garlic oil-βcyclodextrin inclusion complexes. Food Chem. 2011;127(4):1680–5.
- 248. Puls J, Wilson SA, Hölter D. Degradation of Cellulose Acetate-Based Materials: A Review. J Polym Environ. 2011;19:152–65.
- 249. Milovanovic S, Stamenic M, Markovic D, Ivanovic J, Zizovic I. Supercritical impregnation of cellulose acetate with thymol. Journal of Supercritical Fluids. 2015;97:107–15.
- Mir SA, Shah MA, Dar BN, Wani AA, Ganai SA, Nishad J. Supercritical Impregnation of Active Components into Polymers for Food Packaging Applications. Food Bioproc Tech. 2017;10:1749– 54.
- 251. Chen G, Zhang B, Zhao J, Chen H. Development and characterization of food packaging film fromcellulose sulfate. Food Hydrocoll. 2014;35:476–83.
- 252. Lee HB, Noh BS, Min SC. Listeria monocytogenes inhibition by defatted mustard meal-based edible films. Int J Food Microbiol. 2012;153(1–2):99–105.
- 253. Roy S, Rhim JW. Carboxymethyl cellulose-based antioxidant and antimicrobial active packaging film incorporated with curcumin and zinc oxide. Int J Biol Macromol. 2020 Apr 1;148:666–76.
- 254. Raeisi M, Tajik H, Aliakbarlu J, Mirhosseini SH, Hosseini SMH. Effect of carboxymethyl cellulosebased coatings incorporated with Zataria multiflora Boiss. essential oil and grape seed extract on the shelf life of rainbow trout fillets. LWT - Food Science and Technology. 2015;64(2):898–904.
- 255. Cazón P, Vázquez M. Mechanical and barrier properties of chitosan combined with other components as food packaging film. Environ Chem Lett. 2020 Mar 1;18(2):257–67.
- 256. Li Y na, Ye Q qing, Hou W fu, Zhang G quan. Development of antibacterial ε-polylysine/chitosan hybrid films and the effect on citrus. Int J Biol Macromol. 2018 Oct 15;118:2051–6.
- 257. Na S, Kim JH, Jang HJ, Park HJ, Oh SW. Shelf life extension of Pacific white shrimp (Litopenaeus vannamei) using chitosan and ε-polylysine during cold storage. Int J Biol Macromol. 2018 Aug 1;115:1103–8.
- Liu X, Xu Y, Zhan X, Xie W, Yang X, Cui SW, et al. Development and properties of new kojic acid and chitosan composite biodegradable films for active packaging materials. Int J Biol Macromol. 2020 Feb 1;144:483–90.
- 259. Martillanes S, Rocha-Pimienta J, Llera-Oyola J, Gil MV, Ayuso-Yuste MC, García-Parra J, et al. Control of Listeria monocytogenes in sliced dry-cured Iberian ham by high pressure processing in combination with an eco-friendly packaging based on chitosan, nisin and phytochemicals from rice bran. Food Control. 2021 Jun 1;124:107933.

- 260. Zhang N, Bi F, Xu F, Yong H, Bao Y, Jin C, et al. Structure and functional properties of active packaging films prepared by incorporating different flavonols into chitosan based matrix. Int J Biol Macromol. 2020 Dec 15;165:625–34.
- 261. Bi F, Qin Y, Chen D, Kan J, Liu J. Development of active packaging films based on chitosan and nano-encapsulated luteolin. Int J Biol Macromol. 2021 Jul 1;182:545–53.
- 262. Kõrge K, Bajić M, Likozar B, Novak U. Active chitosan–chestnut extract films used for packaging and storage of fresh pasta. Int J Food Sci Technol. 2020 Aug 1;55(8):3043–52.
- 263. Riaz A, Lagnika C, Luo H, Dai Z, Nie M, Hashim MM, et al. Chitosan-based biodegradable active food packaging film containing Chinese chive (Allium tuberosum) root extract for food application. Int J Biol Macromol. 2020 May 1;150:595–604.
- 264. Mojaddar Langroodi A, Nematollahi A, Sayadi M. Chitosan coating incorporated with grape seed extract and Origanum vulgare essential oil: an active packaging for turkey meat preservation. Journal of Food Measurement and Characterization. 2021 Jun 1;15(3):2790–804.
- 265. Kadam AA, Singh S, Gaikwad KK. Chitosan based antioxidant films incorporated with pine needles (Cedrus deodara) extract for active food packaging applications. Food Control. 2021 Jun 1;124:107877.
- 266. Haghighi M, Yazdanpanah S. Chitosan-Based Coatings Incorporated with Cinnamon and Tea Extracts to Extend the Fish Fillets Shelf Life: Validation by FTIR Spectroscopy Technique. J Food Qual. 2020;2020.
- 267. Zhang X, Liu J, Yong H, Qin Y, Liu J, Jin C. Development of antioxidant and antimicrobial packaging films based on chitosan and mangosteen (Garcinia mangostana L.) rind powder. Int J Biol Macromol. 2020 Feb 15;145:1129–39.
- 268. Lan W, Wang S, Zhang Z, Liang X, Liu X, Zhang J. Development of red apple pomace extract/chitosan-based films reinforced by TiO2 nanoparticles as a multifunctional packaging material. Int J Biol Macromol. 2021 Jan 31;168:105–15.
- 269. Amankwaah C, Li J, Lee J, Pascall MA. Antimicrobial Activity of Chitosan-Based Films Enriched with Green Tea Extracts on Murine Norovirus, Escherichia coli, and Listeria innocua. Int J Food Sci. 2020;2020.
- 270. Homayounpour P, Shariatifar N, Alizadeh-Sani M. Development of nanochitosan-based active packaging films containing free and nanoliposome caraway (Carum carvi. L) seed extract. Food Sci Nutr. 2021 Jan 1;9(1):553–63.
- 271. Deng Z, Wang T, Chen X, Liu Y. Applications of chitosan-based biomaterials: a focus on dependent antimicrobial properties. Mar Life Sci Technol. 2020 Nov 1;2(4):398–413.
- 272. Liu T, Wang J, Chi F, Tan Z, Liu L. Development and Characterization of Novel Active Chitosan Films Containing Fennel and Peppermint Essential Oils. Coatings 2020, Vol 10, Page 936. 2020 Sep 29;10(10):936.

- 273. Filho JG de O, de Deus IPB, Valadares ACF, Fernandes CC, Estevam EBB, Egea MB. Chitosan Film with Citrus limonia Essential Oil: Physical and Morphological Properties and Antibacterial Activity. Colloids and Interfaces 2020, Vol 4, Page 18. 2020 Apr 23;4(2):18.
- 274. Siripatrawan U, Vitchayakitti W. Improving functional properties of chitosan films as active food packaging by incorporating with propolis. Food Hydrocoll. 2016;61:695–702.
- 275. Luque-Alcaraz AG, Cortez-Rocha MO, Velázquez-Contreras CA, Acosta-Silva AL, Santacruz-Ortega HDC, Burgos-Hernández A, et al. Enhanced Antifungal Effect of Chitosan/Pepper Tree (Schinus molle) Essential Oil Bionanocomposites on the Viability of Aspergillus parasiticus Spores. J Nanomater. 2016;2016(38).
- 276. Jha P. Effect of grapefruit seed extract ratios on functional properties of corn starch-chitosan bionanocomposite films for active packaging. Int J Biol Macromol. 2020 Nov 15;163:1546–56.
- 277. Mohammadi M, Mirabzadeh S, Shahvalizadeh R, Hamishehkar H. Development of novel active packaging films based on whey protein isolate incorporated with chitosan nanofiber and nanoformulated cinnamon oil. Int J Biol Macromol. 2020 Apr 15;149:11–20.
- 278. Espitia PJP, Fuenmayor CA, Otoni CG. Nanoemulsions: Synthesis, Characterization, and
 Application in Bio-Based Active Food Packaging. Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf. 2019;18(1):264–
 85.
- 279. Youssef AM, El-Sayed SM, El-Sayed HS, Salama HH, Dufresne A. Enhancement of Egyptian soft white cheese shelf life using a novel chitosan/carboxymethyl cellulose/zinc oxide bionanocomposite film. Carbohydr Polym. 2016 Oct 20;151:9–19.
- Gao Q, Lei M, Zhou K, Liu X, Wang S, Li H. Preparation of a microfibrillated cellulose/chitosan/polypyrrole film for Active Food Packaging. Prog Org Coat. 2020 Dec 1;149:105907.
- 281. Costa SM, Ferreira DP, Teixeira P, Ballesteros LF, Teixeira JA, Fangueiro R. Active natural-based films for food packaging applications: The combined effect of chitosan and nanocellulose. Int J Biol Macromol. 2021 Apr 30;177:241–51.
- 282. Otoni CG, Lodi BD, Lorevice M V., Leitão RC, Ferreira MD, Moura MR de, et al. Optimized and scaled-up production of cellulose-reinforced biodegradable composite films made up of carrot processing waste. Ind Crops Prod. 2018;121:66–72.
- 283. Xu Y, Liu X, Jiang Q, Yu D, Xu Y, Wang B, et al. Development and properties of bacterial cellulose, curcumin, and chitosan composite biodegradable films for active packaging materials. Carbohydr Polym. 2021 May 15;260:117778.
- 284. Yang YN, Lu KY, Wang P, Ho YC, Tsai ML, Mi FL. Development of bacterial cellulose/chitin multinanofibers based smart films containing natural active microspheres and nanoparticles formed in situ. Carbohydr Polym. 2020;228:115370.
- 285. Rachtanapun P, Klunklin W, Jantrawut P, Jantanasakulwong K, Phimolsiripol Y, Seesuriyachan P, et al. Characterization of Chitosan Film Incorporated with Curcumin Extract. Polymers 2021, Vol 13, Page 963. 2021 Mar 21;13(6):963.

- 286. Salama HE, Abdel Aziz MS. Optimized carboxymethyl cellulose and guanidinylated chitosan enriched with titanium oxide nanoparticles of improved UV-barrier properties for the active packaging of green bell pepper. Int J Biol Macromol. 2020 Dec 15;165:1187–97.
- 287. Shahbazi Y, Shavisi N. A novel active food packaging film for shelf-life extension of minced beef meat. J Food Saf. 2018;38(6).
- 288. Oussalah M, Caillet S, Salmiéri S, Saucier L, Lacroix M. Antimicrobial effects of alginate-based films containing essential oils on Listeria monocytogenes and Salmonella typhimurium present in bologna and ham. J Food Prot. 2007;70(4):901–908.
- 289. Lyu JS, Lee JS, Han J. Development of a biodegradable polycaprolactone film incorporated with an antimicrobial agent via an extrusion process. Sci Rep. 2019 Dec 1;9(1):1–11.
- 290. Venturi D, Chrysanthou A, Dhuiège B, Missoum K, Giacinti Baschetti M. Arginine/Nanocellulose Membranes for Carbon Capture Applications. Nanomaterials. 2019;9(6):877.
- 291. PubChem [Internet]. Available from: https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/
- 292. Costa VLD, Costa AP, Simões RMS. Nanofibrillated Cellulose Rheology: Effects of Morphology, Ethanol/Acetone Addition, and High NaCl Concentration. Bioresources [Internet]. 2019 Aug 5 [cited 2022 Oct 27];14(4):7636–54. Available from: https://ojs.cnr.ncsu.edu/index.php/BioRes/article/view/BioRes_14_4_7632_Costa_Nanofibrillate d_Cellulose_Rheology
- 293. Piccinini E, Giacinti Baschetti M, Sarti GC. Use of an automated spring balance for the simultaneous measurement of sorption and swelling in polymeric films. J Memb Sci. 2004;234(1–2):95–100.
- 294. Crank J. The mathematics of diffusion. 2nd Edn. Physics Bulletin. 1975;26:500.
- 295. Fieldson GT, Barbari TA. The use of FTi.r.-a.t.r. spectroscopy to characterize penetrant diffusion in polymers. Polymer (Guildf). 1993;34(6):1146–53.
- 296. Belbekhouche S, Bras J, Siqueira G, Chappey C, Lebrun L, Khelifi B, et al. Water sorption behavior and gas barrier properties of cellulose whiskers and microfibrils films. Carbohydr Polym. 2011 Feb 1;83(4):1740–8.
- 297. Okubayashi S, Griesser UJ, Bechtold T. A kinetic study of moisture sorption and desorption on lyocell fibers. Carbohydr Polym. 2004 Nov 25;58(3):293–9.
- 298. Kohler R, Dück R, Ausperger B, Alex R. A numeric model for the kinetics of water vapor sorption on cellulosic reinforcement fibers. Compos Interfaces. 2003 Jan 1;10(2–3):255–76.
- 299. Guerreiro AC, Gago CML, Miguel MGC, Faleiro ML, Antunes MDC. The influence of edible coatings enriched with citral and eugenol on the raspberry storage ability, nutritional and sensory quality. Food Packag Shelf Life. 2016 Sep 1;9:20–8.
- Guerreiro AC, Gago CML, Faleiro ML, Miguel MGC, Antunes MDC. Raspberry fresh fruit quality as affected by pectin- and alginate-based edible coatings enriched with essential oils. Sci Hortic. 2015 Oct 14;194:138–46.

- 301. Yousuf B, Wu S, Siddiqui MW. Incorporating essential oils or compounds derived thereof into edible coatings: Effect on quality and shelf life of fresh/fresh-cut produce. Trends Food Sci Technol. 2021 Feb 1;108:245–57.
- 302. Singleton VL, Rossi JA. Colorimetry of Total Phenolics with Phosphomolybdic-Phosphotungstic Acid Reagents. Am J Enol Vitic. 1965;16(3).
- Guerreiro AC, Gago CML, Faleiro ML, Miguel MGC, Antunes MDC. The effect of edible coatings on the nutritional quality of 'Bravo de Esmolfe' fresh-cut apple through shelf-life. LWT. 2017 Jan 1;75:210–9.
- 304. Lee J, Durst RW, Wrolstad RE, Barnes KW, Eisele ; T, Giusti ; M M, et al. Determination of Total Monomeric Anthocyanin Pigment Content of Fruit Juices, Beverages, Natural Colorants, and Wines by the pH Differential Method: Collaborative Study. J AOAC Int. 2005 Sep 1;88(5):1269–78.
- 305. Guerreiro AC, Gago CML, Miguel MGC, Antunes MDC. The effect of temperature and film covers on the storage ability of Arbutus unedo L. fresh fruit. Sci Hortic. 2013 Jul 30;159:96–102.
- 306. Sthle L, Wold S. Analysis of variance (ANOVA). Chemometrics and Intelligent Laboratory Systems. 1989 Nov 1;6(4):259–72.
- 307. Duncan DB. Multiple Range and Multiple F Tests. Biometrics. 1955 Mar;11(1):1.
- 308. Mandal A, Chakrabarty D. Studies on mechanical, thermal, and barrier properties of carboxymethyl cellulose film highly filled with nanocellulose. Journal of Thermoplastic Composite Materials. 2019;32(7):995–1014.
- 309. Bicu I, Mustata F. Cellulose extraction from orange peel using sulfite digestion reagents. Bioresour Technol. 2011 Nov 1;102(21):10013–9.
- 310. Syafiq R, Sapuan SM, Zuhri MRM. Antimicrobial activity, physical, mechanical and barrier properties of sugar palm based nanocellulose/starch biocomposite films incorporated with cinnamon essential oil. Journal of Materials Research and Technology. 2021 Mar 1;11:144–57.
- Montero Y, Souza AG, Oliveira ÉR, Rosa D dos S. Nanocellulose functionalized with cinnamon essential oil: A potential application in active biodegradable packaging for strawberry. Sustainable Materials and Technologies. 2021 Sep 1;29:e00289.
- 312. Mani Pujitha I, Khandelwal M, Shekhar Sharma C, Monroe Keck D, Islam M, Martinez-Duarte R, et al. Structural ATR-IR analysis of cellulose fibers prepared from a NaOH complex aqueous solution. IOP Conf Ser Mater Sci Eng. 2017 Jun 1;213(1):012039.
- 313. Carrillo F, Colom X, Suñol JJ, Saurina J. Structural FTIR analysis and thermal characterisation of lyocell and viscose-type fibres. Eur Polym J. 2004 Sep 1;40(9):2229–34.
- Minelli M, Baschetti MG, Doghieri F, Ankerfors M, Lindström T, Siró I, et al. Investigation of mass transport properties of microfibrillated cellulose (MFC) films. J Memb Sci. 2010 Aug 15;358(1– 2):67–75.

- 315. Mishra D, Khare P, Singh DK, Luqman S, Ajaya Kumar P V., Yadav A, et al. Retention of antibacterial and antioxidant properties of lemongrass oil loaded on cellulose nanofibre-poly ethylene glycol composite. Ind Crops Prod. 2018 Apr 1;114:68–80.
- 316. González-Reza RM, Hernández-Sánchez H, Zambrano-Zaragoza ML, Gutiérrez-López GF, Del-Real A, Quintanar-Guerrero D, et al. Influence of Stabilizing and Encapsulating Polymers on Antioxidant Capacity, Stability, and Kinetic Release of Thyme Essential Oil Nanocapsules. Foods 2020, Vol 9, Page 1884. 2020 Dec 17;9(12):1884.
- 317. Ke J, Xiao L, Yu G, Wu H, Shen G, Zhang Z. The study of diffusion kinetics of cinnamaldehyde from corn starch-based film into food simulant and physical properties of antibacterial polymer film. Int J Biol Macromol. 2019;125:642–50.
- 318. Meriçer Ç, Minelli M, Giacinti Baschetti M, Lindström T. Water sorption in microfibrillated cellulose (MFC): The effect of temperature and pretreatment. Carbohydr Polym. 2017 Oct 15;174:1201–12.
- 319. Rosa F, Bordado J, Casquilho M. Kinetics of water absorbency in AA/AMPS copolymers: Applications of a diffusion-relaxation model. Polymer (Guildf). 2001 Oct 12;43(1):63–70.
- 320. Licciardello F, Muratore G, Mercea P, Tosa V, Nerin C. Diffusional behaviour of essential oil components in active packaging polypropylene films by multiple headspace solid phase microextraction-gas chromatography. Packaging Technology and Science. 2013;26(3):173–85.
- 321. Nunes MC do N. Correlations between subjective quality and physicochemical attributes of fresh fruits and vegetables. Postharvest Biol Technol. 2015 Sep 1;107:43–54.
- 322. Duan J, Wu R, Strik BC, Zhao Y. Effect of edible coatings on the quality of fresh blueberries (Duke and Elliott) under commercial storage conditions. Postharvest Biol Technol. 2011 Jan 1;59(1):71–9.
- 323. Cefola M, Pace B, Vieira TM, Alves VD, Martins MM. Application of an Eco-Friendly Antifungal Active Package to Extend the Shelf Life of Fresh Red Raspberry (Rubus idaeus L. cv. 'Kweli'). Foods 2022, Vol 11, Page 1805 [Internet]. 2022 Jun 19 [cited 2022 Jul 8];11(12):1805. Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/2304-8158/11/12/1805/htm
- 324. Gomes M de S, Cardoso M das G, Guimarães ACG, Guerreiro AC, Gago CML, Vilas Boas EV de B, et al. Effect of edible coatings with essential oils on the quality of red raspberries over shelf-life. J Sci Food Agric [Internet]. 2017 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Jul 6];97(3):929–38. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/jsfa.7817
- 325. Rahmanzadeh Ishkeh S, Asghari M, Shirzad H, Alirezalu A, Ghasemi G. Lemon verbena (Lippia citrodora) essential oil effects on antioxidant capacity and phytochemical content of raspberry (Rubus ulmifolius subsp. sanctus). Sci Hortic. 2019 Apr 5;248:297–304.
- 326. Jin P, Wang SY, Gao H, Chen H, Zheng Y, Wang CY. Effect of cultural system and essential oil treatment on antioxidant capacity in raspberries. Food Chem. 2012 May 1;132(1):399–405.
- 327. A.Mziouida, B.Senhajia, N.Heimeura, H.Cheblia, S.Bounimia, E.Mayadb and BC. Evaluation of the antifungal activity of five aromatic plants essential oils against Botrytis cinerea and their

efficiency for keeping quality of fresh raspberries and strawberries | MZIOUID | Applied Journal of Environmental Engineering Science. Applied journal of Environmental Engineering Science [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2022 Jul 7];(4):467–72. Available from: https://revues.imist.ma/index.php/AJEES/article/view/14278/8227

Bierhals VS, Chiumarelli M, Hubinger MD. Effect of Cassava Starch Coating on Quality and Shelf Life of Fresh-Cut Pineapple (Ananas Comosus L. Merril cv "Pérola"). J Food Sci [Internet]. 2011 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Jul 6];76(1):E62–72. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2010.01951.x

Appendix

This section includes the FT-IR plots and the oils diffusion data in the three different nanocellulose matrices which were not included in the main part of the document for conciseness sake. In particular, figures A1-A6 represent the FT-IR analysis of NFC1 and NFC3 prior and after being in contact with cinnamon, thyme and oregano essential oils. While figures A7-A13 show the three essential oils diffusion from NFC1, NFC2 and NFC3 estimated during desorption in gas phase, comparing the experimental data with PEK, single and double Fickian diffusion models.



Figure A1. FT-IR analysis of NFC1 prior and after being in contact with the cinnamon essential oil, plus the cinnamon essential oil spectra for comparison.



Figure A2. FT-IR analysis of NFC1 prior and after being in contact with the thyme essential oil, plus the Thyme essential oil spectra for comparison.



Figure A3. FT-IR analysis of NFC1 prior and after being in contact with the oregano essential oil, plus the Oregano essential oil spectra for comparison.



Figure A4. FT-IR analysis of NFC3 prior and after being in contact with the cinnamon essential oil, plus the cinnamon essential oil spectra for comparison.



Figure A5. FT-IR analysis of NFC3 prior and after being in contact with the thyme essential oil, plus the Thyme essential oil spectra for comparison.



Figure A6. FT-IR analysis of NFC3 prior and after being in contact with the oregano essential oil, plus the Oregano essential oil spectra for comparison.



Figure A7. Cinnamon essential oil diffusion from NFC1 estimated during desorption in gas phase





Figure A8. Oregano essential oil diffusion from NFC1 estimated during desorption in gas phase

Figure A9. Thyme essential oil diffusion from NFC2 estimated during desorption in gas phase



Figure A10. Cinnamon essential oil diffusion from NFC2 estimated during desorption in gas







Figure A11. Thyme essential oil diffusion from NFC3 estimated during desorption in gas phase

Figure A12. Cinnamon essential oil diffusion from NFC3 estimated during desorption in gas phase



Figure A13. Oregano essential oil diffusion from NFC3 estimated during desorption in gas phase